
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Health and Housing Scrutiny 
Committee Agenda 

 
 

  
 
 

Members of the Public are welcome to attend this Meeting. 
 

 

1.   Introduction/Attendance at Meeting  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 

3.   Appointment of Chair for the Municipal Year 2024/25  
 

4.   Appointment of Vice-Chair for the Municipal Year 2024/25  
 

5.   To consider the times of meetings of this Committee for the Municipal Year 2024/25 on 
the dates agreed in the Calendar of Meetings by Cabinet at minute C106/Feb/24  

 

6.   To approve the Minutes of the meeting of this Scrutiny held on 24 April 2024 (Pages 3 - 
6) 
 

7.   CDDFT Quality Accounts 2023-24 –  

Report of County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust. 
 (Pages 7 - 102) 

 
8.   Housing Services Gas and Electrical Safety Policies 2024-2029 –  

Report of the Housing Asset & Compliance Manager and the Housing Buildings Manager. 
 (Pages 103 - 130) 

 
9.   Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 2024-2029 –  

10.00 am 

Wednesday, 19 June 2024 

Council Chamber, Town Hall, Darlington, DL1 5QT 

Public Document Pack



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Report of the Head of Housing. 
 (Pages 131 - 146) 

 
10.   Air Quality Strategy 2024-2029 –  

Report of the Environmental Health Manager. 
 (Pages 147 - 172) 
 

11.   Work Programme –  
Report of the Assistant Director Law and Governance. 
 (Pages 173 - 184) 
 

12.   SUPPLEMENTARY ITEM(S) (if any) which in the opinion of the Chair of this Committee are 
of an urgent nature and can be discussed at the meeting.  
 

13.   Questions  

 
 

 

     
 

Luke Swinhoe 
Assistant Director Law and Governance 

 
Tuesday, 11 June 2024 
 
Town Hall  

Darlington. 
 

 
Membership 

Councillors Baker, Crudass, Holroyd, Johnson, Layton, Mahmud, Mammolotti, Pease, Mrs  Scott 
and Beckett 

 
If you need this information in a different language or format or you have any other queries on 

this agenda please contact Michael Conway, Mayoral and Democratic Officer, Operations 
Group, during normal office hours 8.30 a.m. to 4.45 p.m. Mondays to Thursdays and 8.30 a.m. 

to 4.15 p.m. Fridays email: michael.conway@darlington.gov.uk or telephone 01325 406309 



 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

  

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

HEALTH AND HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Wednesday, 24 April 2024 
 

PRESENT – Councillors Layton (Chair), Baker, Crudass, Holroyd, Johnson, Mahmud, 
Mammolotti, Pease, Mrs Scott and Beckett 

 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE – Anthony Sandys (Assistant Director - Housing and Revenues), 
Claire Gardner-Queen (Head of Housing), Michael Conway (Mayoral and Democratic Officer) 
and Hughes (Director of Public Health) 
 
 

HH39 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
 There were no declarations of interest at the meeting. 

 
HH40 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THIS SCRUTINY HELD ON 28 FEBRUARY 

2024 
 

 RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Health and Housing Scrutiny Committee – 28 February 
2024 are approved. 

 
HH41 CAMHS UPDATE 

 
 The General Manager, Children and Young People’s Services, Durham and Tees Valley 

provided members with a presentation to provide an annual update on the Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) for Darlington. 

 
The presentation covered areas including the current framework for planning and delivering 

mental health services, the current clinical transformation model and pathways through the 
service along with details such as average wait times and the different services offered.  Key 
pressure areas were highlighted along with plans to receive further funding in the near 
future to assist with these pressures. 

 

Questions were raised that included details on staff shortages in the service with information 
provided that CAMHS currently has a 50% vacancy rate for medics with lack of applicants 
being the cause of this.  A further question was asked regarding addressing parents of 
children requiring the mental health services with the response that this is a large part of the 

care offer with specialist staff available to speak to parents to offer support and help 
stimulate parental cooperation. 

 
Discussions were held regarding quality of data with members being informed that the 

service is currently transitioning to a new patient record system alongside the manual 
capture of data where needed to ensure data integrity.  Further discussion surrounded the 

average wait time of 463 days for neurodevelopmental assessment due to referral demand 
outpacing capacity following a 300% increase in referrals compared to pre-pandemic levels 
and members were provided with details of contact that is maintained with patients during 
this period. 

 
RESOLVED - Members noted the content of the presentation with a further update to be 

Page 3

Agenda Item 6



 

  

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

arranged in 12 months’ time. 

 
HH42 COMMUNITY MENTAL HEALTH TRANSFORMATION 

 
 The Associate Director of Partnerships and Strategy - Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 

Foundation Trust provided a presentation to highlight the core aims of community 
transformation, the current vision for the future alongside projected impact of care and an 
update on the recently opened Darlington Connect outlet in Darlington town centre. 

 
Members expressed the notable progress of the service, in particular praising the increased 

access to talking therapies for residents and the reduction in waiting times from 6 months to 
28 days. 

 
Discussion was held as to whether the Darlington Connect outlet could be better publicised 
with confirmation that a celebration event is being planned along with press releases and 
members suggested that promotion in Council publications would also be useful.  Further 
points included members of the public presenting at Darlington Connect with unrelated 
issues with confirmation provided that such individuals are signposted to the correct 
services. 

 
RESOLVED - Members noted the content of the report, the positive work being undertaken 
and look forward to a further update in 12 months. 

 
HH43 COUNCIL PLAN 2024 - 2027 

 
 The Strategy and Policy Manager and the portfolio holder for Health and Housing presented 

the Council Plan 2024-2027 and its intent to provide strategic direction to the Council - and 
council services - defining core values, priorities and shaping delivery in the coming years 
with public consultation on the draft plan being open until 25 April 2024. 

 
Members were informed that the core values outlined in the document, if met in decision 

making, will ensure positive progress towards overall goals and from which strategies will be 
produced such as the New Homes Strategy and Health and Wellbeing Plan. 

 
Discussion was held with regards to the presentation of the document with a member 

expressing that they feel a more effective layout would be to present the core values within 

the first pages for increased visibility particularly to the public who view the document.  A 
further member noted that they welcome the plan’s focus on inequalities with Housing’s 
emphasis being to provide quality housing together with an effective homelessness strategy. 

 
RESOLVED – Members noted the content of the report and Council Plan and were 
encouraged to share the plan with their networks and to complete the survey before 25 April 

2024. 
 

HH44 HOUSING SERVICES ASSET MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
 

 The Assistant Director – Housing and Revenues presented the report that sets out how 
Housing Services will ensure the efficient and effective management of our homes, as a core 

Page 4



 

  

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

requirement of meeting our landlord services function.  Members were informed that the 

Tenants’ Panel has been consulted on the draft policy and they have given their full support 
to the proposals and key aims of the strategy.  It was also highlighted that a review of the 

strategy will be organised once new decent homes standards are released. 
 

A member raised discussion that it would be beneficial to potential tenants if they were 

provided with a breakdown of predicted bill costs when considering their choice of housing.  
Officers took this on board and informed members that a stock condition survey will be 

carried out on all council properties that will also include validation of energy efficiency 
certificates. 

 
RESOLVED - Members considered the report and support its onward submission to Cabinet. 

 
HH45 HOUSING SERVICES VULNERABILITY POLICY 

 
 The Assistant Director – Housing and Revenues presented the Housing Services Vulnerability 

Policy which ensures that we meet the diverse needs of our tenants, through the need to 
provide adaptable services, which takes our tenants, and their household’s needs into 
account, whilst ensuring we meet regulatory and legal requirements.  The report sets out our 
aims, including how we will record any of our tenant’s vulnerabilities on Council systems and 
how we will use this information in the way we provide our services, the decisions we make 
and how we refer to other statutory and external organisations.  The Tenants’ Panel has 
been consulted on the draft policy and have given their full support. 

 
Members were in agreement that it is useful to be aware of tenants’ vulnerabilities and to 
provide appropriate responses to this.  A discussion was held regarding the varying degrees 
of vulnerability with the suggestion that checks be performed at regular intervals to ensure 
that information remains correct in cases of temporary vulnerability.  Officers confirmed that 
new residents are asked if any vulnerabilities are present, and checks are carried out on a 6-
monthly basis for any changes in status. 

 
RESOLVED - Members considered the report and support its onward submission to Cabinet. 
 

HH46 WORK PROGRAMME 
 

 The Assistant Director Law and Governance submitted a report (previously circulated) 
requesting that consideration be given to this Scrutiny Committee’s work programme and to 

consider any additional areas which Members would like to suggest being included in the 
previously approved work programme 

 
RESOLVED – Members considered the work programme with a suggestion that an update be 

provided to this committee on the Air Quality Strategy in the new work programme 2024/25. 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

HEALTH AND HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
19 JUNE 2024 

 
 

 
CDDFT QUALITY ACCOUNTS 2023-24 

 

 

SUMMARY REPORT 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 

1. To consider information included in the County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust’s (CDDFT) Quality Accounts 2023-24to enable this Committee’s input into the draft 

commentaries. 
 

Summary 
 
2. Scrutiny Committee had previously agreed to be more involved with the local Foundation 

Trusts Quality Accounts.  This enabled Members to have a better understanding and 
knowledge of performance when submitting a commentary on the Quality Accounts at the 
end of the Municipal Year. 

 
3. The draft Quality Accounts for CDDFT are attached at appendix A. 

 
Recommendation 
 
4. It is recommended that draft commentaries for: 

 
(a) County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust be formulated and forwarded 

for inclusion in the Quality Accounts for 2023-24. 

 
Luke Swinhoe 

Assistant Director Law and Governance 
 

Background Papers 
 
There were no background papers used in the preparation of this report. 
 
Mike Conway: Extension 6309. 
 

S17 Crime and Disorder This report has no implications for Crime and 
Disorder. 

Health and Wellbeing This report has implications to address Health and 
Well Being of residents of Darlington, through 

scrutinising the services provided by the NHS 
Trusts. 

Carbon Impact and Climate 
Change 

There are no issues which this report needs to 
address. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Diversity There are no issues relating to diversity which this 

report needs to address. 
Wards Affected The impact of the report on any individual Ward is 

considered to be minimal. 
Groups Affected The impact of the report on any individual Group is 

considered to be minimal. 
Budget and Policy Framework  This report does not represent a change to the 

budget and policy framework. 
Key Decision This is not a key decision. 

Urgent Decision This is not an urgent decision 

Council Plan The report contributes to the Council Plan in a 
number of ways through the involvement of 

Members in contributing to the delivery of the 
Plan. 

Efficiency This report does not identify specific efficiency 
savings. 

Impact on Looked After Children 
and Care Leavers 

This report has no impact on Looked After Children 
or Care Leavers 

 

Page 8



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MAIN REPORT 
 

Information and Analysis 
 
5. The Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts Regulations 2010) 

requires NHS Foundation Trusts to publish an Annual Quality Account Report.  
 

6. The purpose of the Annual Report is for Trusts to assess quality across all of the healthcare 
services they offer by reporting information on annual performance and identifying areas 
for improvement during the forthcoming year and how they will be achieved and 
measured. 
 

7. Overview and Scrutiny Committees play an important role in development and providing 

assurance on Quality Accounts reports.  The Health Act requires Trusts to send a copy of 
their report to be considered by their appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
8. In advance of the Trust’s report being considered by Overview and Scrutiny Committees it 

is vital that the priority areas identified are considered and that discussion takes place.  
Comments or views from Overview and Scrutiny Committees should be reflected in the 

final report and involvement should be credited within the document. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 91 

 

 

County Durham and Darlington NHS FT 

 

QUALITY ACCOUNTS  

 

2023 - 2024 

DRAFT FOR STAKEHOLDER COMMENT 

Page 11



Page 2 of 91 

 

Contents  
WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION ......................................................................................... 5 

A guide to the structure of this report ................................................................................... 5 

What are Quality Accounts? ................................................................................................. 5 

Part 1: Statement from the Chief Executive of County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation 

Trust. ....................................................................................................................................... 7 

Part 2a: Review of 2023/24 Quality Priorities........................................................................... 9 

Summary of 2023/24 Quality Priorities ................................................................................. 9 

Patient Safety ........................................................................................................................ 10 

Reducing harm from inpatient falls ..................................................................................... 10 

Reducing harm from healthcare associated infections (HCAIs) .......................................... 12 

Reducing harm from Category 3 and 4 pressure ulcers ..................................................... 16 

Maternity Standards including Ockenden recommendations .............................................. 18 

Embedding safe practice for invasive procedures, inside and outside of theatres .............. 20 

Embedding prompt recognition and action on signs of patient deterioration ....................... 20 

Improving the management of patients with sepsis ............................................................ 22 

Patient Experience ................................................................................................................ 24 

Improving the care of patients with additional needs - Dementia ........................................ 24 

Improving care of patients with additional needs - Learning Disabilities and Autism ........... 24 

Improving the care of patients with additional needs – Mental Health Support ................... 25 

Ensuring a positive patient experience through the discharge process............................... 26 

End of Life and Palliative Care ........................................................................................... 27 

Improving the nutritional support offered to our patients whilst in our care ......................... 29 

Clinical Effectiveness ............................................................................................................ 30 

Reducing waiting times in A&E: .......................................................................................... 30 

Improving Paediatric and Neonatal Services ...................................................................... 30 

Part 2B - Priorities for 2024/25 .............................................................................................. 32 

Patient Safety ........................................................................................................................ 33 

Quality Strategy Aims / Retained Priorities from 2023/24 – Work ongoing: ............................ 33 

Reducing harm from inpatient falls ..................................................................................... 33 

Reducing the incidence of, and harm from, Healthcare Associated Infections (HCAIs) ...... 33 

Reducing harm from Category 3 and 4 pressure ulcers ..................................................... 35 

Meeting Maternity Standards, including Ockenden and CQC Recommendations .............. 35 

Embedding safe practice for invasive procedures, inside and outside of theatres: ............. 36 

Embedding prompt recognition and action on signs of patient deterioration ....................... 37 

Improving the management and treatment of patients with sepsis ..................................... 37 

Year one implementation of the patient safety strategy………………………………………..38 

Page 12



Page 3 of 91 

 

Patient Experience ................................................................................................................ 39 

Quality Strategy Aims / Retained Priorities from 2023/24 – Work ongoing: ............................ 39 

Providing a positive experience in our care for those with additional needs ....................... 39 

Patients with Dementia ...................................................................................................... 39 

Patients with Learning Disabilities and / or Autism ............................................................. 39 

Patients with Mental Health support needs ........................................................................ 40 

Ensuring a positive patient experience through the discharge process............................... 41 

End of life and palliative care ............................................................................................. 42 

Improving the nutritional support offered to our patients whilst in our care ......................... 43 

Clinical Effectiveness ............................................................................................................ 43 

Quality Strategy Aims / Retained Priorities from 2023/24 – Work ongoing: ............................ 43 

Reducing waiting times in A&E........................................................................................... 43 

Part 2C Statements of Assurance from the Board ................................................................. 45 

Review of Services ............................................................................................................. 45 

Participation in Clinical Audit .............................................................................................. 45 

Participation in Clinical Research ....................................................................................... 51 

Goals agreed with commissioners ...................................................................................... 52 

Care Quality Commission Registration ............................................................................... 52 

Care Quality Commission Ratings ...................................................................................... 53 

Darlington Memorial Hospital (DMH) .................................................................................. 53 

University Hospital North Durham (UHND) ......................................................................... 54 

Community Services .......................................................................................................... 54 

CQC Maternity Services Inspection .................................................................................... 55 

Data Quality ....................................................................................................................... 55 

Data Security and Protection Toolkit Annual Return ........................................................... 55 

Clinical Coding Error Rate .................................................................................................. 56 

Learning from Deaths ......................................................................................................... 56 

Staff who ‘Speak Up’ (Including Whistle-blowers)............................................................... 57 

Reporting against core indicators .......................................................................................... 59 

Domain 1 – Preventing people from dying prematurely ...................................................... 59 

Domain 3 – Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury .......... 61 

Domain 4 – Ensuring people have a positive experience of care........................................ 64 

Domain 5 – Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from 

avoidable harm. ................................................................................................................. 67 

Patient Safety Incidents and the percentage that resulted in severe harm or death............ 69 

Part 3 Other Information ........................................................................................................ 72 

Patient Safety ........................................................................................................................ 72 

Page 13



Page 4 of 91 

 

Patient Experience ................................................................................................................ 73 

Clinical Effectiveness ............................................................................................................ 82 

Performance Summary ......................................................................................................... 84 

Annex 1 – Statements from Commissioners, local Healthwatch organisations and overview 

and scrutiny committees ........................................................................................................ 85 

Annex 2: Statement of directors’ responsibilities for the Quality Report ................................. 86 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS ....................................................................................................... 87 

 

Page 14



 

Page 5 of 91 

 

WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION   
 

County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust is one of the largest integrated care providers in 
England. Our 7,000 strong workforce serves a population of around 650,000 people.  We provide acute 
hospital services from: 
 
Darlington Memorial Hospital; and 
University Hospital of North Durham. 
 
In addition, we provide a range of planned and sub-acute hospital care at Bishop Auckland Hospital. 
 
We provide services including inpatient beds, outpatients and diagnostic services in our local network of 
community hospitals based at: 
 

 Shotley Bridge 

 Chester le Street 

 Weardale  

 Sedgefield 

 Barnard Castle (the Richardson Hospital) 
                                                                 
Moreover, we provide adult community services in patients’ homes, and in premises including health 
centres, clinics and GP practices. 
 
Our mission “Safe, compassionate and joined up care” represents our commitment to put the patient at 
the centre of everything we do. 
 

A guide to the structure of this report 
 

The following report summarises our performance and improvements against the quality priorities we set 
ourselves for 2023/24. It also sets out our priorities for the coming year 2024/25. Early in 2022/23 we 
launched our quality strategy (2022/23 - 2025/26), “Quality Matters” which supports the achievement of 
the Trust’s vision, Right First Time, Every Time, and is underpinned by our core values.  
  
We agreed quality priorities with our stakeholders which reflected both our strategic objectives, together 
with those objectives which had not been achieved and where further work was needed.  
 
The Quality Accounts are set out in three parts: 
 
Part 1: Statement from the Chief Executive of County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation 

Trust. 
 
Part 2A Review of 2023/24 Quality Priorities 
Part 2B 2024/25 Quality Priorities 
Part 2C Statements of Assurance from the Board 
 
Part 3:  A review of our overall quality performance against our locally agreed and national 

priorities. 
Annex:  Statements from our commissioners, Local Healthwatch organisations and Overview & 

Scrutiny Committees. 
 
There is a glossary at the end of the report that lists all abbreviations included in the document. 
 

 
What are Quality Accounts? 
 
Quality Accounts are annual reports to the public from the providers of NHS healthcare about the quality 
of the services they deliver. This quality report incorporates all the requirements of the quality accounts 
regulations as well as the priorities which we have identified with our stakeholders. 

Page 15



 

Page 6 of 91 

 

 
We set ourselves stretching objectives and, whilst we continue to see significant improvement and 
success in achieving some of our goals, it is acknowledged that, for some, we have not yet fulfilled our 
ambition. Where this is the case, we are committed to taking the further actions necessary to achieve 
them in 2024/25. 
 
This report can be made available, on request, in alternative languages and format including large print 
and braille. 
 
  

Page 16



 

Page 7 of 91 

 

Part 1: Statement from the Chief Executive of County Durham & Darlington 
NHS Foundation Trust. 
 

[Draft wording – to be finalised and approved by the CEO in the final version for Board approval] 

 
I am delighted to introduce to you our Quality Account and Quality Report for County Durham and 
Darlington NHS Foundation Trust for 2023/24 
  
Once again I take great pride in reflecting upon the compassion and dedication shown by our staff, 
volunteers and partners for the way in which they come together, to care for all our patients – whether 
receiving acute, planned or emergency based care – to maintain cancer services and to restore high 
levels of elective and diagnostic services which are successfully reducing long waiting lists. The 
performance against our quality priorities set out in this Quality Account, should be seen in the context of 
challenging increases in activity and in the acuity of patients.  
 
The Trust’s strategy ‘Our Patients Matter’ continues to drive how we manage our business and ultimately 
the care and experience we are delivering to patients each and every day and night, as we aspire to our 
mission of providing the safest, most compassionate and joined up care.  
 
It is underpinned by a number of key plans and knitted together by our four ‘bests’ – best experience, 
best outcomes, best efficiency and best employer - as we work to achieve our vision of delivering care 
which is ‘right first time, every time’.   
 
Our priorities were taken mainly from our four-year quality strategy, “Quality Matters”, which we consulted 
on and agreed with all our stakeholders. Where we had not achieved our objectives from previous years, 
we also rolled these forwards.  

Quality Matters includes Board-sponsored actions which aim to increase capacity and time to care; 
foster and sustain our safe and supportive culture for staff and build skills and capability to enable quality 
improvements to be made at all levels in the Trust.  
 
During 2023/24 we: 

 Implemented all of the actions we planned in order to strengthen staffing and improve our paediatric 
services; 

 Reduced falls per 1,000 bed days overall, and in are acute settings as a result of a number of Trust-
wide and local quality improvement projects. 

 Strengthened our maternity services following a CQC inspection in March 2023 which rated the 
services on our acute sites as ‘inadequate’ for the safe and well-led key questions. We took action 
to address the issues reported by CQC, strengthening leadership, staffing, governance and clinical 
processes, and were pleased that CQC recognised the improvements when re-inspecting the 
service in January 2024, increasing the ratings for both key questions to ‘requires improvement’.  

 Improved systems and processes for recognising and acting on patient deterioration, to embed local 
safety standards for invasive procedures and the screening and treatment for patients with sepsis.  

 Continued to develop training packages and support for staff to care for patients with dementia, LD 
and autism and – working with partner agencies – improved training, care pathways and the safety 
of the environments in which we care for children and young people with physical and mental ill-
health. 

 Consolidated our End of Life care service rated outstanding by CQC. 

 Further strengthened multi-agency arrangements to support timely discharge of patients to 
appropriate settings. 

 Used our EPR system to improve, and achieve high rates of, compliance with completion of patient 
risk assessments and timely recording of patient observations, including assessments supporting 
nutrition and hydration. 

 Consolidated our acute kidney injury nursing specialist service and rolled out quality improvement 
initiatives focusing on patient hydration. 

Page 17



 

Page 8 of 91 

 

 Improved our performance on A&E waiting times, achieving the national target to see and treat more 
than 76% of patients within four years by the year end, reduced ambulance handover delays and 
implemented a range of further improvements.  

 Reduced waiting list backlogs, with no patients waiting over 65 weeks by the year end and met 
national targets with respect to reducing backlogs for cancer patients and exceeded national targets 
for faster cancer diagnosis.  

 
We have more to do, however, to ensure that we sustain the improvements outlined above and, in 
particular to: 
 

 Meet our zero tolerance for Category 3 and 4 pressure ulcers. 

 Meet our zero tolerance for cases of MRSA, having reported eight cases in the year making us a 
regional outlier, and to meet nationally-mandated thresholds for other healthcare associated 
infections designed to show year on year improvement.  

 Ensure timely escalation and action on signs of patient deterioration. 

 Ensure that IV treatment and the taking of blood cultures for patients with suspected sepsis is 
timely. 

 Check and ensure compliance with the use of local safety standards for invasive procedures. 

 Ensure that nutrition assessments are always completed in line with policy 

 Improve the end to end flow of patients from admission to discharge, in order to sustain and 
further improve A&E waiting times improvements.  

 
We have ongoing Trust-wide quality improvement work in each of these areas, captured within our plans 
for 2024/25.   
 
As we move into 2024/25 we will continue to focus on, and target improvements, in those areas where 
we have not achieved our ambitions. We will also continue to work with our NHS partners, including the 
regional clinical networks, to improve services for patients; for example, we have recently welcomed a 
review of our breast surgery services led by the Northern Cancer Alliance and await their 
recommendations. 

I can confirm that to the best of my knowledge this Quality Account is a fair and accurate report of the 
quality and standards of care at County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust. 

 
 
Sue Jacques 
Chief Executive 
30th June 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 

Page 9 of 91 

 

Part 2a: Review of 2023/24 Quality Priorities 
 

The following section of the report sets out our performance with respect to each of the quality priorities 
we set for 2023/24. Wherever available, historical data is included so that our performance can be seen 
over time. 
 

Summary of 2023/24 Quality Priorities 
 

Safety Experience Effectiveness 

Quality Strategy Priorities 

Reduce the harm from inpatient falls () 
 

Provide a positive experience for those 
in our care with additional needs 
including patients with dementia, 
learning disabilities, autism and mental 
health support needs () 

Reduce waiting times in A&E 
covering: time to assess, time 
to treat, total time in the 
department () 
 

Reduce incidence of, and harm, from 
Health Care Associated Infections () 

Ensure a positive patient experience 
through the discharge process () 

 

Maintain zero tolerance of Grade 3 & 
Grade 4 pressure ulcers () 

  

Meet Maternity Standards including 
Ockenden recommendations () 

Embed local safety standards for 
invasive procedures (LocSSIPs) () 

Embed prompt recognition and action on 
signs of patient deterioration () 

Retained priorities for 2022/23: work ongoing 

Improve the timeliness of administration 
of antibiotics for patients with suspected 
sepsis () 

End of life care: update the palliative 
care strategy and ensure appropriate 
access to private rooms for dignity () 

Improve access to paediatric 
specialist services () 

Continued improvement of nutrition 
including assessment and provision for 
specific needs () 

 

 

Mandated measures for monitoring 

Rate of Patient Safety Incidents 
resulting in severe injury or death 
 
Time spent in the Emergency 
Department 

Percentage of staff who would 
recommend the provider to friends and 
family 

Responsiveness to patients personal 
needs 

Summary Hospital Mortality 
Indicator (SHMI) 
 
Patient Reported Outcome 
Measures (PROMS) 
 

 

Key to RAG-ratings: 

 On track to deliver improvements expected of 
the life of the Quality Matters strategy 

 Improvement have been made; however, there 
remains some further work needed during the 
four-year strategy to meet the objective.  

 Broadly on track, with some consolidation of 
improvements needed. 

 Off track with remedial work needed 

 

The up and down arrows indicate whether there has been improvement (upward arrow) or deterioration 
(downward arrow) on prior years.  

We deliberately set ourselves stretching objectives – to drive meaningful and long-term quality 
improvement - and, whilst we continue to see significant improvement and success in achieving some of 
our goals, it is acknowledged that, for some, we have not fulfilled our ambition. Where this is the case, 
we are committed to taking the further actions necessary to achieve them in 2024/25, with further detail 
of our plans set out in Part 2B of this document.  
 

Page 19



 

Page 10 of 91 

 

Patient Safety 
 

Reducing harm from inpatient falls  
 
This year has seen a sustained and significant reduction in falls related to activity across our acute 
hospitals. The chart below shows the trend in the rolling 12 month average number of falls per 1,000 bed 
days.  
 

 
 

The trend in community hospitals is more flat, with an increase over the winter period noted. It is 
important to note that our community hospitals take a wider range of patients than previously – many 
with greater acuity or confusion – and operate, often with higher numbers of beds open.    
 

 
 

The Falls Team has continued to use a rapid review tool to guide local actions and wider quality 
improvement projects to develop practice and knowledge in relation to falls prevention.  
 
The team has undertaken 48 rapid reviews where a patient has suffered moderate or greater harm as a 
result of the fall. All fractures, head injuries and deaths are subject to a rapid review. If there are wider 
concerns, or learning identified that is not associated with the fall, then a Level 1 Patient Safety Incident 
Investigation (PSII) may be considered. In 2023/24 there was one Level 1 investigation undertaken into 
harm as a direct result of a fall. 
 
The Patient Safety Matron (Falls Lead) and Falls Charge Nurse continue to work closely with all inpatient 
areas to support learning from incidents and assist staff in undertaking quality improvement projects 
focused on falls prevention and treatment. This year, the Falls Team has recorded 204 separate quality 
improvement / educational interventions with frontline staff. 
 

Broadly on 

track ()  

Page 20



 

Page 11 of 91 

 

These interventions have included; 
 

 Consolidating our use of functionality in our Electronic Patient Record (EPR) to drive falls risk 
assessments, care planning and “intentional rounding”, an activity which involves increased 
monitoring of a patient or bay by nursing staff. As part of this work we have re-designed the way 
in which the system captures intentional roundings based on feedback from ward staff and 
findings from rapid reviews; 

 Developing and rolling out simulation-based training covering multiple falls-based scenarios; 

 Helping wards to develop falls information boards; with mapping exercises for slips, trips and 
falls, and to develop key performance indicators in respect of falls;  

 Celebrating success and examples of good practice including issuing excellence reports where 
notable practice has been observed; 

 Undertaking visits to community hospitals to provide support, education and advice; 

 Developing and sharing printed resources (screen shots) to prompt correct recording of falls 
prevention within EPR; 

 Development of a network of over 100 ‘safe mobility champions’ to share and promote good 
practice to reduce the risk of falls in walls and teams; 

 ‘See Yellow, Think Falls’ project in emergency departments; 

 Partnership working with community physiotherapy teams;  

 Partnership working with back care team in relation to safe recovery of patients from the floor 
following a fall; 

 Helping to implement the recommendations of a National Patient Safety Alert highlighting the risk 
of entrapment and falls from medical beds, bed rails, bed grab handles and lateral turning 
devices.   

 Presenting on falls risks and improvement actions widely within the Trust and our local 
communities, including:   

o The ‘MELISSA Bus’ for International Patient Safety Day (MELISSA is a mobile training 
and simulation bus based in the North of England); 

o The 24th International Conference on Falls & Postural Stability - British Geriatric Society 
o A regional ‘IMPACT’ event - Care Homes Collaboration Event with Community Partners 
o CDDFT’s International Nurses Day, Matron’s Forum and Sister’s Away Days. 
o Induction training days for internationally-qualified nurses and junior doctors.   

 
Our Falls Committee has meet every quarter, to monitor trends, share good practice and agree further 
actions where necessary. The work of this Committee is overseen by the Trust’s Safety Committee. 
Trends, action plans and outcomes are scrutinised by the Board’s Integrated Quality and Assurance 
Committee.   
 

 

An example Falls Information Board  

Page 21



 

Page 12 of 91 

 

Reducing harm from healthcare associated infections (HCAIs)        
 
 
Our 2023/24 ambition was to have no reports cases of MRSA and to maintain infection rates within the 
thresholds mandated by NHS England, or internally. We did not achieve our ambition, reporting eight 
cases of MRSA and breaching all of the nationally-set thresholds.  
 
We have reported the outcomes for each healthcare-acquired infection below. It is important to 
understand that NHS England allocates thresholds to trusts based on historical performance, to 
encourage continuous improvement. Over the long-term we have reduced infection rates and the 
thresholds set are therefore challenging, particularly in the context of increasing activity and the regional 
and national trends noted below. Nonetheless, our ambition is to continuously reduce our infection rates 
and, therefore, to meet the thresholds set.  
 
Trusts are able to compare infection rates per 100,000 bed days. Using this measure, the Trust is an 
outlier with respect to our rate of MRSA infections; however, our C-Diff rates are in line with the regional 
average, and better (lower) than the national average. Nationally, C-Diff rates are increasing. Our rates 
for other types of healthcare associated infections – MSSA, pseudomonas, klebsiella and E coli are the 
second lowest in the region.  
 
All HCAIs are subject to a rapid review commenced by the Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) team 
to identify any areas of good practice and any remedial or improvement actions.  The IPC team then 
supports the relevant clinical team as required and is able to identify and track themes to share 
organisationally.  
 
The charts below demonstrate the Trust’s position for 2023/24 against nationally-mandated and local 
thresholds. 
 

MRSA Bacteraemia 
 
We reported 8 cases of MRSA Bacteraemia against NHSE threshold of zero avoidable infections.  
Arresting this trend has been a key focus for the Trust’s Infection Control and Quality Committees.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Key themes from the cases reported concerned the need to improve cannulation, and reduce catheter-
associated urinary tract infections, as well as the need to reinforce practice for screening and de-
colonisation. Key messages have been issued to clinical and nursing leads and training provided, with 
further actions included in the IPC work programme for 2024/25.  
 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Actual 2 5 2 4 1 8

Thershold 0 0 0 0 0 0

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust.
MRSA Bacteraemia Trust Apportioned cases.  

2018/19 - 2023/24 

Not on track 

() 

Page 22



 

Page 13 of 91 

 

MSSA Bacteraemia  
 

A stretching self-imposed threshold of 47 cases of MSSA was agreed through the Trust’s Infection 
Control Committee.  We reported 40 Healthcare Associated MSSA cases.  This was a 23% reduction on 
the previous financial year. 

 
 

 

Clostridioides difficile Infection (C-Diff) 
 

We reported 78 cases, which is a 28% increase from the previous financial year and above the NHS 
England threshold of 50 cases. Of the 78 cases, 48 were hospital onset healthcare associated (HOHA) 
infections and 30 were community onset healthcare associated infections (COHA). The increasing trend 
in C-Diff is a national picture which is replicated in the region. Reinforcement of measures to mitigate the 
risk of patients developing C-Diff has, however, been a second priority for our Infection Control and 
Quality Committees.   

 
 

Key actions taken have been to reinforce compliance with hand hygiene, commode cleanliness and with 
detection of the infection through stool sampling and isolation of patients. In addition, monitoring data 
has been shared with clinical teams to support good practice in the prescribing and administration of 
antibiotics. Further actions are include in our IPC work programme for 2024/25.  
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Th
re

sh
o

ld
 v

s 
ac

tu
al

 c
as

se
s

To
ta

l H
ea

lt
h

ca
re

 A
ss

o
ci

at
ed

 c
ca

se
s 

p
er

  
m

o
n

th

Comparable CDDFT Healthcare Associated MSSA cases from 2022 to 
31st March 2024

against 2023/24 trajectory

MSSA Healthcare Associated cases 2022/23 MSSA Healthcare Associated cases 2023/24

Cumulative Healthcare Associated cases Trajectory

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Th
re

sh
o

ld
 v

s 
ac

tu
al

 c
as

es

To
ta

l H
ea

lt
h

ca
re

 a
ss

o
ci

at
ed

 c
as

es
 p

er
 m

o
n

th

CDDFT Comparable Healthcare Associated CDI (COHA & HOHA) cases 
from April 2022 to 31st March 2024 vs 2023/24 NHSE threshold

C.diff HOHA+COHA cases 2022/23 C.diff HOHA+COHA cases 2023/24

Cumulative HOHA+COHA case total Trajectory

Page 23



 

Page 14 of 91 

 

E coli 
 

In 2023/24 CDDFT reported 111 Healthcare Associated E.coli cases against NHSE annual threshold of 

98.  This was a 6.7% increase on the previous financial year. 

 

Klebsiella sp 
 

In2023/24, the Trust reported 44 Healthcare Associated Klebsiella against NHSE threshold of 41.  This 
was a 16% increase on the previous financial year. 

 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

N
H

SE
 t

h
re

sh
o

ld
 v

s 
ac

tu
al

 c
as

es

To
ta

l H
ea

lt
h

ca
re

 A
ss

o
ci

at
ed

 c
as

es
 p

er
 m

o
n

th

Comparable CDDFT Healthcare Associated E coli cases 
from 2022 to 31 March 2024 vs 2023/24 NHSE threshold.  

2022/23 Ecoli Healthcare Asssociated cases

2023/24 Ecoli Healthcare Asssociated cases

0

10

20

30

40

50

0

2

4

6

8

April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

N
H

SE
 t

h
re

sh
o

ld
 v

s 
ac

tu
al

 c
as

es

To
ta

l H
ea

lt
h

ca
re

 A
ss

o
ci

at
ed

 K
le

b
si

el
la

 c
as

es

Comparable Healthcare Associated Klebsiella species cases
from April 2022 to 31st March 2024 vs 2023/24 NHSE upper threshold

2022/23 Klebsiella species Healthcare Associated cases

2023/24 Klebsiella species Healthcare Associated cases

Cumulative Healthcare Associated case totals

Trajectory

Page 24



 

Page 15 of 91 

 

 

Pseudomonas 
 

In 2023/24 CDDFT reported 12 healthcare associated pseudomonas cases against NHSE trajectory of 

10.  Although this is 2 cases above the threshold, this is in line with the 12 cases reported in 2022/23.  

 
 

Other matters and overall actions  
 

The monitoring of Covid-19 continued during 2023/24 and confirmed cases reported in line with national 
guidance.  We saw a 37% reduction in the declaration of Covid-19 outbreaks and a reduction seen in all 
reporting categories.  The success of the vaccination programme and development of immunity for those 
previously infected which will have continued to the overall reduction.  
 

We completed the upgrade of the water infrastructure at DMH, which was being undertaken in response 
to the presence of legionella in the water supply. Restrictions previously in place, such as the closure of 
the birthing pool, to keep patients and staff safe, have been lifted.  
 
We have seen outbreaks of Carbapenamase-Producing Enterobacterales at DMH, as a result of which 
we have: 

o Taken advice from the UK Health Security Agency and other experts 
o Deep cleaned bays and a whole ward 
o Decontaminated drains 
o Introduced an enhanced screening regime  
o Commenced replacement of handwashing facilities and the upgrade of a sluice.  

 
A two-year refresh of the clinical environments at DMH is taking place with a budget of around £2m.  
 
In the light of the adverse trends noted above in infection rates our Medical and Nursing Directors are 
writing to all staff to re-emphasise the importance of effective infection control and we are, from June 
2024, reinvigorating two-weekly meetings of our healthcare associated infection reduction group, which 
will be chaired by a Deputy Medical Director.  
 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

N
H

SE
 t

h
re

sh
o

ld
 v

s 
ac

tu
al

 c
as

es

To
ta

l H
ea

lt
h

ca
re

 A
ss

o
ci

at
ed

  c
as

es
 p

er
 m

o
n

th
 

Comparable Healthcare Associated Pseudomonas cases  
from April 2022 to 31st March 2024 vs 2023/24 NHSE threshold

2022/23 Pseudomonas aeruginosa Healthcare Associated cases

2023/24 Pseudomonas aeruginosa Healthcare Associated cases

Cumulative Healthcare Associated case totals

Trajectory

Page 25



 

Page 16 of 91 

 

Reducing harm from Category 3 and 4 pressure ulcers   
  
 

The Trust has a zero tolerance for Category 3 and 4 pressure ulcers involving lapses in care.  During 

2023/24 we reported one Category 4 pressure ulcer and two Category 3 pressure ulcers investigated 

which have identified lapses in care. 

 
The Category 4 pressure ulcer (PU) occurred in a community hospital and was a complex case with the 
patient suffering multiple comorbidities. The review panel and Community Hospitals Matron reviewed the 
incident including the patient records and agreed that there were no lapses in care that would have 
prevented the wound from developing due to patient preference. It was noted, however, that there were 
formal risk assessments were not always documented. 
 
We identified that an absence of formal documented risk assessments and skin inspections, and 
communication failure between specialities were all contributory factors in respect of the two Category 3 
Pressure Ulcers.  
 

Pressure Ulcer (PU) prevention remains a high priority for our health professionals in all settings. While 
PU incidence is expected to rise given the ageing population in the UK and Europe, they can occur in 
people of any age. We therefore work hard to ensure that all our practitioners know about the causes 
and consequences of PUs and are aware of up-to-date guidance on the prevention and management in 
patients who have developed a PU or who are at risk of developing a PU. 
 
We undertake rapid reviews of all Grade 3 and 4 ulcers which occur in our care. These ensure that 
incident reviews are timely, and that learning takes place promptly for all departments and teams. The 
reviews are multi-disciplinary and are led by a Tissue Viability Matron. Incident reports for Grade 2 ulcers 
are accompanied by questionnaires designed to assess compliance with Trust policies and to identify 
lapses in care. The outcomes are validated – on a sample basis – by our specialist Tissue Viability (TV) 
Team with any thematic learning disseminated. Our care groups are provided with quarterly reports 
detailing findings and actions taken. 
 

The TV team continues to focus on providing education and support to front-line teams, with particular 
emphasis on PU prevention and the correct categorisation of ulcers. We have a network of Wound 
Resource Educational Nurses (WRENS), that work in both our acute and community services and we 
have been successful in launching an equivalent role for our HCA staff, which covers basic skin care and 
prevention. Over the last year a number of pathways and protocols have been developed by the TV 
team to support nursing staff in relation to good skin care and correct pressure relief surface selection. 
We have also seen the introduction of a Haematoma pathway and Acute TV referral criteria. The TV 
Team’s intranet page now provides a multitude of resources and links to support wound care and 
prevention in practice. 
 

The below graph shows the long-term trend for Category 3 and 4 pressure ulcers in the Trust: 

 

Not on track 

() 

Page 26



 

Page 17 of 91 

 

 

  

Page 27



 

Page 18 of 91 

 

 

Maternity Standards including Ockenden recommendations  
 

 
In March 2023, CQC undertook a focused inspection of the safe and well-led key questions for the 
maternity services delivered in our acute hospitals. Following the inspection the CQC issued the Trust 
with a Section 29A Warning Notice, requiring improvements to the quality of care in the areas inspected. 
These included: 
 

 Improving staffing and ensuring resilience in staffing rotas. 

 Implementing an evidence-based triage process for those attending our Pregnancy Assessment 
Units.  

 Reducing delays to inductions of labour. 

 Improving antenatal and new-born screening, risk assessments, recording and escalation of 
maternal observations and foetal heart monitoring. 

 Increasing access to NICE-recommended equipment for foetal heart monitoring. 

 Strengthening clinical governance, including: learning from incidents, improving clinical audit 
processes, and enhancing the reliability of benchmarking and reporting.  

 Greater involvement of service users in learning when things go wrong. 

 Ensuring compliance with essential training requirements.    
 
The final CQC rating for both the safe and well-led key questions, for both our acute maternity units was 
“Inadequate”. Actions to improve care in the areas covered in the warning notice were implemented 
immediately, and additional actions from the final report thereafter. Continuous monitoring and audit 
programmes were put in place to ensure that improvements were embedded and additional equipment 
sourced and deployed where necessary. We have also strengthened our relationship with the Local 
Maternity and Neonatal System, in particular within the aspect of neonatal care. 
 
Support was received from midwifery specialists from the North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care 
Board to help us identify and implement improvements.  
 
CQC undertook an unannounced inspection at the end of January 2024 to assess whether the 
improvements required had been implemented. CQC noted in their press release which accompanied 
the publishing of the re-inspection findings that “staff had clearly worked hard since our previous 
inspection to improve the quality of care they were delivering to people, and they know where further 
improvements are needed so people receive the high standard of care they deserve….” 
 
The table below summarises the improvement in service and hospital ratings following the publication of 
the re-inspection findings. 
 

 
 
The remaining ‘Must Do’ actions identified from the CQC re-inspection findings are: 
 

• Consolidating improvements staffing; 
• Further embedding the triage model in the PAUs; 
• Embedding changes and improvements in governance; 
• Consolidating improvements in compliance with mandatory training; and 
• Ensuring full completion of equipment, environmental and medicines checks.  

 
 
 
 

Partially 

met () 

Page 28



 

Page 19 of 91 

 

These actions will be taken forward by our new Director of Midwifery, who commenced in post in 
February 2024. We have strengthened the leadership structure for the service, ensuring that we have a 
Head of Midwifery for each site and appointing a dedicated Quality and Governance Matron.   
 
The key challenge for our services, with respect to CQC, implementation of essential Ockenden actions 
and the Maternity Incentive scheme, remains staffing. The accepted model for midwifery staffing is 
known as Birth Rate Plus. Our maternity service was reviewed independently by the national Birth Rate 
Plus team during 2023, following which we have implemented dedicated acute and community midwifery 
teams. The staffing model in our acute units now follows Birth Rate Plus recommendations and the Trust 
Board agreed to enhanced staffing levels (over and above Birth Rate plus recommendations) for our 
community services to enable our teams to continue to support families locally.  
 
Birth Rate Plus required substantial increases to the staffing in our acute units, which has partly been 
achieved through recruitment of graduate and internationally-qualified midwives and the voluntary 
transfer of a number of midwives based in the community to our acute sites. Our fill rates have increased 
over the last quarter of 2023/24 and, alongside the enhanced leadership, have led to improved resilience 
in rotas, reduced delays to induction of labour and fewer staffing incidents. Our labour ward coordinators 
are able to remain supernumerary for the majority of shifts. Nonetheless, we continue to run with a 
number of vacancies on each site. We are therefore proactively recruiting for experienced midwives and 
have already made offers to undergraduate midwives for the September 2024 in-take. We have also 
agreed to establish further specialist roles in our midwifery teams and are recruiting specialist midwives 
for Bereavement Support and Diabetes.  
 
Staffing within our community services teams also remains challenged, with recruitment taking place to 
fill vacancies. Our Home Birth service remains suspended, until such time as we have sufficient, fully 
trained staff to provide it safely. We fully understand the impact of this suspension on patient choice and 
the distress which may be caused and are committed to reinstating the service as soon as we can safely 
provide it.  
 

In February 2024, we opened a Bereavement Suite at UHND for families suffering pregnancy loss was 

opened in February 2024. We now plan to develop a similar facility for DMH.  

 

We implemented our “maternity matters” staff engagement strategy, which focuses on team wellbeing, 
culture and ways of working in support of high quality care. Staff engagement has been delivered via: 

 Face to Face meetings 

 Regular bulletins vis email 

 Maternity Bitesize, a weekly meeting which is recorded in Teams for those unable to attend which 
has delivered a variety of topics. 

 
In November 2023, the Trust was subject to a regional peer review visit seeking assurance with respect 
to the essential actions from the national Ockenden inquiry. The visit flagged improvements needed to 
our neonatal transitional care, and the configuration of our neonatal unit at Durham. Interim 
improvements were enacted immediately and longer-term improvements will be implemented in 
2024/25. Neonatal transitional care supports resident mothers as primary care providers for their babies 
where their care requirements are in excess of normal new-born care, but not sufficient to require 
admission to a neonatal unit.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



 

Page 20 of 91 

 

 

Embedding safe practice for invasive procedures, inside and outside of theatres  
 

The use of local patient safety standards for invasive procedures (LocSSIPs) ensures that all  
necessary safety checks are undertaken before, during and after a procedure to protect the patient.  
Having migrated responsibility for the development, issue and adherence to LocSSIPs to local teams, 
we have implemented robust monitoring, auditing and governance procedures to provide assurance that 
our new LocSSIPs policy is followed.  

 
Our goal for the year was to continue to monitor and obtain assurance that LocSSIPs are correctly 
followed in practice, that the correct versions are in use and that ownership is clear and transparent. 
Early in the year we audited compliance with LocSSIPs across our services and found variable 
compliance, including a number of requirements needing further embedding. A Task and Finish Group 
was therefore set up and the following actions completed: 
 

 We introduced a CDDFT LocSSIPs Policy and Standard Operating Procedure;  

 We updated our internet and intranet sites to improve document management and ensure that 
correct versions are available,  

 We completed an audit of the use of each LocSSIP document and shared the results for action in 
each relevant department.    

 
The LocSSIPs Task and Finish group has: continued to support the development of new LocSSIPs; 
ensures trainings is delivered within the Trust; and reviews audit results and action plans; and provides 
service improvement recommendations where required. A re-audit is planned for Quarter 1, 2024/25 to 
determine whether the expected improvements have been made. 
 
In 2024/25 the LocSSIPs Task and Finish group will focus on the further development of migrating all 
LocSSIPs into our EPR system, thereby removing paper copies from the process, enhancing audit 
functionality and improving compliance. 

 

 

Embedding prompt recognition and action on signs of patient deterioration 
 

 

One of the key ambitions in the Trust’s quality strategy ‘Quality Matters’ is to maintain and continuously 
improve our safety practices, as a ‘Highly Reliable’ organisation. Whilst we have made some substantial 
improvements in how we recognise and act on deterioration through our arrangements for cardiac arrest 
prevention, ‘hospital at night’ and Acute Kidney Injury (AKI) teams, we have continued to see some 
incidents resulting in moderate or greater harm to patients where the signs of deterioration could have 
been recognised and acted on sooner.  
 
During 2023/24 we introduced functionality in our electronic patient record system to help staff identify 
and act on signs of patient deterioration and we sought to embed this practice in 2023-24. Using this 
functionality ward managers and staff at all levels are able to monitor completion of patient risk 
assessments and the taking of observations in real-time and we have seen continuous improvement in 
compliance over the course of the year. The chart below shows over 90% compliance for taking 
observations in our A&E Department at UHND, for example.  
 

Partially 

met () 

Partially 

met () 

Page 30



 

Page 21 of 91 

 

 
 
It is important, however, that the system design and functionality meets the needs of our clinical teams.   
Further work is planned for 2024-24 exploring the use of a system called Vocera to act as a 
communication device for Clinicians, replacing the need for a mobile phone and enabling ‘one device to 
serve all’ meaning that teams will only need to rely on one handheld device in their pocket for alerting, 
escalation, responding and communicating patients of concern. 
 
In addition alongside our regional and national peers we have faced very high demands on our 
Emergency Departments, and associated long waits, which poses a potential risk to prompt and rapid 
response to signs of patient deterioration.  The deteriorating patient education programme ensures that 
all registered Nurses, AHP’s and Healthcare Assistants receive deteriorating patient training every two 
years. We are meeting the target for over 85% of staff to be trained through this programme.  Education 
is completed with the Consultants alongside specialist palliative care training on a two year rolling 
programme.  Further progress is required to ensure that the compliance with this training is above the 
85% standard as the current compliance rate is 72%.  The Cardiac Arrest Prevention (CAP) team (who 
deliver this education programme) have increased their capacity to deliver resuscitation training courses 
following a period of reduced programmes in 2020 – 2022 due to the pandemic. 
 
The introduction of “Call for Concern, C4C”, a support service which allows anyone concerned about a 
patient’s condition to call a member of our Acute Intervention Team, has also evaluated well based on 
an initial review, and we are committed to publicising the service more widely.  On receipt of a call, the 
Acute Intervention Team works with the ward-based team to review the patient’s condition and there are 
examples where contact from relatives or friends has made a difference to the care of a patient and / or 
improved communication with the family.  In 2023-24 a scoping exercise has been completed and a 
business case written to explore how can implement the C4C service across the community hospitals as 
well as the acute sites.   
 
Recently the introduction of ‘Martha’s rule’ has welcomed expressions of interest from NHS Trusts to 
NHS England to act as pilot sites. In essence, Martha’s Rule provides for patients and those close to 
them to request a second review if they are concerned, which is catered for by C4C. Although we 
already have C4C in place, we have nonetheless submitted our interest, as we want to focus on 
ensuring that we understand any concerns or worries voiced by the patient or their relative on a daily 
basis as part of our on-going care and treatment. 
 
The roll out of Cerner, our electronic patient record system, has prompted changes in some areas and 
departments in their response to the deteriorating patient.  All in-patient areas and Emergency 
Departments can input vital signs in real time using a handheld electronic device, which also enables 
escalation to clinicians as events occur.  Our focus for the coming year is on embedding the use of this 
functionality. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



 

Page 22 of 91 

 

 

Improving the management of patients with sepsis         
 

Our aim for the year was to improve the recognition and management of sepsis Trust-wide and, in 
particular, the provision of timely treatment including antibiotics.   
 

Training in, and optimisation of, our EPR system to support recognition of sepsis 
Since the inception of our new EPR system in October 2022, all areas have received ‘at the elbow’ 
training on the use of handheld devices to enter patient observations. This enables high national early 
warning scores (NEWS) and sepsis alerts to be escalated to the correct clinician. For inpatients areas - 
during day time hours (09.00 to 17.00hrs) a Doctor and Nurse in Charge will receive these alerts; out of 
hours the Hospital at Night team will automatically receive the tasks helping to ensure prompt review and 
treatment of the patient.  
 
Acting on feedback to staff we have also modified messaging and workflows within the system to be 
more intuitive and support staff in understanding when action is needed.  
 
We have been monitoring compliance with correct screening patients for sepsis and continued education 
has been provided to areas such as the Emergency Department.  Since April 2023 there has been a 
significant improvement with screening compliance, underpinned by the training and system 
simplifications noted above.  
 

Antibiotic Compliance and Blood Cultures. 
We continue to monitor compliance with administering antibiotics within one hour of sepsis diagnosis, 
following evidence of delayed treatment being observed in previous years from incidents, healthcare 
acquired infections and national mortality alerts  
 
Reports have been built within the EPR system but these do not yet account for a number of variables in 
the way that treatment can be delivered. A manual audit has therefore been undertaken by the Lead 
Sepsis Nurse, which found that the system report was counting the time elapsed from suspicion of 
sepsis noted by a nurse, rather than a diagnosis confirmed by a clinician. The report also failed to take 
into account where antibiotics had been given, as a matter of urgency, to acute unwell patients in 
monitoring or resuscitation bays and situations where patients were already on antibiotics and, as a 
result.  
 
The results of the manual audit are noted below. The sample size was 60 patients across both DMH and 
UHND, taken from the patients included within the sepsis treatment compliance data. It covered 
provision of antibiotics within one hour, intravenous treatment and blood cultures.  
 

 
 
We intend to use the detailed findings from the manual audit to improve the EPR system report so that 
we are able to obtain more frequent, automated monitoring information.  
 
Compliance with taking of blood cultures remains low. To try and improve this, our microbiologists have 
been providing education within the Emergency Department as part of daily “10 at 10” (ten minutes at 10 
a.m.) training sessions to raise awareness of the appropriate indications for taking blood cultures. Blood 
culture posters and Trust screen savers have also been designed to remind clinicians of the importance 
of this.  
 

Education and awareness raising 
A sepsis study day is held four times a year for ED nurses. A separate programme has also been 
designed for ward based nurses. Both of these include classroom based teaching and simulation 
teaching.  

Partially 

met () 

Page 32



 

Page 23 of 91 

 

 
The Acute Intervention Team provides at the elbow teaching around the deteriorating patient and sepsis. 
It is expected that they deliver teaching between the hours of 9-5, Monday-Friday, however deteriorating 
patients and emergency calls will always take priority of this.  
 
To keep staff members informed of any important information that needs to be communicated, posters 
are displayed on all toilet doors throughout the trust. These are brief and useful reminders for staff, 
derived from patient safety topics. 
 
Sepsis e-learning is available for all registered nurses within the trust. Information has been made 
available for all staff to register via a weekly communications bulletin. The Cardiac Arrest Prevention 
website provides a range of information and prompts staff to access educational sessions, the sepsis 
regional tool, NICE guidelines and the UK sepsis trust manual. 
 
Sepsis posters, with a QR code and leaflets attached, have been designed to meet NICE quality 
standards. Posters are displayed in the Emergency Departments, Same Day Emergency Care Services 
and Urgent Care Centres. The QR code is linked to the Trust’s internet site enabling patients and 
relatives to download relevant information supporting awareness of signs and symptoms of sepsis and 
signposting to help if required. 
  

Page 33



 

Page 24 of 91 

 

Patient Experience  
 

Improving the care of patients with additional needs - Dementia    
  

Our aim is to provide appropriate care for patients with cognitive impairment and to ensure that patients 
with an impairment such as dementia and their families have a positive experience of their care 
throughout the patient journey. In summary, good progress has been made with respect to: Dementia-
specific training; specialist nursing support for patients with Dementia; reinvigorating our network of 
Dementia champions and establishing joint pathways for patients with Mental Health needs with Tees, 
Esk & Wear Valley NHS Mental Health Trust (TEWV). The focus of our ongoing efforts is to: recruit more 
Dementia Champions; increase the coverage of our training; embed practice developments; and – 
incrementally – to make our environments more Dementia-friendly 
 
We continue to communicate key learning messages to staff through our quarterly Dementia Newsletter 
and through our network of Dementia Champions.  We have recently restarted face to face briefings for 
the Dementia Champions from our Lead Dementia Nurse, which are four times per year, in which 
information is shared, development opportunities discussed and supported. We have 85 champions who 
now cover not only Dementia but also Learning Disabilities.   
 
We work closely a range of partners, through local, regional and national working groups to share 
learning and best practice with respect to services for those with Dementia and to work on joint 
pathways such as those with TEWV where appropriate.  
 
The Trust has reviewed the results of the fifth round of the National Audit of Dementia published in the 
summer of 2023 and has implemented action plans where scope for improvement was identified.  
 
Patient-led assessments of the clinical environment (PLACE) took place between September, October 
and November 2023, and found evidence of improvement and actions undertaken from the 2022 action 
plan. We scored just below the national average score for the Trust’s dementia-friendly environment in 
the PLACE 2023 inspections. DMH and BAH both scored above the average but there is improvement 
work needed at UHND and in community hospitals. Short-term actions have been captured in the action 
plans from the visits. Longer-term actions will be addressed incrementally through estates works.  
 
Over 90% of staff completed the required training in dementia awareness during 2023/24, with more 
than 95% completing Tier 1 training. Sensory awareness training was delivered to our international 
nurse recruits and forms part of the nursing preceptorship programme and induction training for health 
care support workers. Bespoke training has been provided to wards and teams where requested, 
covering for example, changes in the brain, recognising the difference between dementia and delirium 
and the link to mental capacity assessments and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards. 
 
 

Improving care of patients with additional needs - Learning Disabilities and 
Autism     
 
The Trust’s specialist learning disabilities (LD) and autism nurses continue to offer a ‘guarantee’ that is 
unique in the region, working with partner agencies to facilitate safe and effective discharge and provide 
ongoing support following discharge to reduce the risk of readmission. The Information Department, 
wards and partner agencies are all asked to alert the team to relevant patient admissions so that all 
patients with LD and / or autism can be supported whilst in hospital and after they leave.  
 
Our specialist LD nurses continue to work closely with wards and departments, families and care 
providers so that they can continuously monitor the effectiveness of our services and respond to 
changing demands. As part of this work, they have offered bespoke training to wards and departments. 
Policy is being embedded into day to day practice as is evident from the patient records inspected during 
the learning disability team patient reviews. 
 
With respect to further developments in the year:  

Broadly on 

track ()  

Broadly on 

track ()  

Page 34



 

Page 25 of 91 

 

 

 The Trust has committed to reviewing all deaths for those with learning disabilities as part of our 
mortality review programme and participated in panels for both Teesside and Co Durham; and 

 The team have seen significant improvements in completion of DNACPR forms for LD patients in 
2023/24 and continues to monitor completion closely. 

 
The main area in which improvements need to be consolidated relates to training. We planned to 
introduce mandatory training in LD and autism during 2023/24, with the Government’s preferred training 
package being the Oliver McGowan programme. Roll out was dependent on the receipt of on 
Governance guidance with respect to training expectations which has not yet been issued. Rather than 
risk further delay, we have committed to making the programme mandatory for all staff from May 2024. 
The regional clinical network continues to develop its own Diamonds training programme and this will be 
evaluated as a potential alternative, depending on the expectations of the Government in due course.    
 
In the interim, the team has continued to deliver training on as part of both the nursing preceptorship and 
the midwifery mandatory training programmes.  
 
 

Improving the care of patients with additional needs – Mental Health Support       
 

As in the previous year we have seen a continued need for children and young people accessing our 
service due to mental health needs.  
 
This also remains a theme from safeguarding referrals, for children who are accessing CDDFT services 
and whilst this will not capture all of the admissions, it provides a relevant understanding of some of the 
high risk admissions. 
 
Our Partnership Mental Health Alliance Board and the Operational Mental Health Group has continued 
to strengthen the collaborative work to meet the needs of the population we serve. Working jointly with 
our partners, we have been able to manage children and young people presenting with a mental health 
crisis and support them in the community as an alternative to admission to hospital. This has been 
achieved by joint care planning and early intervention in the acute setting to prevent admission to 
hospital. 
 
As we embed the work undertaken last year: 
 

 We are reviewing the continuing multi-disciplinary and multi-agency care pathway for children 
and young people, from the Emergency Department to the ward, with the aim of providing 
consistent and high quality care provision to children/young people and their families. 

 We have appointed registered nurses as Mental Health Champions on our Paediatric Wards, and 
in the Paediatric Assessment Area (PAA) and Paediatric A&E at DMH.  

 Events have taken place to review the experience of children and young people and their 
families’ experience of admission to hospital, and we continue to look at innovative ways to 
capture feedback; engage and obtain a robust understanding of their experience. 

 All unnecessary ligature points have been removed from the ward areas and the PAA. 

 We have jointly appointed a Mental Health Project Manager, who is employed by both CDDFT 
and TEWV, to facilitate continued partnership and joined up working, with consistent and shared 
goals. 

 We have developed and rolled out a policy, in collaboration with the multi-disciplinary team for 
the care of patients with mental health needs. The policy has been approved through governance 
processes and is now ratified and available for staff. 

 We have accessed training and support for our staff from TEWV colleagues 

 We have evaluated our joint arrangements against sources of good practice and published 
reports from the Care Quality Commission and identified and enacted related improvements.  

 We have commenced a review of the physical environment for all wards at higher risk, 
considering the actions required to mitigate risk including physical measures such as the removal 
of unnecessary ligature points and management measures such as supervision.  

Broadly on 

track ()  

Page 35



 

Page 26 of 91 

 

 We have launched a project to improve quality of care, incorporating positive approaches to care; 
training and education which prioritises a trauma-informed approach for all staff across the 
organisation is currently underway. 

 Services from relevant voluntary sector organisations are being evaluated to identify how they 
might support children/young people and their families during admissions. One of our challenges 
is in ensuring that we always comply with the Mental Health Act on the infrequent occasions that 
patients need to be sectioned in our care and we are revising our arrangements to achieve this.  

 
 

Ensuring a positive patient experience through the discharge process                   
 

We work closely with partners across the system to coordinate complex discharges. During the year, we 
have agreed a policy and developed the concept of a transfer of care hub for step down care. We are 
working on a job description for shared post with Durham County Council to act as a System Wide 
Discharge Coordinator for step down care.  
 
Daily inter-agency calls continue to be well represented and to provide a forum focused on finding 
solutions to any challenges preventing a patient from being discharged when they are ready to leave 
hospital. These calls are now supplemented by individual multidisciplinary meetings that are called to 
discuss specific cases in more detail and develop bespoke action plans. There is also now a more 
regular and direct communication route for North Yorkshire patients through the County Council. 
   
Overall, the number of people remaining in hospital for more than seven days, over 14 days and over 21 
days continues to be amongst the very best in the North East and Yorkshire region, and we continue to 
benchmark well re: bed days “lost” due to patients remaining in an NHS bed after they are medically 
optimised. This is a reflection on the system as a whole and the vital role played by social care and the 
providers of care home beds and domiciliary care. 
 
Using fixed-term funding we are working with ‘Home group’ to access support for those patients with low 
level mental health needs with housing and financial problems pre and post discharge. Their 
responsiveness is excellent and, after initially focusing on patients leaving UHND, they have been able 
to extend their service to support County Durham residents on all hospital sites. By meeting the need for 
support, we have seen a reduction in readmissions.  

All assessments of someone’s longer term social care needs are carried out in the community setting 
and this, together with the development of trusted assessments has helped to minimise patients 
remaining in hospital awaiting ‘assessment of need’. There have, however, still been some delays as a 
result of capacity not meeting demand at peak times  

Internally, we continue to work with ward staff to ensure that accurate information on patients awaiting 
discharge and the reasons for any delay are captured. This enables us to use daily ‘discharge-ready’ 
lists to track patients, and to plan, prepare for and enact their discharge.  
 
During the third and fourth quarters of 2023/24 we were able to access support from the national NHS 
Discharge Fund to expand the capacity of our Discharge Management Team, enabling a physical 
presence on all three main hospital sites, as well on Saturdays and Bank Holidays. The team have also 
started undertaking Trusted Assessments, which enable discharge without the need for social worker 
involvement.  
 
Further, ongoing developments include: 
 

 Reinvigorating the implementation of NHS England’s SAFER approach to managing patient flow, 
which promotes timely senior reviews to support discharge decision-making, ensuring that all 
patients have an estimated discharge date and associated discharge criteria and seeking to 
discharge higher numbers of patients earlier in the day.  

 Implementing the Optica electronic discharge management tool. Further work is needed to 
implement this alongside our EPR system; however it is expected to support the allocation and 
management of tasks needed to discharge individual patients.  

  

Broadly on 

track ()  

Page 36



 

Page 27 of 91 

 

End of Life and Palliative Care                         
 

The Trust’s End of Life Care was rated as ‘Outstanding’ in the most recent CQC report and the results of 
National Audit of Care at End of Life (NACEL) 2022/23 and quality survey data demonstrated continuing 
good practice in end of life care within the Trust.  
 

 
 
Figure notes: NC743 = UHND, NC742 = DMH, quality survey results apply to both acute hospitals  

 

Access to single rooms for patients who are dying is relatively good at DMH (88%) but remains more of 
a challenge at Durham, where more than 50% of patients die in four bedded bays because of fewer side 
rooms being available within the estate. The proportion of single rooms continues to decline compared to 
the national average.  
 
The Patient Flow teams on the Acute sites do all they can to provide access to privacy for dying patients 
and, where possible and appropriate, we make use of community hospitals. 
 
Education is provided to staff on ways to maintain the privacy and dignity of end of life care patients 
within the wider hospital footprint where side rooms are not available.  
 

Broadly on 

track ()  

Page 37



 

Page 28 of 91 

 

 
 

The Trust continues to have the highest proportion of deaths with palliative care coding within the region, 
as a result of which more than 50% of patients who die in acute hospitals receive input from the 
specialist palliative care team.  
 

Palliative Care Coding (proportion of people who died who received input from specialist 
palliative care) 

 
 

 

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

50.0

55.0

60.0

65.0

M
ay

2
0

-A
p

r2
1

Ju
n

2
0

-M
ay

2
1

Ju
l2

0
-J

u
n

2
1

A
u

g2
0

-J
u

l2
1

Se
p

2
0

-A
u

g2
1

O
ct

2
0

-S
ep

2
1

N
o

v2
0

-O
ct

2
1

D
ec

2
0

-N
o

v2
1

Ja
n

2
1

-D
e

c2
1

Fe
b

2
1

-J
an

2
2

M
ar

2
1

-F
eb

2
2

A
p

r2
1

-M
ar

2
2

M
ay

2
1

-A
p

r2
2

Ju
n

2
1

-M
ay

2
2

Ju
l2

1
-J

u
n

2
2

A
u

g2
1

-J
u

l2
2

Se
p

2
1

-A
u

g2
2

O
ct

2
1

-S
ep

2
2

N
o

v2
1

-O
ct

2
2

D
ec

2
1

-N
o

v2
2

Ja
n

2
2

-D
e

c2
2

Fe
b

2
2

-J
an

2
3

M
ar

2
2

-F
eb

2
3

A
p

r2
2

-M
ar

2
3

M
ay

2
2

-A
p

r2
3

Ju
n

2
2

-M
ay

2
3

Ju
l2

2
-J

u
n

2
3

A
u

g2
2

-J
u

l2
3

Se
p

2
2

-A
u

g2
3

% Deaths with palliative care coding: NE Region

NE Low NE High NE Average CDDFT

Page 38



 

Page 29 of 91 

 

 
 
 

Improving the nutritional support offered to our patients whilst in our care        
 

We have continued embed compliance with nutrition screening in the hospital settings, with month on 
month improvements as shown in the table below.  
 

Measure 

Apr-

23 

May-

23 

Jun-

23 Jul-23 

Aug-

23 

Sep-

23 

Oct-

23 

Nov-

23 

Dec-

23 

Jan-

24 

Feb-

24 

Mar-

24 

Assessments 

Required 6,324 6,506 6,429 6,441 6,430 6,211 6,573 6,681 6,833 7,259 6,737 6,885 

Completed 2,803 3,036 2,967 3,519 4,357 4,672 5,473 5,561 5,959 6,448 6,032 6,186 

Completed 

Within 4 Hours 2,048 2,220 2,127 2,426 3,219 3,627 4,495 4,641 5,202 5,636 5,418 5,583 

Completed % 44.3% 46.7% 46.2% 54.6% 67.8% 75.2% 83.3% 83.2% 87.2% 88.8% 89.5% 89.8% 

Completed 

Within 4 Hours % 32.4% 34.1% 33.1% 37.7% 50.1% 58.4% 68.4% 69.5% 76.1% 77.6% 80.4% 81.1% 

 

Over the past 12 months we have:  

 

 seen improvements in compliance with MUST assessments - as of January 2024, some 89% of 
patients had received a MUST assessment and 76% of those had been assessed within four 
hours of admission as per policy; 

 increased the use of handgrip measurements for patients under the care of the Dietitian;  

 re-invigorated the Nutrition and Hydration Improvement Group; 

 promoted fluid balance and hydration through our use of ‘Traffic Light” jugs and our ‘Drip or Drink’ 
campaigns;  

 continued to learn from service user feedback and implemented changes; and  

 worked towards achieving compliance with new National standards and guidelines for nutrition. 
 
The ‘Drip or Drink’ campaign acts as a reminder to staff to consider their patients’ hydration levels and to 
ensure that those requiring a drip are placed on one promptly. The ‘Traffic Light’ jug system visually 
alerts staff when a patient’s fluid in-take is slow. The first jug of the day is red, the second amber, and 
the third green; therefore a patient with a red jug well into the day would flag as potentially needing 
support.    
 

England Avg

CDDFT

Gateshead

Cumbria
N.Tees

Northumbria

S.Tees

S.Tyne/Sun

Newcastle
20

25

30

35

40

45

50

55

60

65

M
ay

2
0

-A
p

r2
1

Ju
n

2
0

-M
ay

2
1

Ju
l2

0
-J

u
n

2
1

A
u

g2
0

-J
u

l2
1

Se
p

2
0

-A
u

g2
1

O
ct

2
0

-S
ep

2
1

N
o

v2
0

-O
ct

2
1

D
ec

2
0

-N
o

v2
1

Ja
n

2
1

-D
e

c2
1

Fe
b

2
1

-J
an

2
2

M
ar

2
1

-F
eb

2
2

A
p

r2
1

-M
ar

2
2

M
ay

2
1

-A
p

r2
2

Ju
n

2
1

-M
ay

2
2

Ju
l2

1
-J

u
n

2
2

A
u

g2
1

-J
u

l2
2

Se
p

2
1

-A
u

g2
2

O
ct

2
1

-S
ep

2
2

N
o

v2
1

-O
ct

2
2

D
ec

2
1

-N
o

v2
2

Ja
n

2
2

-D
e

c2
2

Fe
b

2
2

-J
an

2
3

M
ar

2
2

-F
eb

2
3

A
p

r2
2

-M
ar

2
3

M
ay

2
2

-A
p

r2
3

Ju
n

2
2

-M
ay

2
3

Ju
l2

2
-J

u
n

2
3

A
u

g2
2

-J
u

l2
3

Se
p

2
2

-A
u

g2
3

% Deaths: NE Peer

Partially 

met () 

Page 39



 

Page 30 of 91 

 

We have also audited the use of a nutrition assessment tool in paediatrics and estimated the amount of 
dietetic time required to provide care to those identified as high risk. A business case has been 
submitted for resources aligned to this assessment.  
 
Nutrition training was re-evaluated during the year, and now takes up less time to deliver freeing staff 
time to care for patients. Enteral tube training is in the final stages of being digitalised into “bite size” 
sessions with accompanying WASP competency frameworks. 
 
The main area for improvement is now the timeliness of nutrition screening assessments. 
 
 

Clinical Effectiveness          
              
Reducing waiting times in A&E: Time to assess, Time to treat, Total time in the 
department 
 
This year has seen continued improved in key performance areas such as ambulance handovers times, 
ambulance clearance times, and 12 hour trolley waits, while experiencing unprecedented levels of 
demand and volumes of ambulance conveyances. We have also needed to manage flow to mitigate the 
risk of the spread of infection, ensuring that patients are screened, isolated and cohorted to mitigate 
against the risk of infection, particularly when we have had outbreaks of CPE at DMH. This introduces 
challenges when, for example, the demand for side rooms is high.  
 
The Trust achieved exceeded the national target, which was for at least 76% of patients to be seen and 
treated within four hours of attendance to our A&E departments and urgent treatment centres, in March 
2024, achieving 77.7%. Generally, we improved performance on overall waiting times across the year 
compared to 2022/23 and achieved similar improvements in reducing ambulance handover delays and 
long waits, and with respect to waiting times for Type 1 (A&E) only attendances. In times of surge, 
however, and particularly during the last winter, we have seen some deterioration in performance and 
we have further to go to meet the national average with respect to waiting times for Type 1 attendances.  
 
Improvements implemented during the year included the colocation of Medical Same Day Emergency 
Care and ED at UHND in October 2023; the colocation of the Urgent Treatment Centre at UHND during 
daytime hours; the introduction of new streaming pathways to reduce the number of patients attending 
the Emergency Departments; and cross-site collaboration between Clinical Leads to ensure a 
consistent, best-practice approach to patient care is applied. There is on-going work to further improve 
colocation outside of daytime hours, and to introduce direct ambulance conveyance to Same Day 
Emergency Care. 
 
Most importantly, we know that, as demand continues to increase, we need to optimise the end to end 
flow our patients through our hospitals in order to sustain, and make further improvements in waiting 
times and, moreover, to minimise those times where patients suffer long waits overall, or for beds, in our 
departments.  
 

Improving Paediatric and Neonatal Services        
             
 
 

Ward based staffing has been increased following a robust establishment review using a triangulated 
approach as recommended by NICE and the National Quality Board. As staffing has stabilised at UHND 
beds have been reopened in line with safe staffing guidance. Over the past 12 months we also have 
welcomed Internationally Educated Nurses to our paediatric workforce. 
 
Our Special Care Baby Units have also undertaken an evidence-based workforce assessment, to ensure 
that the units are working to the British Association of Perinatal Medicine (BAPM) nursing safe staffing 
standards. Accordingly our neonatal transitional care model is now under review to ensure it meets the 
BAPM standards. 
 

Achieved 

() 

Partially 

met () 

Page 40



 

Page 31 of 91 

 

In the coming year the model of care within the Paediatric Assessment Unit at UHND will be reviewed in 
line with the principles of safe staffing, to ensure we continue to meet the needs of the young people and 
their families at UHND. 
 
Our community paediatric nursing teams have been restructured into one team with a Band 7 Team 
Leader to strengthen the leadership in the team and allow the acute Ward Manager to focus upon 
inpatient issues.  
 
Over the past 12 months our collaborative working with TEWV has strengthened and we are currently 
reviewing our admission pathways for children and young people with mental health needs. Registered 
nurses have been identified in inpatient wards, in the Paediatric Assessment Area at UHND and the 
Paediatric A&E department at DMH to work with TEWV as mental health champions in line with the 
National Children & Young People’s Transformation Project and the NHS Long Term Plan. We are also 
working with children and young people and their families to understand their experience in hospital 
following admission with a mental health crisis. Our work with TEWV has also reduced the need for the 
children to be admitted in crisis by early intervention in paediatric ED.  
 
We have also: 

 Reviewed our governance structure to ensure all services in the care group have a clear 
reporting structure; 

 Developed a “one stop shop” for young people cared for at Aycliffe Secure Centre, ensuring the 
care required is offered in  familiar surroundings without the need to travel to hospital for an 
outpatient appointment; 

 Completed ligature risk assessments in all inpatient paediatric areas; 

 Developed multi-disciplinary care plans for children and young people requiring inpatient care in 
a mental health crisis; and  

 Visited Alder Hey Children’s Hospital to learn from measures which they have instituted for 
children and young people with mental health needs. 

 

  

Page 41



 

Page 32 of 91 

 

Part 2B - Priorities for 2024/25  
 
The Trust refreshed its Quality Strategy (Quality Matters) during 2022 following consultation with staff 
and patients and a wide range of external stakeholders. Quality Matters is our quality strategy for the 
period 2022/23 – 2025/26. Our priorities for 2024/25 reflect both the ongoing priorities in this strategy 
and further priorities (described as “retained” priorities) where further work is required to meet 2023/24 
objectives.  
 

Safety Experience Effectiveness 

Quality Strategy Priorities / Retained priorities from 2023/24: work ongoing 
 

Reduce the harm from inpatient 
falls, focusing on identification 
and learning from lapses in care 
 

Provide a positive experience for 
those in our care whose with 
additional needs including patients 
with dementia, learning disabilities, 
autism and mental health support 
needs 
 
 

Reduce waiting times in A&E 
covering: Time to assess, 
Time to treat, Total time in 
the department 
 

Reduce incidence of, and harm, 
from Health Care Associated 
Infections 
 

Ensure a positive patient 
experience through the discharge 
process 

At the present time we 
expect to include priorities 
relating to cancer service 
and elderly care, including 
acting on any third party 
recommendations but are 
still in dialogue with the 
teams on the precise actions 
and measures.  

Maintain zero tolerance of Grade 
3 & Grade 4 pressure ulcers 
 

 

Implement actions, in line with 
Ockenden and CQC 
recommendations to sustain 
safety in maternity services.  
 

Further embed safe practice for 
invasive procedures: LocSSIPs 

Further embed prompt 
recognition and action on signs 
of patient deterioration 

Improve the timeliness of 
assessment and treatment for 
patients with suspected sepsis 
 

End of life care: conclude and roll 
out the palliative care strategy, 
ensuring appropriate access to 
private rooms for dignity as far as 
possible.  
 

 

Continue to progress the roll out 
of the Trust’s patient safety 
strategy. 

Continued improvement of 
nutrition including assessment and 
provision for specific needs  
 

 

 

Mandated measures for monitoring 
 

Rate of Patient Safety Incidents 
resulting in severe injury or death 
 
Time spent in the Emergency 
Department 

Percentage of staff who would 
recommend the provider to friends 
and family 
 
Responsiveness to patients 
personal needs 
 

Summary Hospital Mortality 
Indicator (SHMI) 
 
Patient Reported Outcome 
Measures 
 

 

Page 42



 

Page 33 of 91 

 

Patient Safety  
Quality Strategy Aims / Retained Priorities from 2023/24 – Work ongoing: 
 

Reducing harm from inpatient falls  
 

Why we chose this priority 
 
Falls remain one of the highest reported categories of incidents across the Trust. Despite meeting six of 
the seven goals set out in 2023/24 and partially meeting the final goal, minimising harm from falls 
remains is one of priorities within the Trust’s Quality Matters Strategy.  
 

Goals 
 
To reduce harm from falls year on year, in an increasingly at-risk population 
 

How will we do this? 
 
We will: 
 

 To undertake rapid reviews for multiple falls, along with a selection of ‘no harm’ falls in high risk 
areas. 

 To support education pertaining to, and evaluation, of the updated bed rails policy. 

 To update the falls information intranet page to provide a comprehensive and easily accessible 
contemporaneous resource for clinical staff. 

 To work in partnership with the wider health and social care and voluntary sector networks to 
agree an inclusive Falls and Fracture Prevention Strategy 2024-27. 

 To incorporate the risk of deconditioning and consideration of the use of full capacity protocol into 
the rapid review template  

 

Measures of success 
 
Reduction in incidence of falls with lapses in care that contribute to the patient’s fall. 
 

Reducing the incidence of, and harm from, Healthcare Associated Infections (HCAIs) 
 

Why we chose this priority 
 
Minimising harm from HCAIs remains is one of priorities within the Trust’s Quality Matters Strategy and 
we have seen increases in HCAIs over the last year and need to arrest the trend.  
 

Goals 
 
To minimise the potential risk of patient harm from avoidable HCAIs.  We aim to be within the national 
thresholds set for mandatory and local reporting of the below organisms: 

 C-Diff; 

 MRSA; 

 MSSA; 

 Gram-negative bloodstream infections: 
o Klebsiella; 
o Pseudomonas; and 
o E coli. 

 
To date 2024/25 national thresholds have not been set although we have been informed of changes to 
the definitions and timing to categorise a healthcare associated infection.  As a result it is anticipated that 
there will be acknowledgement of an increase in healthcare associated infections which is expected to 
be reflected in revised annual thresholds when issued.   
 

Page 43



 

Page 34 of 91 

 

To minimise the risk of transmission to patients/staff/visiting personnel from respiratory viruses inclusive 
of Covid-19. 

 
How will we do this? 
 
We will implement specific plans for each type of infection as outlined below.  
 
Clostridioides Difficile Infections (C-Diff) 
 
We will: 
 

 Focus on early recognition of suspected / infective diarrhoea and appropriate patient 
management. 

 Continue with our Antimicrobial stewardship programme. 

 Undertake a rapid review of all healthcare associated C-Diff cases collaboratively with the clinical 
teams for timely review of best practice and any lessons learnt for clinical teams to action as 
appropriate.  

 Hold weekly multi-disciplinary C-Diff meetings for complex C-Diff cases. 

 Share learning in a timely manner to drive improvement. 

 Work with partners to monitor cleanliness standards. 
 
MRSA:  
 
We will:  
 

 Review the Trust’s MRSA policy and ensure it is aligned to best practice.  

 Audit compliance with the policy. 

 Focus on MRSA screening and decolonisation. 

 Support Trust wide focused work to improve peripheral IV device management. 

 Continue to investigate cases and share findings with the organisation. 
 
MSSA: 
 
We will: 

 Continue to investigate cases and share any learning across the organisation to support 
individual areas with any educational requirements. 
 

Gram Negative Blood Stream Infections (GNBSI): 
 
We will: 
 

 Continue to monitor practices for both acute and community onset GNBSI and share information 
with clinical teams to support continuous improvement across the health economy.  

 Share information on sources of infection and themes from good practice and lessons learned 
Trust-wide. 

 Undertake prevalence audits for patients with a urinary catheter to ensure best practice is 
delivered.  
 

Covid-19: 
 
We will: 

 Continue to monitor changes in national guidance and incorporate them into our local 
protocol/policy. 

 Continue to monitor prevalence rates and tailor mandatory IPC precautions in line with 
prevalence. 

 Monitor and investigate local periods of increased incidents (PII) and outbreaks. 
 
 

Page 44



 

Page 35 of 91 

 

Measures of success 
 
To remain within nationally set thresholds for all mandatory reporting healthcare associated infections 
and internal reduction strategies. 

 
Reducing harm from Category 3 and 4 pressure ulcers  
   

Why we chose this priority 
 
Minimising harm from pressure ulcers remains is one of priorities within the Trust’s Quality Matters 
Strategy.  
 

Goals 
 
For patients within our care to have no Category 3 or 4 pressure ulcers that have been identified as 
having lapses in care delivery.  
 

How will we do this? 
 
We will:  

 Continue to develop our learning in real-time across all domains. 

 Embed, and refine, the rapid review process. 

 Ensure all patients identified with Category 3 and above pressure ulcers whilst in our care have a 
formal review. 

 Undertake quarterly thematic reviews for all Category 2 pressure ulcers, with findings reported to 
Care Group Governance meetings for action and learning. .  

 Continue work with colleagues in Procurement to align the acute dressings formulary with that for 
the community to provide more consistency with dressing choice and treatment. 

 Complete and gain approval of a mattress selection guide for community services-(currently 
being updated). 

 

Measures of success 
 
For patients within our care to have no Category 3 or 4 pressure ulcers that have been identified as 
having lapses in care delivery. 

 

Meeting Maternity Standards, including Ockenden and CQC Recommendations  
 

Why we chose this priority 
 
Safety in maternity services remains a high priority nationally with the publication of the “Three Year 
Delivery Plan for Maternity and Neonatal Services”. Locally, we need to fully implement the quality 
improvement programme put in place following the CQC and Ockenden peer review visits in 2023 and 
are being supported by NHS England, through the national Maternity Safety Support Programme.  
 
Ongoing focus on the Saving Babies Lives Care Bundle also remains a specific priority. 
 

Goals 
 
We aim to demonstrate a continuous quality improvement against the actions noted in the CQC report to 
regain a “Good “rating and to meet all exit criteria for the Maternity Safety Support Programme over the 
course of 2024/25.  
 

How will we do this? 
 
We will: 

 Continue to implement our “maternity matters” staff engagement strategy. 

Page 45



 

Page 36 of 91 

 

 Embed our enhanced leadership structure and recruit further specialist roles to support the 
retention and resilience of our workforce. 

 Using all available recruitment channels, seek to fill remaining vacancies in our acute and 
community services and establish resilient staffing models. 

 Progress towards reinstatement of our Homebirth service.  

 Bi annually review our safe staffing levels and models of care against workforce planning models.  

 Develop our quality and governance structure to deliver the “Three Year Delivery Plan for 
Maternity and Neonatal Services 

 Strive to meet all Safety Actions as outlined in the national Maternity and Perinatal Incentive 
Scheme. 

 

Measures of success 
 
These will comprise:  

 Increased staffing fill rates and improvement in other related staffing indicators and overall 
resilience. 

 Implementation of all actions from the most recent CQC inspection.  

 Fulfilment of the exit criteria from the Maternity Safety Support Programme.  

 Restarting our Homebirth service. 

 Meeting Maternity Incentive Scheme Year 6 Safety Actions 
 

 
Embedding safe practice for invasive procedures, inside and outside of theatres: 
LocSSIPs  
 

Why we chose this priority? 
 
The use of local patient safety standards for invasive procedures (LocSSIPs) ensures that all necessary 
safety checks are undertaken before, during and after a procedure to protect the patient. Fully 
embedding compliance with the 47 LocSSIPs in place within the Trust is one of the safety priorities 
within our Quality Strategy.  

 
Goals 
 
To implement an effective system of assurance and compliance monitoring that LocSSIPs are correctly 
followed, that tracking processes are maintained and that ownership is clear and transparent. 
 

How will we do this? 
 
We will:  

 Ensure that general access to LocSSIPs via the internet / intranet is controlled. 

 Continue to audit LocSSIPs documentation and adherence to practice. 

 Develop LocSSIPs as electronic forms in our EPR system to assist staff in adhering to the 
requirements. 

 Maintain our Clinical Director-led working group to build on the work already completed, working 
towards the stated goals. 

 
Measures of success 
 

 Standard audit reports produced at regular intervals for in-use LocSSIPs and reported into 
governance structures, which evidence a high level of compliance with requirements.  

 Robust monitoring and reporting processes established at Trust and Care Group level.  

 Development of a suite of electronic LocSSIPs in EPR, supported by appropriate training to staff. 

 Data reports for any electronic LocSSIPs provided by the information team and shared into the 
governance structures. 

 
 

Page 46



 

Page 37 of 91 

 

Embedding prompt recognition and action on signs of patient deterioration 
 

Why we chose this priority 
 
A key ambition in the Trust’s quality strategy ‘Quality Matters’ is to maintain and continuously improve 
our safety practices, as a ‘Highly Reliable’ organisation. Whilst we have made some substantial 
improvements in how we recognise and act on deterioration through our arrangements, we have 
continued to see some incidents resulting in moderate or greater harm to patients where the signs of 
deterioration could have been recognised and acted on sooner. 
 
Goals 
 
To improve compliance with training with respect to patient deterioration and resuscitation and further 
reduce incidents involving delayed recognition or action on patient deterioration in line with our ‘highly 
reliable organisation’ ambition.  
 
How will we do this? 
 
We will: 

 Reinstate frequency requirements and closely monitor compliance with relevant training 
programmes.  

 Promote wide learning and education in response to any incidents of harm or significant near 
misses involving delayed recognition or action on deterioration. 

 Audit early warning scores and escalation to ensure that Trust procedures are being followed. 

 Publicise more widely our “Call for Concern” service. 

 Embed completion of patient risk assessments, in response to all relevant triggers, in the Trust’s 
new EPR system. 

 Roll out our System Improvement Plan for Patient Deterioration which aims to address key 
themes and actions from recent Patient Safety Investigations.  

 Introduce technology throughout the organisation to ensure ‘one handheld device for all 
purposes’. 

 

Measures of success 
 

 We will see improved compliance rates with training – the Trust standard being 85% - and 
improvements with observation and escalation audits.   

 Implementation of the hand-held device technology trust wide. 

 Substantial progress in implementing the action in our Deteriorating Patient System Improvement 
Plan. 

 

Improving the management and treatment of patients with sepsis  
 

Why we chose this priority 
 
To continue to ensure that patients within our care with sepsis are rapidly identified and receive timely 
treatment. Audits undertaken in 2023/24 identify a need for further improvement in IV treatment and the 
taking of blood cultures and we are not yet at the point where we can monitor compliance with provision 
of antibiotics reliably using the system.  
 

Goals 
 

 To continue to improve the percentage of patients receiving antibiotics within 1 hour of diagnosis 
in the Emergency Department. 

 To ensure that blood cultures are taken in a patient with a positive sepsis screen. 

 To improve staff awareness and processes to ensure prompt recognition and response. 
 

 

Page 47



 

Page 38 of 91 

 

How will we do this? 
 
We will: 

 Continue multi-professional study days which include assessments based on simulation 
exercises. 

 Continue planned Sepsis audits and monitor sepsis mortality. 

 Continue to develop our ‘10@10 training sessions’ attended by Consultant Microbiologists and 
CDDFT Emergency Department staff – an educational session focusing on the importance of 
appropriate indications for taking blood cultures.  

 Develop a Blood Culture Task and Finish Group. 

 Trial the use of sepsis boxes. 

 Continue to educate patients and relatives on the recognition of the signs and symptoms of 
sepsis by organising a public engagement event. 

 Further develop system reporting or audit procedures to allow us to measure performance more 
frequently.  
 

Measures of success 
 
We will see improved compliance rates with the percentage of patients receiving antibiotics within one 
hour of diagnosis in the Emergency Department and back of house ward areas, improvements in IV 
treatment and significant improvements on 2023/24 performance for the taking of blood cultures.  
 

 
Year one implementation of the patient safety strategy  

Why we chose this priority 
 
In 2023/24 we published our Patient Safety strategy, outlining the key areas of focus for the Trust for the 
next 3 years aligned to the National Patient Safety Strategy three pillars of Insight, Involvement and 
Improvement. This strategy seeks to develop our safety culture and processes and underpins the 
achievement of our safety priorities.  
 

Goals 
 
In 2024/25 we aim to: 
 

 Further embed continuous improvement through our System Improvement Plans; 

 Expand the number of Patient Safety Partners at CDDFT; and 

 Evaluate the effectiveness of our Family Liaison Officer Service with those families involved in 
investigations. 

How will we do this? 
 

We will: 

 Develop and roll out System Improvement Plans in relation to identified safety themes and 
support our care groups in using rapid learning tools.  

 Recruit further Patient Safety Partners.  

 Learn from the evaluation of the Family Liaison Officer role to strengthen the service and recruit 
additional FLOs.  
 

Measures of success 
 
These will include: 
 

 Further embedding of the use of System Improvement Plans and rapid learning from incidents. 

 Additional Family Liaison Officers in place. 

 Ability to build on Family Liaison Officer service-based on evaluation. 

 Establishing a team of Patient Safety Partners in Place. 

Page 48



 

Page 39 of 91 

 

Patient Experience 
 
Quality Strategy Aims / Retained Priorities from 2023/24 – Work ongoing: 
 

Providing a positive experience in our care for those with additional needs 
 
Patients with Dementia  
 
Why we chose this priority 
 
To develop high-levels of understanding and awareness of how to care patients with dementia among 
our staff and to develop our patient environments in line with guidelines and standards for dementia-
friendliness. Despite improvements made in recent years, national audit results point to areas where we 
can make further improvements on behalf of our patients.  
 

Goals 
 
To: 

 Embrace opportunities which will enhance and provide appropriate care for patients with 
cognitive impairment such as dementia and to ensure that they, and their families, have a 
positive experience in our care. 

 Develop consistently high levels of understanding and awareness of dementia among our staff. 

 To make short-term improvements for dementia-friendly patient environments and ensure that 
longer-term improvements are considered in our estates and capital plans.  

 

How will we do this? 
 

 By implementing short-term actions to improve patient environments in line with action plans from 
the 2023/24 PLACE visits and to promote consideration of longer-term changes in estates and 
capital plans. 

 To promote good practice through our network of Dementia Champions with a minimum of four 
face to face meetings with the Lead Dementia Nurse during the year.  

 Working with stakeholders, local, regional and national working groups to promote dementia 
services and ensuring the needs of those with dementia are taken into consideration when 
developing services and changes in clinical practice. 

 Increasing the number of Dementia and LD Champions.  
 

Measures of success 
 

Meeting our 85% compliance targets for dementia awareness and related training and improvement in 
PLACE assessment results for dementia-friendly environments. The balance of feedback from service 
users and carers is positive and improves year on year. 
  

 

Patients with Learning Disabilities and / or Autism 
 
Why we chose this priority 
 
We want to ensure that our staff understand the needs of, and are able to care for patients with LD and 
Autism effectively, by providing training and maximising the support available from our specialist LD and 
Autism team. In doing so, we want to develop our services in line with the feedback we have started to 
collect from service users on their expectations of our services.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



 

Page 40 of 91 

 

Goals: 
 

 Development and roll out of revised training programme in conjunction with the North East and 
Cumbria clinical network, ensuring that all staff have completed the training within 12 months of 
the roll out date, allowing for long-term sick leave, special and maternity leave.  

 Continued delivery of training as part the nursing preceptorship programme and the maternity 
programme. 

 To substantiate increases in capacity in the LD and Autism team currently funded on a fixed-term 
basis.  

 To complete five day reviews of our patients so that we can evidence a clear plan of care and 
treatment is in place. 

 Completion of mortality reviews to learn from the deaths of all patients with a learning disability 
and will also continue membership of the LeDeR review groups within our localities.  

 

How will we do this? 
 

 Delivery of a training programme comprising e-learning, face to face training, and bespoke 
departmental training. 

 Completion of data and conversations with family members and carers within EPR on reasonable 
adjustments and support required. 

 Completion of five day reviews to evidence a clear plan of care and treatment. 

 Completion of easy-read friends and family tests to review patient experience. 

 Securing funding for a full time substantive specialist nurse position. 

 Completion of mortality reviews on deaths of patients with a learning disability. 
 

Measure of success: 
 

 All staff – other than those on long-term leave – to be trained within 12 months of the launch of 
the programme.  

 Positive friends and family test results reported to the Board. 

 Improvements in service user feedback as we implement changes in response to their 
expectations. 

 Completion of mortality reviews with a clear pathway of learning. 
 
 

Patients with Mental Health support needs 
 

Why we chose this priority 
 
The mental health of our children and young people is a key priority in the NHS Children’s 
Transformation Programme.  There is relevant work to complete with adult mental health services too, to 
ensure that we are addressing national and local themes for young people are at the point of transition.  
 
Improving our engagement with children, young people and their families in a meaningful way, will 
ensure that we have a better and accurate understanding of their experience, their journey through our 
pathways and outcomes. Accordingly we have needed to introduce new policies and procedures, based 
on joint working with our mental health trust and multi-agency partners so that we are able to respond to 
our patients’ holistic needs and provide for their safety, and the safety of others through personalising 
their care and joined up working and care planning.  

 
Goals 
 
We aim to: 
 

 Listen to the experience of children with physical and mental health needs who access our 
services 

 Embed nurse-led care of children and young people with mental health needs. 

Page 50



 

Page 41 of 91 

 

 Seamless transition to adult services. 

 Ensure our policies and guidelines remain evidence-based. 

 Complete effective risk assessments of the children and young people to maintain safety. 

 Maintain effective partnership working with TEWV and local authority colleagues focusing on the 
needs of the patient.  

 Optimise multi-agency working with partners to ensure seamless care provision in the right place. 

 Ensure care is given to children and young people when they are admitted to CDDFT. 
 

How will we do this? 
 
By: 
 

 Patient experience events hosted jointly with our TEWV and local authority colleagues 

 Continued agreement of bespoke care pathways for children and young people who are admitted 
with mental ill health. 

 Increasing our training provision, to provide staff with an understanding of mental ill health and to 
develop the use of positive care approaches and trauma informed practice. This will, in turn, help 
to ensure that the needs of children and young people in our care are appropriately understood 
and their care is personalised, and to ensure we are meeting our statutory responsibilities. 

 Continued work through our Partnership and Alliance Boards and Operational Group to 
strengthen relationships and service provision for patients with dual needs, including as 
appropriate consideration of joint posts, training and adaptations to policies and procedures. 

 Jointly evaluating the workings of both groups and implementing any agreed improvements. 

 Monitoring and auditing our adherence to policies and procedures.  

 Evaluating the training and support provided to staff and implementing any agreed 
improvements.  

 
 

Measures of success 
 

 Policies and procedures will meet evidence-based good practice. 

 There will be effective management plans in place for all patients with dual needs. 

 The Partnership Alliance will evaluate well. 

 Training provided to staff evaluates well and / or is improved. 

 Ongoing update of environmental and ligature risk assessments with action taken to remove risks 
where possible 

 
 

Ensuring a positive patient experience through the discharge process  
 
Why we chose this priority 
 
Discharging a patient from our care often requires detailed planning, communication with families and 
carers and – often – detailed coordination between different teams and partner agencies. Delays in 
discharge and / or issues in communication, can lead to a poor patient experience and increase anxiety 
for our patients and those looking after them. The vast majority of patients are discharged with no 
issues; however, we know that this is not always the case and, in aspiring to be a highly reliable 
organisation we want every discharge to be safe, timely and well-communicated to families and those 
responsible for onward care.   

 
Goals 
 
To build on arrangements for discharge which were established during 2021/22, focusing on the High 
Impact Change Model (HICM) for Managing Transfer of Care to reflect changes in hospital discharge 
policy, the 10 point plan and “SAFER” guidance, recognising the importance on the ‘end to end’ pathway 
for patients. In particular to: 
 

Page 51



 

Page 42 of 91 

 

 Bring forward discharges (on average) to earlier in the day, ensuring ‘home first’ wherever 
possible; 

 Ensure that patients have a positive experience through the discharge process; and 

 Minimise incidents and adverse events relating to the discharge process. 
 

How will we do this? 
 
We will: 
 

 Reinforce integrated working with local authorities as shown by the joint appointment of the 
system lead post, as well as the pooled funding of the Discharge Management Team and 
Discharge to Assess therapists. 

 Progress the full Transfer of Care Hub model. 

 Promote and embed the reissued Discharge policy  

 Maximise the implementation of the Optica discharge management tool, embedding its use on 
our wards. 

 Make best use of the available daily data on discharge delays, with clear escalation routes 
established within social care 

 
Measures of success 
 
We will ensure our discharge curve is brought forward to earlier in the day, achieve improved patient 
satisfaction through post-discharge surveys and see a reduction in incidents and adverse events related 
to discharge.  

 
 
End of life and palliative care  
 

Why we chose this priority 
 
We continue to strive to implement the overarching aim of the national strategy: “I can make the last 
stage of my life as good as possible because everyone works together confidently, honestly and 
consistently to help me and the people who are important to me, including my carer(s)” This builds on 
the improvements that have already taken place. 
 

Goals 
 
To further deliver on the national strategy ensuring everyone dying has good access to palliative care  
 

How will we do this? 
 
We will: 

 Focus intensively on recognition of dying in hospital in all palliative care teaching.  

 Continue to explore ways to ensure more people have access to palliative care when they are 
dying.  

 Explore solutions to the relative lack of single rooms and, as far as possible, ensuring appropriate 
access to private rooms for dignity. 

 
Measures of success 
 
These will comprise:  

 Maintaining or improving the proportion of people who are dying seen by palliative care 
specialists. 

 Continuing to explore ways of improving privacy for patients dying in hospital. 
 

 

Page 52



 

Page 43 of 91 

 

Improving the nutritional support offered to our patients whilst in our care  
 

Why we chose this priority? 
 
Good nutrition is recognised as pivotal in each part of a patient journey within the Trust. This ranges 
from those receiving care in a community setting to an acute hospital setting; those receiving artificial 
nutrition to those with no dietary requirements. It also encompasses those whose relatives/ carers are 
using CDDFT commercial food outlets and staff within the Trust. 
 

Goals 
 
To continue to ensure that patients receive adequate nutrition and hydration. We will continue to work to 
embed the use of EPR functionality and ensure high levels of compliance in completing nutritional needs 
(MUST) assessments and associated care plans. Where patients screened using MUST trigger a 
dietetic referral, assessment and appropriate care plans will be put in place. 
 

How will we do this? 
 

 Reviewing and, as necessary, enhancing capacity in the Dietetics team to explore ways to 
provide ward-based paediatric dietetics.  

 Developing and rolling out plans for compliance with the NHS Food and Drink Strategy. 

 Working with internal and external stakeholders to embed good nutrition practices Trust-wide. 

 Continuing to learn from positive and negative feedback in relation to nutrition practices with 
Ulysses incident forms. 

 Continuing to strive for high levels of compliance with nutrition screening and care planning.  

 
Measures of success 
 

We will define a standard for, and achieve and maintain high levels of compliance with, completion of 
MUST assessments in line with policy and be able to demonstrate learning from feedback and incidents, 
and progress towards compliance with the NHS Food and Drink Strategy.  
 

 

Clinical Effectiveness 
Quality Strategy Aims / Retained Priorities from 2023/24 – Work ongoing: 
 

Reducing waiting times in A&E: Time to assess, Time to treat, Total time in the 
department 
 

Why we chose this priority   
 
This choice was made in line with national priorities for improving urgent and emergency care. Levels of 
demand on our A&E services continue to be high, and capacity constraints relating to the size of our 
department at UHND and our bed base, have, over the past 12 months meant that we have experienced 
some delays providing treatment and / or in admitting patients. The previous pressure points remain, and 
even more acutely pressurised, despite the significant improvements made in 2023/24.  

 
Goals 
 
Our goals include further optimisation of clinical pathways, the continued movement towards a seven-
day clinical service, and relocation and colocation of all of our Same Day Emergency Care services and 
robust 24/7 UTC provision to release pressure in the A&E department at UHND during 2024/25. 
 
With the support of the North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Board, we will seek to move 
forward with our plans for a new Emergency Care Centre at UHND.  
 

Page 53



 

Page 44 of 91 

 

We will also seek to expand and optimise medical staffing for our A&E departments and to enhance our 
nursing staffing is in line national safe nursing care standards.  

 
How will we do this? 
 
We will: 

 Continue to recruit for seven day services; 

 Increase the Trust’s bed base in line with the planning guidance; 

 Implement full collocated Same Day Emergency Care; 

 Seek funding for, and progress work towards, a new Emergency Care Centre at UHND; 

 Explore the introduction of a sustainable Rapid Assessment and Treatment Model in both A&E 
Departments; 

 Explore an extension of our See and Treat facilities overnight; 

 Look to increase the level pharmacy support to our A&E Departments; and 

 Roll out end to end improvements in patient flow in line with good practice imported from across 
the NHS.  

 
Measures of success 
 
These will comprise: 

 Improvements in waiting times with respect to assessment, treatment and the total time in the 
department when measured against national performance targets; 

o Time to initial assessment – the percentage of patients within 15 minutes; 
o Time to treatment – less than 60 minutes; 
o The number, and percentage, of patients spending more than 12 hours in A&E; 
o The average time spent in A&E for admitted and non-admitted patients; 
o 12 hour waits for beds; 
o Treatment and / or admission within 4 hours; and 
o Ambulance handover times under 15 minutes. 

 
 
At the present time we expect to include priorities relating to cancer service and elderly care, including 

acting on any third party recommendations but are still in dialogue with the teams on the precise actions 

and measures.   

Page 54



 

Page 45 of 91 

 

Part 2C Statements of Assurance from the Board 
 

Review of Services  
 

Review of the performance of the Trust’s services is undertaken by the Trust Board and its Operational 
Performance and Assurance Committee (OPAC). Both receive a monthly Integrated Quality and 
Performance Report (IQPR) covering performance against the key national and local standards and 
measures. This process has continued throughout the year.  
 
Each of the Trust’s five Care Groups’ operational performance is reviewed monthly with the Executive 
Director of Operations, the Director of Quality, the Deputy Director of Operations and the Head of 
Planning and Performance.  
 
Externally, the Trust has continued to work closely with: 
 

 Other regional Trusts, including participation in regional hub planning. 

 The independent sector, which has provided some elective and diagnostic activity. 

 Partners in the ICB and Local A&E Delivery Board (LADB) 
 

 

Participation in Clinical Audit  
 

Background 
 

Clinical Audit is a quality improvement (QI) cycle (Figure 1) that seeks to improve patient care and 
outcomes through a systematic review of care against explicit criteria. The results are used to identify 
opportunities for improvement and to agree the specific actions or changes required. Further audits 
determine the efficacy of the changes and support continuous improvement. In short:  
 

 

 
 

 

Clinical audit is embedded within the operating rhythm of the Trust and is included as a substantive item 
on the agenda in monthly Care Group Governance meetings and bi-monthly reports to the Clinical 
Effectiveness Committee. Assurance is provided to the Board through the Integrated Quality and 
Assurance Committee which reviews quarterly reports from the Clinical Audit Team.  
 
All National Audit reports are reviewed by the Lead Clinician and the Clinical Audit Team, a specific 
action plan is developed for each audit and approved by both the Speciality and Care Group Clinical 
Audit Leads. Action plans are monitored by the Clinical Audit team and the Care Group Governance 
Facilitators.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



 

Page 46 of 91 

 

Participation in Clinical Audit 
 

During 2023/2024 49 national clinical 
audits and 4 national confidential enquiry 
covered NHS services that County 
Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust provides.   
 
During 2023/2024 County Durham & 
Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 
participated in 90 % of national clinical 
audits and 100 % of national confidential 
enquiries of which it was eligible to 
participate in. 
 
The reports of 11 National Clinical 
Audits and 35 Local Clinical Audits 
were reviewed by the provider in 2024/25 
and County Durham & Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust intends to take the 
following actions to improve the quality of 
healthcare provided: 
 
Actions typically include: education and training of staff; review of patient pathways; the alignment of 
local processes to national guidelines; changes to current systems and processes; and the introduction 
of new systems and processes where necessary to support staff in delivering excellent patient care.  
 
For Quality Improvement (QI) programmes such as Clinical Audit to be effective they need to be 
embedded within the culture of the Trust, easily accessible and supported by senior leadership. The 
Clinical Audit Team is dedicated to promoting Clinical Audit as a QI tool, refining the audit process and 
supporting staff through engagement and access to training. In June 2023 the Trust published its new 
clinical audit strategy covering the development of the Trusts clinical audit programme until the end of 
2025/26.  
 
The strategy focuses on seven domains that build on one another to create an effective and efficient 
clinical audit programme and develop an open and honest culture throughout the Trust. The domains 
are. 

 

Education/Training  

- Providing resources and training to give staff the knowledge, skills 
and confidence to use clinical audit to benchmark performance and 
improve clinical quality. 

 

Reporting Accurate and Actionable Information 

- Improving access to audit data for staff, including ongoing and past 
audits.  

- Increasing visibility of audit reports, outcomes and improvements. 
- Reporting on what really matters. 

 

Action Plans 

- Development of smarter and sharper action plans.  
- Focusing on fewer higher quality actions that address what really 

matters. 
- Identifying and minimise risk, waste and inefficiencies. 

Page 56



 

Page 47 of 91 

 

 

Assurance 

- Providing robust assurance to internal and external stakeholders on 
standards of clinical practice 

- Supporting the development and delivery of the Trust’s clinical and 
quality strategies by fostering an open and honest culture, based on 
reliable, evidence-based assessment of our effectiveness. 

 

Communication & Engagement 

- Providing communications to staff updating them on clinical audit 
activity 

- Promoting clinical audit as an essential QI tool  
- Seeking staff feedback on the clinical audit process and refine 

 

Data Collection & Insights 

- Reducing the burden of data collection on staff using standard 
processes and digital technology 

- Developing tools to analyse clinical audit data to provide further 
insight into the Trusts performance 

 

New Ways of Working & Process Improvements 

- Refining the clinical audit process and systems, to remove blockers 
and reduce friction within the process 

- Driving continuous improvement and innovation in clinical practice 
and to both staff and patient experience 

The strategy champions the idea of clinical audit as a quality improvement process that provides 
valuable insight into the standard of care our patients receive, acting as a catalyst for change and 
encouraging us to consider how the Trust can do better for our patients and colleagues.   

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries in which County Durham & Darlington 
NHS Foundation Trust was eligible to participate, participated in and for which data collection was 
completed during 2023/2024 are contained within the table below alongside the number of cases 
submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases required by the 
terms of that audit or enquiry:  

National Program Topic Participation % cases submitted 

Case Mix Programme (CMP) N/A ✔ 100% 

Elective Surgery (National 

PROMs Programme) 
N/A ✔ Ongoing 

Emergency Medicine QIPs 

Mental Health (Self-Harm) 

Year 1 
✘ Not applicable 

Assessing for cognitive 

impairment in older people 
✔ 100% 

Care of Older People Year 

1  
✘ Not applicable 

Falls and Fragility Fracture Audit 

Programme (FFFAP) 

National Audit of Inpatient 

Falls 
✔ 100% 

Page 57



 

Page 48 of 91 

 

National Program Topic Participation % cases submitted 

National Hip Fracture 

Database 
✔ 100% 

Fracture Liaison Service 

Database (FLS-DB) 
✔ 100% 

Gastro-intestinal Cancer Audit 

Programme (GICAP) 

National Bowel Cancer 

Audit 
✔ 100% 

National Oesophago-

Gastric Cancer Audit 

(NOGCA) 

✔ 100% 

LeDeR - learning from lives and 
deaths of people with a learning 
disability and autistic people  

N/A ✔ Ongoing 

Maternal, Newborn and Infant 
Clinical Outcome Review 
Programme (MBRRACE-UK) 

Maternal mortality 
surveillance and 
confidential enquiry  
(confidential enquiry 
includes morbidity data) 

✔ Ongoing 

Perinatal confidential 
enquiries 

✔ Ongoing 

Perinatal mortality 
surveillance 

✔ Ongoing 

Medical and Surgical Clinical 
Outcome Review Programme 

End of Life Care ✔ 31%1 

Juvenile idiopathic arthritis 
study: Clinician 
questionnaire 

✔ 0%1 

Endometriosis ✔ 18%1 

ICU Rehabilitation ✔ Ongoing 

National Adult Diabetes Audit 
(NDA) 

National Diabetes Foot 
Care Audit 

✔ Ongoing 

National Diabetes Inpatient 
Safety Audit (NDISA)  

✔ Ongoing 

National Core Diabetes 
Audit 

✔ Ongoing 

National Diabetes in 
Pregnancy Audit 

✔ Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



 

Page 49 of 91 

 

National Program Topic Participation 
% cases 

submitted 

National Asthma and COPD 
Audit Programme (NACAP) 

Adult Asthma Secondary Care ✔ 100% 

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 
Secondary Care 

✔ 100% 

Paediatric Asthma Secondary Care ✔ 100% 

Pulmonary Rehabilitation Organisational and 
Clinical Audit 

✔ 100% 

National Audit of Breast Cancer 
in Older Patients (NABCOP) 

N/A ✔ 100% 

National Audit of Cardiac 
Rehabilitation 

N/A ✔ Ongoing 

National Audit of Care at the 
End of Life (NACEL) 

N/A ✔ 100% 

National Audit of Dementia 
Spotlight Audit for Memory Assessment 
Services 

✔ 100% 

National Bariatric Surgery 
Register 

N/A ✔ 100% 

National Cardiac Arrest Audit 
(NCAA) 

N/A ✔ 100% 

National Cardiac Audit 
Programme (NCAP) 

Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project 
(MINAP) 

✔ Ongoing 

National Audit of Cardiac Rhythm 
Management (CRM) 

✔ Ongoing 

National Heart Failure Audit ✔ Ongoing 

National Child Mortality 
Database 

N/A ✔ 100% 

National Early Inflammatory 
Arthritis Audit (NEIAA) 

N/A ✘ N/A 

National Emergency 
Laparotomy Audit (NELA) 

N/A ✔ Ongoing 

National Joint Registry 

10 work-streams that all report within Annual 
report: Primary hip, knee, shoulder, elbow 
and ankle replacement, Revision hip, knee, 
shoulder, elbow and ankle replacement. 

✔ 100% 

National Lung Cancer Audit N/A ✔ 

Utilises 
existing 
datasets 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59



 

Page 50 of 91 

 

National Program Topic Participation 
% cases 

submitted 

National Maternity and Perinatal 
Audit (NMPA) 

N/A ✔ 100% 

National Neonatal Audit 
Programme (NNAP) 

N/A ✔ Ongoing 

National Obesity Audit N/A ✔ 

Utilises 
existing 
datasets 

Sentinel Stroke National Audit 
Programme (SSNAP) 

N/A ✔ 100% 

Serious Hazards of Transfusion 
(SHOT): UK National 
haemovigilance scheme 

N/A ✔ 100% 

Society for Acute Medicine 
Benchmarking Audit (SAMBA) 

N/A ✔ 100% 

Trauma Audit & Research 
Network (TARN) 

N/A ✔ 100%2 

National Ophthalmology (NOD) 

Age-related Macular Degeneration Audit 
(AMD) 

✔ 100% 

Adult Cataract Surgery  ✔ 100% 

Epilepsy 12 - National Audit of 
Seizures and Epilepsies for 
Children and Young People 

Epilepsy12 has separate work-streams/data 
collection for: Clinical Audit, Organisational 
Audit 

✔ 100% 

Perioperative Quality 
Improvement Programme 
(PQIP) 

N/A ✘ N/A 

Inflammatory Bowel Disease 
Audit 

N/A ✘ N/A   

National Paediatric Diabetes 
Audit (NPDA) 

N/A ✔ 100% 

Epilepsy 12 - National Audit of 
Seizures and Epilepsies for 
Children and Young People 

Epilepsy12 has separate work-streams/data 
collection for: Clinical Audit, Organisational 
Audit 

✔ 100% 

 

1 – Case notes were supplied for review where available.   
2 – The national audit provider ended support due to IT security issues. This audit will begin 
again in 2024/2025 under a new provider.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



 

Page 51 of 91 

 

National Audits Not Applicable to County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

National Program Topic 

Breast and Cosmetic Implant Registry N/A 

National Audit of Cardiovascular  

Disease Prevention (Primary Care) 
N/A 

Cleft Registry and Audit NEtwork (CRANE) N/A 

Medical and Surgical Clinical Outcome Review 
Programme 

Prison Healthcare Study 

National Cardiac Audit Programme (NCAP) National Adult Cardiac Surgery Audit 

Mental Health Clinical Outcome Review 
Programme 

Real-time surveillance of patient suicide 

Suicide (and homicide) by people under mental health care 

Suicide by middle-aged men (Topic closed 2022/22) 

Muscle Invasive Bladder Cancer at 
Transurethral Resection of Bladder Audit 
(MITRE)  

Muscle Invasive Bladder Cancer at Transurethral REsection of 
Bladder Audit (MITRE) 

National Audit of Pulmonary Hypertension N/A 

National Clinical Audit of Psychosis (NCAP) N/A 

National Prostate Cancer Audit (NPCA) N/A 

National Vascular Registry N/A 

Neurosurgical National Audit Programme N/A 

Out of hospital cardiac outcomes (OHCAO) N/A 

Paediatric Intensive Care Audit Network 
(PICANet) 

N/A 

Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health 

Prescribing for depression in adult mental health services 

Prescribing for substance misuse: alcohol detoxification in 
adult mental health inpatient services 

Prescribing of antipsychotic medication in adult mental health 
services, including high dose, combined and PRN 

Use of clozapine 

Renal Audits 
National Acute Kidney Injury Audit 

UK Renal Registry Chronic Kidney Disease Audit 

UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry N/A 

National Cardiac Audit Programme (NCAP) 

National Audit of Percutaneous Coronary Interventions (PCI) 
(Coronary Angioplasty) 

National Congenital Heart Disease Audit  (NCHDA) 

 

Participation in Clinical Research 
 

Our research department has maintained a robust portfolio over the past year, with 74 ongoing studies 
across four sites: DMH, UHND, BAH, and CLS, covering a wide spectrum of medical disciplines. These 
efforts span diverse areas including Anaesthesia, Perioperative Medicine, Cancer, Cardiovascular 
Disease, Children's Health, Critical Care, Dermatology, Diabetes, and Ear, Nose, and Throat specialties. 
 
We're proud to have achieved recognition as the second-highest acute commercial recruiter regionally, 
underscoring our commitment to research excellence. Notable achievements include being the top 

Page 61



 

Page 52 of 91 

 

recruiter regionally in significant studies such as MCM5 in Postmenopausal Bleeding Patients and 
several others. 
 
Active engagement within the Trust and with the local community has been a priority, with initiatives 
including participation in Trust recruitment days and networking events with academic institutions and 
health providers. We're exploring international collaborations to enhance research capabilities and 
ensure a robust pipeline of new studies. 
 
Efforts led by R&I Director Dr Julie Cox have expanded patient and carer involvement, promoting a 
patient-centric approach. Plans are underway to reintroduce the annual report and disseminate research 
findings effectively. Strategic partnerships with Durham University have been established to leverage 
academic resources for patient care. 
 
Recruitment remains incresing in the areas highlighted Green whil decline is shown in Red. An overall 
increase of nearly 30%. Reproductive Health has been one of our stronger recruiting areas with 
Peadiatrics and GI following behind. 
 

Goals agreed with commissioners  
 

County Durham and Darlington income in 2023/24 was not conditional on achieving quality improvement 
and innovation goals through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework 
[Wording to be confirmed] 
 

Care Quality Commission Registration  
 

County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with the Care Quality 
Commission; the Trust’s current registration status is ‘registered without conditions.   
 
The Care Quality Commission issued a Section 29A Warning Notice following its inspection of the safe 
and well-led key questions for our acute maternity services in March 2023, requiring the Trust to take 
action to implement significant improvements in maternity services by 7th September 2023. The notice 
covered eight areas: 
 

 Staffing levels; 

 Delays in induction of labour; 

 Governance, including learning from incidents; 

 Timely clinical audit and use of audit and benchmarking data; 

 Triage of women and birthing people attending our Pregnancy Assessment Units;  

 Maternal and neonatal observations; 

 Foetal heart monitoring; and  

 Antenatal and new-born screening. 
 
We took the necessary actions by the deadline, reporting each month to our CQC relationship 
management team. The final inspection report included some further actions under requirements notices 
which were also completed. CQC undertook a re-inspection, covering the safe and well-led key 
questions for maternity services on both acute sites in January 2024, which included seeking evidence 
that we had implemented the actions. The inspection confirmed that the actions required within the 
Warning Notice had been taken and improvements made. No further warning notice has been issued 
and no formal enforcement action is being taken.  
 
The final reports from the January 2024 inspection – issued in March 2024 - noted, however, that further 
work was needed to embed improvements in triage, staffing, governance and mandatory training and 
also identified three further ‘Must Do’ actions concerning safe storage of medicines, controlled drug 
registers and checks on equipment and the clinical environment. The report included requirements 
notices in respect of these actions. In April 2024, we submitted a formal action plan to CQC and have 
begun to implement these further actions.   
 
 

Page 62



 

Page 53 of 91 

 

Care Quality Commission Ratings  
 
The last full inspection of the Trust took place between June 2019 and September 2019, with the final 
report being issued in December 2019. Subsequently, as outlined above and on page 18 of this report, 
CQC undertook an inspection of the maternity services at UHND and DMH on our acute sites – as part 
of the national maternity services inspection programme – in March 2023 and a further, follow-up 
inspection in January 2024.  

Following the above inspections, overall ratings for the Trust by Domain are set out below:  
 

Are services safe? Requires Improvement (RI) 

Are services effective? Good 

Are services caring? Good 

Are services responsive? Good 

Are services well-led? Good  

Overall rating for quality Good 

 

Use of Resources Assessment Good 

 
Ratings grids for each Hospital / Community Services are as follows: 
 

Darlington Memorial Hospital (DMH) 
 
All services are rated “Good”, except End of Life care which is rated Outstanding and Maternity, which is 
rated Requires Improvement.  
 

 
 

Page 63



 

Page 54 of 91 

 

University Hospital North Durham (UHND) 
 
All services are rated Good overall, except for End of Life Care (Outstanding) and both Maternity 
Services and Urgent and Emergency Care (both rated Requires Improvement).   
 
Actions required by CQC following the 2015 inspection for the Safe Domain for Critical Care, and 
following the 2018 inspection for the Effective Domain for Medicine, have been fully implemented; 
however, CQC do not review ratings until services are formally re-inspected.  
 

 
 

Community Services 
 
All services are rated Good overall. Actions agreed with CQC following the 2015 inspection have been 
fully implemented; however, ratings are not reviewed until services are formally re-inspected.  
 

Page 64



 

Page 55 of 91 

 

 
 

CQC Maternity Services Inspection  
 
The scope, findings and actions arising from this inspection are summarised in the section on our CQC 
registration on page 53 and the section on maternity services on page 19.  
 

Data Quality  
 

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust submitted records during 2023/24 to the 
Secondary Uses service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in the latest 
published data. 
 
The percentage of records in the published data: 
 

 which included the patient’s valid NHS number was: 
              99.8% for Admitted Patient Care; 
              99.4% for Outpatient Care; and 
              99.1% for Accident and Emergency Care. 
 

 which included the patient’s valid General Medical Practice Code was: 
             99.9% for Admitted Patient Care; 
             100% for Outpatient Care; and 
             99.7% for Accident and Emergency Care. 

 
Data Security and Protection Toolkit Annual Return 
 

The Trust can report that, in line with NHS England compliance requirements it will be aiming to publish 
its version 6, 2023/24, Data Security and Protection Toolkit annual return, on the 30th June 2024. We are 
currently working towards ‘standards met’ however, this version is not a ‘like for like comparison’ and at 
present the Trust is gathering evidence for audit April 2024 so cannot give any indication what the final 
outcome will be. 
 
For the year 2022/23 the Trust submitted ‘standards met’. 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 

Page 56 of 91 

 

Clinical Coding Error Rate  
 

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust was not subject to the Payment by Results 
clinical coding audit during 2023/24 by the Audit Commission. 
 

Learning from Deaths  
 
During 2023/2024, 2,102 patients died in the Trust, a quarterly breakdown is provided below:  
 

 517 in the first quarter; 

 488 in the second quarter; 

 511 in the third quarter; and 

 586 in the fourth quarter. 
 
By 31 March 2023, 390 case record reviews and eight investigations had been carried out in relation to 
the deaths included above. [numbers and periods to be checked as not aligned] 
 
In July 2023 we made the transition to implement the national patient safety investigation framework.  
Therefore the term investigation included here makes reference to Level 1 Patient Safety Incident 
Investigations only or a mortality review being undertaken.   
 
In 2023-24 seven deaths were subjected to both a case record review and an investigation. The number 
of deaths in each quarter for which a case record review or an investigation was carried out was: 

 217 in the first quarter;  

 157 in the second quarter; 

 133 in the third quarter; and 

 71 in the fourth quarter. 
 

Three (0.2%) of the patient deaths during the reporting period were judged to be more likely than not to 
have been due to problems in the care provided to the patient. In relation to each quarter, this consisted 
of: 

 1 representing 0.2 % for the first quarter; 

 1 representing 0.2%% for the second quarter; 

 0 representing 0% for the third quarter; and 

 1 representing 0.2 % for the fourth quarter. 
 

These numbers have been generated using the PRISM 2 mortality review methodology or through 
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust’s STEIS Reporting Process which is where Level 
1 investigations are reported. 
 
The key learning themes identified from the reviews completed in 2023/24 were: recognition of dying; 
patient hydration; long waits in the emergency departments and timely recognition of sepsis. Recognition 
of the deteriorating patient has been identified largely through unexpected death reviews. This has been 
a focused area for improvement in 2023-24 and we are contributing to the national CQUIN audit in this 
area.  The results demonstrated that we are within the expected threshold.  We will continue to be part of 
the CQUIN for the next 12 months. 
 
Further work has been focused on escalation and observation audits and the corporate nursing teams 
have been completing education daily on this subject. 
 
Our response to learning from incidents and patient safety investigations in 2023/24 forms part of 
comprehensive SMART action plans monitored through the Trust’s governance processes.    
 
Eight deaths, representing 0.3% of the deaths before the reporting period, were judged to be more likely 
than not to have been due to the problems in the care provided to the patient. These numbers have 
been estimated using the PRISM 2 mortality review methodology or through County Durham and 
Darlington NHS Foundation Trust Patient Safety Incident Investigation Process. 
 

Page 66



 

Page 57 of 91 

 

 

Staff who ‘Speak Up’ (Including Whistle-blowers)  
 
The Trust has a number of channels through which staff can speak up, and raise concerns regarding 
quality of care, bullying, harassment and patient safety, in particular: 
 

 The Trust has a ‘Raising Concerns’ policy which is aligned to the National Freedom to Speak Up 
Strategy. The policy encourages staff to raise and resolve concerns through the management 
chain, where appropriate and where they feel comfortable in doing so.  

 Where concerns are serious and staff consider that they would be unable to use the 
management chain, they can raise concerns formally under the policy and / or raise matters 
through the Trust’s Freedom to Speak Up Guardian and Freedom to Speak Up Champions. Any 
referrals made formally to the Guardian / Champions are logged and overseen by the Guardian 
Cases raised through Human Resources are logged and overseen through a case management 
system. In either case, providing feedback to staff and ensuring that staff do not suffer any 
detriment are cornerstones of the Trust’s approach.  

 Staff can raise concerns around safety through the incident management system, Ulysses, for 
investigation and action in line with the defined protocols. Reports can be made anonymously 
where staff wish to do so.  Serious reports are routed to Trust senior managers for follow up, and 
the Associate Director of Nursing (Patient Safety) monitors reports to identify serious matters or 
themes for follow up work to be agreed with the Medical and Nursing Directors.  

 
The Trust’s Freedom to Speak Up Guardian is a registered nurse who has previously worked in senior 
nursing management roles. Her role has been publicised through the Trust’s intranet site, screensavers, 
staff bulletins, posters and staff meetings and also through wider staff engagement events using 
Facebook. The Guardian has undertaken a wide-ranging programme of visits to wards and departments.   
 
The Trust promotes the National Guardian’s Office’s training modules “Speak Up”, “Listen Up” and 
“Follow Up” to all staff and managers respectively, through its e-learning platform and monitors uptake.  
 
The FTSUG has recently participated in a Regional Network Peer Review, coordinated by the NENC 
ICB, which has involved both case reviews and a site visit by the ICB’s Freedom to Speak Up Guardian. 
The report of the peer review findings, including any areas for improvement, is awaited.  
 
The FTSUG provides verbal and written reports to both the Executive Board and CDDFT Group Audit 
Committee and also prepares progress reports in respect of her personal objectives as outlined in her 
yearly appraisal. There is an expectation that the organisation will complete a Reflection and Planning 
Tool every 2 years and conversely the Guardian holds the organisation to account by seeking updates 
and progress reports from the Board. The Board completed the self-reflection tool early in 2023 and 
considered it alongside the Guardian’s own gap analysis. The resulting actions were captured in a 
Freedom to Speak Up Strategy entitled “Safe Conversations for Better Care – For Everyone, Everyday”.  

 
Further important developments during the year:  

 The Board sanctioned an increase in the Guardian’s capacity to three days per week and the 
number of FSTU Champions has now increased to 10 covering a number of sites.  

 The Guardian has continued her programme of proactive ‘meet and greet’ visits to clinical areas 
and teams to publicise her role and allow staff to ‘put a face to a name’. She has worked closely 
with Workforce Experience and regularly contributed to nursing induction and junior doctor 
teaching sessions. She has undertaken numerous visits to acute settings and the community 
hospitals. The growth in FTSU Champions testifies to the impact of this work.  

 The Guardian has continued to develop the content of her Board Reports to include more 
information on trend analysis, themes, staff groups and the professional levels of those raising 
concerns.  

 She has worked with Communications on particular campaigns and materials to publicise her 
role, including the distribution of further posters, straplines and screensavers  

 We developed easy-read versions of both the Freedom to Speak Up Policy, and the above 
strategy, both of which were issued to all staff via the staff bulletin. 

Page 67



 

Page 58 of 91 

 

 The Guardian has been an active member of the Regional FTSU Guardians’ network, which has 
expanded to include North Yorkshire and Humberside giving rise to greater opportunities to share 
and learn from peers and receives good support from her colleagues. She has identified and 
implemented good practice to import from other providers through this process.  

 The Guardian has a dedicated page on the staff intranet, the content of which continues to be 
refreshed and developed.   

Page 68



 

Page 59 of 91 

 

Reporting against core indicators  
 

Domain 1 – Preventing people from dying prematurely 

SHMI and Palliative Care Coding 
 

 
 

Data source: NHS Digital 

 
The County Durham and Darlington NHS Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: this data is regularly reviewed by the Trust’s Mortality Reduction Committee 
 
The County Durham and Darlington NHS Trust has commissioned a further external review of our 
learning from deaths process, to improve the indicator and so the quality of services by continuing to 
ensure that mortality remains a strong focus for the Trust.  

 
As the Trust is an outlier for SHMI it has already taken external advice from the North East Quality 
Observatory, and a range of further work to enable it to determine whether there is any underlying issue 
with the quality of care. These reviews have identified that depth and completeness of coding, which has 
been affected by both capacity constraints in our clinical coding team and the completeness of 
information captured in patient records, is considered to be a key contributory factor.  
 
All other sources of assurance are positive: 
 

 The Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio is within statistical limits; 

 The Trust does more learning from deaths reviews than most others in the region and does not 
find widespread issues with the quality of care (less than 1% of reviews in 2022/23 found care to 
be poor). 

 The Trust uses a tool known as the Copeland’ Risk Adjusted Barometer (CRAB) to assess 
mortality and risk factors for both surgery and medicine. This data shows surgical mortality to be 
well within expectations and also shows a long-term improvement in medical care.  

 There have been no significant issues flagged by the Medical Examiner Service, which examines 
all deaths not requiring referral to the Coroner in our acute hospitals.    

Page 69



 

Page 60 of 91 

 

Percentage of deaths with palliative care coded 
 

 
 
Data source: NHS Digital 

 
The County Durham and Darlington NHS Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: this data is regularly reviewed at the Trust End of Life Steering Group 
 
The County Durham and Darlington NHS Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the 
percentage and so the quality of services by: continuing to work with stakeholders to develop and 
implement  the five year palliative care strategy which was delayed due to pandemic priorities; 
continuing our focus on the recognition of dying in hospital so that people can be identified at an early 
stage of the process and improve the care and support to them and their families; exploring solutions to 
the relative lack of single rooms (which is good in DMH (88%) but remains more of a challenge at 
Durham) and exploring changes to documentation within the new Electronic Patient Record (EPR).  

 
 
 

 
 

 
   
 

  

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

A
p

r 
1

4
 –

M
ar

 1
5

Ju
l 1

4
 –

Ju
n

 1
5

O
ct

1
4

 –
Se

p
 1

5

Ja
n

 1
5

 -
 D

e
c 

1
5

A
p

r 
1

5
 -

 M
ar

 1
6

Ju
l 1

5
 -

 J
u

n
 1

6

O
ct

 1
5

 -
 S

ep
 1

6

Ja
n

 1
6

 -
 D

e
c 

1
6

A
p

r 
1

6
 -

 M
ar

 1
7

Ju
l 1

6
 -

 J
u

n
 1

7

O
ct

 1
6

 -
 S

ep
 1

7

Ja
n

1
7

-D
e

c1
7

A
p

r1
7

-M
ar

1
8

Ju
l1

7
-J

u
n

1
8

O
ct

1
7

-S
ep

1
8

Ja
n

1
8

-D
e

c1
8

A
p

r1
8

-M
ar

1
9

Ju
l1

8
-J

u
n

1
9

O
ct

1
8

-S
ep

1
9

Ja
n

1
9

-D
e

c1
9

A
p

r1
9

-M
ar

2
0

Ju
l1

9
-J

u
n

2
0

O
ct

1
9

-S
ep

2
0

Ja
n

2
0

-D
e

c2
0

A
p

r2
0

-M
ar

2
1

Ju
l2

0
-J

u
n

2
1

O
ct

2
0

-S
ep

2
1

Ja
n

2
1

-D
e

c2
1

A
p

r2
1

-M
ar

2
2

Ju
l2

1
-J

u
n

2
2

O
ct

2
1

-S
ep

2
2

Ja
n

2
2

-D
e

c2
2

A
p

r2
2

-M
ar

2
3

Ju
l2

2
-J

u
n

2
3

O
ct

2
2

-S
ep

2
3

% of patient deaths with palliative care coded

CDDFT Highest - National Lowest - National

Page 70



 

Page 61 of 91 

 

Domain 3 – Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury 
 

Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMS)  
 

 
 
 

 

0

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Patient Reported Outcome Measures
Hip Replacement

CDDFT PROM Hip Replacement Primary National Average Highest - National Lowest - National

0

0.05

0.1

0.15

0.2

0.25

0.3

0.35

0.4

0.45

0.5

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Patient Reported Outcomes
Knee Replacement

CDDFT PROM Knee Replacement Primary National Average Highest - National Lowest - National

Page 71



 

Page 62 of 91 

 

 

Data source: NHS Digital 

 
The charts above are those submitted in our previous Quality Accounts, NHS Digital PROMS advise that; 
‘in 2021 significant changes were made to the processing of Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) data and 
its associated data fields which are used to link the PROMs-HES data. Redevelopment of an update 
linkage process between these data are still outstanding with no definitive date for completion this present 
time. This has unfortunately resulted in a pause in the current publication reporting series for PROMS at 
this time. We will endeavour to update this linkage process and resume publication of this series as soon 
as we are able but unfortunately are unable to provide a timeframe for this. We will provide further updates 
as soon as this is known.’  
 
We have implemented a scheme to support our elective recovery programme which has helped increase 
the number of theatre lists which can be run for elective orthopaedic surgery. In addition and insources 
model of service was introduced to further support elective recovery. An obvious benefit of this will be an 
expected increase in PROMS questionnaires completion. 
 
Orthopaedics’ elective beds remain available at Darlington and Durham as well as the full elective ward 
at Bishop Auckland. As reported in last year’s Quality Accounts, we have seen a reduction in trained 
Orthopaedics theatre staff which negatively impacts available Theatre time.  
 
The team has in addition to the national picture shown above, introduced an internal process for PROMS 
compliance. Patients are provided with a PROMS questionnaire upon admission to the Day Surgery Unit 
and returned to staff upon completion, and prior to discharge. Review of PROMS data is undertaken at 
Directorate Meetings 
 

Patients re-admitted to a hospital within 28 days of being discharged  
 

 
Timely and safe discharges or transfers of care remain a priority for CDDFT.  
 

  
 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Emergency re-admission within 28 days of discharge 
(age 0-15)

CDDFT        Age 0-15 years Highest - National Lowest - National

Page 72



 

Page 63 of 91 

 

  
 
 
There remains a lower re-admission rate amongst 0-15 year olds.  
  
This data is collated and submitted as per national guidelines and is regularly reviewed.  
 
The Trust has continued to implement Discharge Guidance via an internal Discharge Working Group, 
reporting ultimately to the Local A&E Delivery Board, and through the Trust’s Next Step Home initiative: 
 
A number of actions have been taken in support of this measure: 
 

 Introduction of a community-based urgent crisis response service. Patients, over 90% of the time, 
receive a response within two hours to support them at home. Work is underway to develop quality 
markers for this service.  

 Increased bed capacity in all community hospitals and in ‘time to think’ beds for those patients who 
are not quite ready to go home, but do not require an acute bed. Some may need an additional period 
of rehabilitation. 

 Primary Care Colleagues have access to clinical Advice and Guidance, which enables them to access 
consultant advice without the need for a re-admission or an out-patient appointment.  

 All rapid access services providing alternatives to admission have been reviewed and promoted to 
partners. 

 
 

  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Emergency re-admission within 28 days of discharge 
( age 16 and over)

CDDFT        Age 16 + years Highest - National Lowest - National

Page 73



 

Page 64 of 91 

 

Domain 4 – Ensuring people have a positive experience of care  
 

Responsiveness to the personal needs of patients 
 
This is based on the average score of five domains from the National Inpatient Survey, which measures 

the experiences of people admitted to NHS Hospitals 

 
 
Data source: NHS Digital 

 
The charts above are those submitted in our previous Quality Accounts, NHS outcomes Framework (for 
the responiveness of patietns needs) advises us; ‘following the merger of NHS Digital and NHS England 
on 1st February 2023 we are revieing the future presentation of the NHS Outcomes Framework 
indicators. As part of this review, the annual publication which was due to be released in March 2023 
has been delayed. Further announcemnents about this dataset will be made (on this page) in due 
course.’ 
 
The County Durham and Darlington NHS Trust continues to take the following actions to improve the 
indicator and so the quality of services by: analysing patient feedback, particularly from our own surveys, 
for the five key questions underpinning this indicator, triangulating it with other sources of patient 
experience feedback and sharing it with wards and teams to support local improvement work.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Responsiveness to Personal Needs

CDDFT National Average Highest - National Lowest - National

Page 74



 

Page 65 of 91 

 

Percentage of Staff who would recommend the provider to friends and family  
 

 
 
Data source: NHS Staff Survey 2023 

 
The County Durham and Darlington NHS Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: this data taken directly from the NHS Staff Survey. 
 
The Trust’s weighted score for the percentage of ‘Staff recommending the organisation as a place for 
family and friends to receive treatment’ from NHS Staff Survey for the last three years is shown below. 
The national average score is also shown.  
 
We note that the question has been amended slightly for the 2023 staff survey and now asks ‘If a friend 
or relative needed treatment I would be happy with the standard of care provided by this organisation’, 
however the tracking used by the survey remains consistent year on year. It is also of note that the score 
from staff does not match the patient Friends and Family Test results for the Trust which typically shown 
between 96% and 98% of patients having a positive experience whilst in our care.  
 

Question 

2023 2022 2021 
Trust Improvement / 

Deterioration Trust 
National 
Average 

Trust 
National 
Average 

Trust 
National 
Average 

Q25d. If a friend 
or relative 
needed 

treatment I would 
be happy with 
the standard of 

care provided by 
this organisation 

53.70% 63.30% 51.70% 61.90% 59.60% 66.90% 

The Trust score has 
seen an improvement 
compared to 2022, but 
remains lower than 
2021. The Trust reflects 
the national trend, 
showing improvement 
for 2023 following a 
period of deterioration 
nationally 2020-2021. 

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 22/23 23/24

Percentage of staff that would recommend the trust to their family 
and friends as a provider of care 

CDDFT National Average Highest - National Lowest - National

Page 75



 

Page 66 of 91 

 

County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust continues to take the following actions to improve 
staff experience and the quality of its services, thereby improving results: 
 

 Piloting a new approach to staff engagement which links both the workforce and the patient 
experience. There is good evidence that staff morale and engagement is enhanced by positive 
patient feedback and by implementing improvements in patient care in response to feedback. 
Learning from others in the region, we will collect patient feedback for a number of wards and 
share it with ward-based teams to support engagement and empower them to make change. The 
approach will be evaluated and, if successful, will be rolled out across the rest of the Trust. We 
have already refreshed our Friends and Family Test results posters and we are displaying them 
prominently in staff areas on our wards.  

 Developing a ward quality dashboard, so that teams can celebrate success and improvement. 
We know from the staff survey undertaken in developing the quality strategy that staff felt they 
needed more information on how they are doing.  

 Equipping local managers with support from both Workforce Experience and Patient Experience, 
and through skills development courses, such as our Engaging Managers course, to elicit 
feedback from staff on local issues and areas for improvement. 

 Sharing work taking place as part of our Quality Matters strategy, resulting improvements in care 
and celebrating individual and Trust success.  

 

 
  

Page 76



 

Page 67 of 91 

 

Domain 5 – Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them 
from avoidable harm. 
 

Percentage of patients that were admitted to hospital who were risk assessed for venous 
thromboembolism.   
 

 
Data source: NHS Digital.  

 
The County Durham and Darlington NHS Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: the Trust has continued to monitor this data internally and performance was in line with 
previous years. Nationally data collection was suspended from 2020/21 therefore there is no 
benchmarking (lowest and highest) in the chart above. 
 
Since October 2022 VTE assessment is documented within the electronic patient record. We continue 
with our priority of ensuring that clinical teams at County Durham and Darlington NHS Trust are 
completing this assessment correctly and to establish formal reporting metrics.  Ongoing compliance 
monitoring to ensure that current performance is maintained, and that NICE guidelines are met, and to 
improve the quality of service takes place through our clinical governance structures and each service is 
monitored against an improvement trajectory through their monthly Quality and Performance Review 
meeting with the Executive Director of Operations and Director of Quality.  
 

  

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Percentage of patients that were admitted to hospital who were risk 
assessed for venous thromboembolism

CDDFT Highest - National Lowest - National

Page 77



 

Page 68 of 91 

 

Rate per 100,000 bed days of trust apportioned C. Difficile infection that have occurred within 
the Trust amongst patients aged 2 or over 
 

 
 
Data source: NHS Digital 

 
The County Durham and Darlington NHS Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: the Trust monitors this data regularly via its Infection Control and Executive Quality 
Committees.  Despite a significant increase in the number of C-Diff cases in the past two years, the 
national trend has been similar and the Trust remains below the national average. The Trust’s nationally 
set threshold was 50 cases; however the Trust reported 78 cases in the year. The increasing trend in C-
Diff is also replicated in the region. 
 
The County Durham and Darlington NHS Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the 
indicator and so the quality of services by:  

 Focusing on early recognition of suspected / infective diarrhoea and appropriate patient 
management. 

 Continuing with our Antimicrobial stewardship programme. 

 Undertaking a rapid review of all healthcare associated C-Diff cases collaboratively with the 
clinical teams for timely review of best practice and any lessons learnt for action as appropriate.  

 Holding weekly multi-disciplinary C-Diff meetings for complex C-Diff cases. 

 Sharing learning in a timely manner to drive improvement. 

 Monitoring of cleanliness standards. 
 

 
  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Rate per 100,000 bed days of cases of C. Difficile infection (patients 
age 2 and over)

CDDFT National Average Highest - National Lowest - National

Page 78



 

Page 69 of 91 

 

Patient Safety Incidents and the percentage that resulted in severe harm or death. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

40000

45000

50000

55000

Apr 20 - Mar 21 Apr 21 - Mar 22

Number of Patient Safety Incidents

CDDFT Highest - National Lowest - National National Average

0

50

100

150

200

250

Apr 20 - Mar 21 Apr 21 - Mar 22

Rate of Patient Safety Incidents per 1000 Bed Days

CDDFT Highest - National Lowest - National National Average

Page 79



 

Page 70 of 91 

 

 
 

 

Data source: National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS). 

 
The County Durham and Darlington NHS Trust considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: the data is validated by the Patient Safety Team and agreed at Safety Committee and at 
Executive level before it is uploaded to NRLS. 
 
Since April 2020, NRLS has moved to annual rather than six monthly reporting. As a result, unlike 
previous years, only the previous two years has been presented in the charts above to ensure 
appropriate data comparison. In addition, due to the national move from NRLS to Learn from Patient 
Safety Event Service (LFPSE) in mid-2023, some trusts that have migrated to the new system may not 
be included in the dataset which may impact the national figures. 
 
The County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve 
the indicator: 

 Encouraging reporting of no harm and low harm incidents and near misses among staff during, 
resulting in an increase in reporting.  

 Implementing our bespoke Patient Safety Strategy – Patient Safety Matters - which builds on the 
principles in Patient Safety Incident Reporting Framework. 

 

Friends and Family Test and other forms of patient feedback and engagement 
 
Friends and Family Test 
The Friends and Family Test has undertaken throughout 2023/24 and improvements to how we capture 
feedback from our patients and how we use this data / information to drive service improvement. 
 
There are now over 200 areas each with personalised feedback cards which are handed to patients 
when they visit.  Feedback cards are collated and recorded by the Patient Experience Team who have 
seen a significant increase in the amount of responses compared to 2022/23. A further, significant, 
increase has also been noted for April 2024 as shown in the chart below. 
 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Apr 20 - Mar 21 Apr 21 - Mar 22

Number of Patient Safety Incidents that Resulted in Severe 
Harm or Death

CDDFT Highest - National Lowest - National National Average

Page 80



 

Page 71 of 91 

 

 
 

 
Each month Wards and Departments receive both quantitative and qualitative feedback in the form of a 
poster to be displayed on their noticeboards to patients and staff.  The posters promote the, overall, 
positive experience of patients together with a sample of compliments.  
 
Friend and Family Easy read 
We also introduced an easy read Friends and Family Test card which is offered to our Patients with 
learning disabilities support by our Learning Disabilities Nursing Team.   
 
Friend and Family Interpreting Service 
Looking at ways to improve the health inequalities agenda, every patient who has the services of an 
interpreter is to be offered an opportunity to complete the Friends and Family Test as part of their 
appointment with the support of this interpreter. 
 
‘You said we did’ 
We continue to utilise the feedback from our patients and service users to drive service improvement 
through the ‘you said, we did’ initiative.  Wards and departments are offered feedback and required to 
agree local actions and improvements. Examples are shown below.  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

Family and Friend Test - Recevied by Month

22-23 23-24 24-25

 

Page 81



 

Page 72 of 91 

 

Part 3 Other Information 
 

This section of the Quality Account includes an overview of the quality of care provided during 2023/24 
that has not already been reviewed in this report, covering aspects of Patient Safety, the Patient 
Experience and Clinical Effectiveness.  There is also a review of performance against indicators included 
in the NHS Oversight Framework 
 
The Trust launched its Quality Strategy (Quality Matters) in 2022/23, to cover the four years to 2025/26. 
A number of Trust priorities can be seen to overlap with national planning guidance.  

 
Patient Safety 
 

Quality Improvement 
 

The Senior Sister for Quality Improvement has supported a number of projects this year.  These include: 
 

 ‘4AT’ which is an assessment used to assess delirium. 

 ‘Drip or Drink’ and the hydration traffic light jug campaign which are both linked to improving 
hydration in hospitals.  The Drip or Drink campaign has been trademarked and is now being used 
in other hospitals.  This initiative has also prompted improvements as to how we approach both 
nutrition and hydration in the emergency departments and as a result has now seen the 
introduction of a hostess trolley across both sites.  Further work is planned to ensure both 
departments can provide warm meals. 

 The traffic light jug campaign is operational across a large number of our wards and teams and 
has been very successful so far, as it encourages patients and staff to focus on maintaining 
sufficient hydration through the day.  Early analysis of the impact of this initiative showed a 
reduction in falls and urinary tract infections. 

 
In 2024-25, the Senior Sister for QI is going to support improvement work with falls in the community 
hospitals and the ACT NOW campaign which is an initiative developed to support rapid assessment and 
planning for the deteriorating patient. 
 

Incident Reporting and Investigation  
 

Incident reporting and investigations have undergone national review resulting in a change in the 
national patient safety strategy and systems used.  In 2023-24 CDDFT transitioned across to the new 
Patient Safety Incident Response Framework (replacing the Serious Incident Framework) and to the 
national Learning From Patient Safety Events (LFPSE) platform, which replaced the National Reporting 
and Learning System.  As other NHS Organisations are following different timelines for implementation 
we have not been able to include comparative data in this report. NHS England is considering how they 
will produce national data and are looking to release these in the coming months but annual reports 
remain paused.   
 
The emphasis of the new approach is on rapid and systemic learning, focusing on themes rather than 
individual incidents. There are therefore fewer individual patient safety incident investigations under the 
new approach and the numbers cannot be compared with the number of serious incidents in prior years.  
 
The Trust’s annual patient safety incident response plan (PSIRP) sets out how the Trust learns from 
patient safety incidents reported by staff and patients, their families and carers as part of our work to 
continually improve the quality and safety of the care we provide. The strategy sets out our aim to; 
ensure our annual PSIRP supports the robust investigation of adverse incidents and provides a clear 
structure to staff as to what level of investigation is required and ensure the learning from incident 
investigations and other incident examinations is disseminated in the most effective manner into the 
clinical areas to minimise the risk of future incidents of a similar nature occurring.  
 

Page 82



 

Page 73 of 91 

 

The reporting and investigation of incidents and subsequent learning is integral to maintaining patient 
safety and improving our quality of care.  Between 1st April 2023 and 31st March 2024, 2.5% of incidents 
were reported as resulting in moderate harm or worse, which is slightly higher than in 2022-23.    
 

Falls, and falls resulting in harm continue to be one of the highest reported incidents. The work of our 
Falls Team, and the improvements arising have been set out on page 11of this report.  
 
In 2023 our primary focus was to embed the new Patient Safety Incident Response Framework (PSIRF).  
One of the key aims of the new framework is to ensure rapid learning, achieved at the sharp end where 
effective change can occur.  This is why many patient safety investigations are taking the form of an 
‘After Action Review’ (or known locally as ‘level 2’) which means that the review will occur quite quickly 
after the incident has occurred using the SEIPS model to understand contributing factors. A good 
example of where these reviews have worked well is in the falls work. 
 

Another integral element of PSIRF is engaging patients and families early in the investigation process.  
In 2023 we introduced the role of Family Liaison Officers (FLO) across CDDFT. These are staff who 
have received specialist training that will act as the conduit between the investigation and the 
patient/family. We have twenty five active FLO’s currently and have a further twenty four people 
undertaking the training in 2024-25.  
 

Patient safety is everyone’s business. By providing a safe and just culture, in which our staff are 
empowered to learn from incidents and act on safety risks, and by working in partnership with our 
patients and their families we can, together, deliver safe and reliable care which aims for zero avoidable 
physical or psychological harm to our patients. 
 

Never Events 
 
The Trust have unfortunately reported one never event in 2023-24. The event falls into the category of 
‘wrong site surgery’ involving a dermatology procedure.  The event was deemed to be a no harm 
incident and an investigation has taken place. 
 

Our focus in 2024-25 is to develop system improvement plans, these will be based on learning identified 
through investigations and align to the national patient safety priorities.  The aim of the plan is to enable 
focus on completing the improvements rather than producing singular and potentially repetitive action 
plans for every individual patient safety event. 
 

Patient Experience  
 

Patient Experience  
 

Our Patient Experience and Engagement strategy was introduced in 2022 and included multiple 
objectives over three work streams: Patient Experience, Engagement and the Volunteer Service.  We 
have summarised our progress against key objectives below: 
 

Patient Experience: 
 

1. Take every opportunity to gather and analyse feedback and insights to drive service 
improvement. 

√ We introduced paper cards to all ward areas to increase the level of feedback. 
√ We introduced an easy read feedback method. 
√ We introduced drawing feedback sheets for young children. 

 
2. Take every opportunity to gather and analyse feedback and insights to drive service 

improvement. 
√ We introduced several service specific feedback surveys to evaluate services throughout CDDFT, 

including the Looked After Children team, the Anorectal Physiology Service and diagnostic 
spirometry service. 

√ We introduced an external platform for patients and service users to raise concerns and 
compliments. 

Page 83



 

Page 74 of 91 

 

Engagement 
 

1. Take every opportunity to gather and analyse feedback and insights to drive service 
improvement. 

√ We expanded our use of patient stories covering both positive and negative experiences, to 
celebrate success and drive service improvement. 

√ We reintroduced the post discharge survey quarterly, using this insight to identify service 
improvement and celebrate success. 

2. Take every opportunity to gather and analyse feedback and insights to drive service 
improvement. 

√ We restarted our Patient Experience Network Group in June 2023; the group meets quarterly 
with a membership of internal, external and patient representatives. 

√ Work continues to reintroduce the Patient Council and we will embark a social media campaign 
throughout 2024 to drive engagement. 

 
Volunteer Service 

1. Increase the number of active volunteers for CDDFT. 

√ We now have 110 active volunteers here at CDDFT. 
2. Introduce a diverse team of volunteers. 

√ Working in collaboration with our colleagues at the Durham Refugee Monitoring Service, we now 
several refugees who are currently actively volunteering within our services. 

3. Progress the volunteer to career pathway for CDDFT. 

√ During 2023 we successfully embedded the Volunteer to Career program enrolling 12 candidates, 
6 of whom secured employment.  We are looking to embed the approach in the Trust’s workforce 
plans moving forwards.  

4. Support the introduction of volunteers to the workforce to allow time to care. 
√ We introduced Volunteer to Career candidates in ward helper roles to support areas who needed 

additional support.  Feedback from staff and volunteers has been positive. 
5. Develop the role profiles for volunteers at CDDFT. 
√ We devised and rolled out the ward helper role for our volunteer to career candidates.  Further 

role profiles will be introduced as the program expands in the coming year. 
 

University Hospital of North Durham, Baby Memorial Garden 
Plans to improve and expand the Emergency Services in University Hospital of North Durham were 
approved and work started to the building and surrounding areas. This resulted in moving the Baby 
Memorial Garden becoming a priority. 
 
Social media and Newspaper communications began to engage with the parents who had arranged for 
plaques to be placed in the garden over many years. This proved difficult as due to the sensitivity of the 
bereavement there was no formal list of parents to reach out to and contact was through external 
methods.  Open engagement sessions were held and advertised through media and we were able to 
reach out to approximately 80 parents who have worked CDDFT to successfully and empathetically 
move the Baby Memorial Garden to its new location on the Woodland Walk.  The garden will have an 
opening ceremony in the coming months and the trustees of the garden will be introduced to ensure 
constant engagement with parents using the garden. 
 

National Patient Survey Reports 
There were three National Surveys carried out by our service provider Patient Perspective and these 
results are benchmarked to their clients rather than nationally. A summary of the results is set out below. 
 

National Inpatient Survey 2022  
(These surveys run at least 12 months behind this is the most up-to-date results) 
  
This survey looked at the experiences of 63,224 people, across 133 NHS trusts, who stayed at least one 
night in hospital as an inpatient during November 2022.  Questions included in the survey followed 
people’s journeys from admission to hospital, treatment and discharge. 
 

Page 84



 

Page 75 of 91 

 

Between January and April 2023, 1,250 people at each participating NHS trust were invited to take part.  
The survey was broken down into 11 sections and the rating for CDDFT are shown below. 
 

 Admission to hospital  6.3/10  about the same as other Trusts. 

 The hospital and ward 7.8/10  about the same as other Trusts. 

 Doctors   8.9/10  about the same as other Trusts. 

 Nurses    8.5/10  about the same as other Trusts. 

 Care and Treatment  8.1/10  about the same as other Trusts. 

 Leaving Hospital  7.1/10  about the same as other Trusts. 

 Feedback on Care  1.0/10  about the same as other Trusts. 

 Respect and Dignity  9.2/10  about the same as other Trusts. 

 Overall Experience  8.0/10  about the same as other Trusts. 
 

Actions identified: 
Feedback on care – reintroduction of Friend and Family Test to gather feedback, the impact of this 
initiative being stood down over the pandemic took its toll but we are confident that 2023 results will see 
a much-improved score in the latter part of 2024. 
 
Leaving Hospital - A recent evaluation of the discharge process working in collaboration with 
HealthWatch County Durham identified areas of improvement.  We introduced a Discharge Support 
Team provided by Durham County carers, documentation has been evaluated and a review of the 
medication delays have been considered. 
 
Overall Experience – Whilst there could always be improvements with overall experience it was 
important to celebrate our successes with staff, and the reintroduction of the post discharge survey has 
allowed this to be monitored closely quarterly and resolve needed improvements that are identified 
timely. 
 
CQC National Maternity Survey 2023 
The survey was administered by the Coordination Centre for Mixed Methods (CCMM) at Ipsos. A total of 
63,271 people who used maternity services were invited to participate in the survey across 121 NHS 
trusts.   
 
The survey for CDDFT noted that maternity service users’ experience was best in the following areas: 

√ Maternity service users being able to get support or advice about feeding their baby during 
evenings, nights, or weekends, if they needed this. 

√ Maternity service users discharge from hospital not being delayed on the day they leave hospital. 
√ Maternity service users being able to see or speak to a midwife as much as they wanted during 

their care after birth. 
√ Midwives providing service users with relevant information, during their pregnancy, about feeding 

their baby. 
√ Maternity service users receiving help and advice from a midwife or health visitor about feeding 

their baby in the six weeks after giving birth. 
 
The following areas were flagged where maternity service users’ experience could improve. 

√ Partners or someone else involved in the service user’s care being able to stay with them as 
much as the service user wanted during their stay in the hospital. 

√ During antenatal check-ups, maternity service users being given enough information from either 
a midwife or doctor to help decide where to have their baby. 

√ Maternity service users being offered a choice about where to have their baby during their 
antenatal care. 

√ During pregnancy, maternity service users receiving the help they needed when they contacted a 
midwifery team. 

√ Maternity service users feeling that if they raised a concern during their antenatal care it was 
taken seriously. 

 
Our maternity services leaders worked with the local Maternity and Neonatal Voices Partnership to co-
produce an action plan as shown overleaf. 
 

Page 85



 

Page 76 of 91 

 

 
 
Urgent and Emergency Care 
 
Type 1 – Emergency Departments 
The Urgent and Emergency Care team, recently met with Patient Experience during October 2023 to 
consider the findings of the most recent National Survey.  Details of the findings and actions identified are 
shown below. 
 
Type 1: Action Planning 
 
Bottom five scores (compared with national average) 

Question Rating Action to date 

Section 2: Waiting CDDFT Average  

Q7. How long did you wait 

before you first spoke to a 

nurse or doctor? 

3.9 5.0 

The ED Senior Team created a 4 hour action plan with the aim of 

reducing waits and improving responsiveness.  This plan is almost 

complete and has resulted in improvements across sites for the same 

period last year. Ambulance handovers have seen DMH and UHND 

achieve sustainably the best in the region. 

Effective streaming is essential to ensure the patient is seen in the 

right place, first time.  A Quality Improvement work streams was 

initiated in summer 23 and is progressing to reduce delays in ED and 

improve responsiveness. 

Assessment time in ED DMH has improved enabling more patients to 

be fully assessed in 15 minutes. 

Q8. Sometimes, people 

will first talk to a doctor or 

nurse and be examined 

later. From the time you 

arrived, how long did you 

wait before being 

examined by a doctor or 

nurse? 

4.2 5.4 

As above 

Capacity in the ED is challenging at times of high attendance and 

UEC is working with IMS and Surgery to improve flow releasing ED 

cubicles for patients to be examined in. ED flex to utilise all available 

accessible areas to see ambulatory stream of patients, aiding 

discharge where possible.  Patients are kept informed of waiting times 

for four different streams of care via an electronic board displayed in 

the waiting room where health care staff record patient observations 

and are available to speak to or raise any concerns to, if required. 

Page 86



 

Page 77 of 91 

 

Question Rating Action to date 

Q12. Overall, how long 

did your visit to A&E last? 

4.4 5.2 

As above. 

In addition focussed work programmes are in progress to improve 

flow out of ED for those patients that require admission.  Delays in 

flow for these patients adversely impacts on the responsiveness of 

the service for all patients. 

Section 4: Care and 

Treatment 

CDDFT Average  

Q21. While you were in 

the Emergency 

Department, did staff help 

you with your 

communication needs? 

(E.g. any language needs 

or communication needs 

related to a disability, 

sensory loss or 

impairment). 

5.5 6.4 

Findings shared with Matrons and GM’s to gain an understanding of 

any specific barriers and to support the identification of 

improvements, including resources that would improve the quality of 

communication. 

ED use a language interpreting service on a regular basis to enable 

clinical staff to communicate with patients and understand their 

needs.  

Section 7: Leaving the 

Emergency Department 

CDDFT Average  

Q45. If you had contact 

with care and support 

services after leaving the 

Emergency Department, 

did the health or social 

care staff have 

information about your 

visit? 

4.2 6.0 

Findings shared with Matrons and GM’s to gain an understanding of 

any specific barriers to healthcare information being appropriately 

shared and to identify solutions. 

GP discharge letters are monitored and generated for all discharges 

from the Emergency Department, which is available in primary care to 

share with the wider primary care teams as necessitated such as 

district nurses etc. 

 

Page 87



 

Page 78 of 91 

 

Type 3 – Action Planning 

Bottom five scores (compared with national average) 
 

Question Rating Action to date 

Section 4: Care and 

Treatment 
CDDFT Average  

Q28. Do you think the staff 

did everything they could to 

help control your pain? 

7.4 7.8 Share findings with UTC teams; 

 Increase in Friends and Family response 

rates to enable timely service 

improvements. 

 Focussed audits to be explored   

Section 5: Test CDDFT Average  

Q26. If you had any tests, did 

a member of staff explain why 

you needed them in a way you 

could understand? 

8.1 8.8 

As above 

Q27. Before you left the 

Urgent Treatment Centre, did 

a member of staff explain the 

results of the tests in a way 

you could understand? 

7.9 8.8 

As above 

Section 6:  Environment 

and Facilities 
CDDFT Average  

Q30. While you were in the 

Urgent Treatment Centre, did 

you feel threatened by other 

patients or visitors? 9.8 10.0 

Trust zero tolerance and security posters are 

in place. 

24/7 security is presence at DMH UTC as it 

shares the same waiting room as ED. 

 

Section 7:  Leaving the 

Urgent Treatment Centre 
CDDFT Average  

Q37. Did a member of staff 

discuss with you whether you 

may need further health or 

social care services after 

leaving the Urgent Treatment 

Centre? (E.g. services from 

GP, physiotherapist or 

community nurse, or 

assistance from social 

services or the voluntary 

sector). 

8.0  8.2 

Share findings with UTC teams for reflection 

on potential improvements 

 
 
Compliments  
Compliments continue to be reported from our patients for our staff.  During 2023 we improved the ways 
we collect these compliments and the Patient Experience Team work closely with wards and 
departments to ensure we collate them appropriately. 

Page 88



 

Page 79 of 91 

 

 
The below chart shows the number of compliments cumulative, and shows that the amount of 
complaints has significantly increased from 2022-23 period.  The Trust receives 20 compliments for 
every 1 complaint raised. 
 

 
 

 
Complaints  
After the implementation of the PHSO Complaint Standard Framework at CDDFT in 2022, the complaint 
process was evaluated and in December 2023 we overhauled our complaints handling policy.   The 
changes took account of feedback from our complainants and have been designed to increase early 
engagement with complainants, and to allow them to receive a timely and empathetic response to their 
concerns.  
 
The changes made are shown below. 

√ Investigating Officers are allocated to complaints and they communicate with complainants rather 
than the Patient Experience Team. 

√ Target timescales have been set for complaints to be responded to within 35 working days, 25 for 
investigation and 10 for peer review and CEO approval. 

√ Access to a web system to assist investigation officers and ensure robust governance processes. 
 
Whilst still early into the implementation of the new approach, the changes have had a positive effect, 
complainants have been able to discuss their concerns with the investigators and less responses have 
been queried, some cases are being resolved as quick resolution cases and the timescales for 
completion have reduced. 
 
The charts below show the number of formal complaints received Trust-wide throughout 2023-24 as a 
cumulative total and in comparison, to previous years back to 2021-22.  They also show complaints per 
1,000 patient bed days so that the link between the number of complaints and activity is clear.  
 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

9000

10000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Monthly Compliment cumulative total

2020-21 2022-23 2023-24

Page 89



 

Page 80 of 91 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Quick Resolution Complaints  
The charts below show the number of quick complaints received trust-wide throughout 2023-24 as a 
cumulative total and in comparison, to previous years back to 2021-2022, together with the number of 
quick resolution complaints per 1,000 patient bed days.  
 

 
 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Complaint by cumulative totals

2021-22 2022-23 2023-24

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

Complaints per 1,000 patient episodes

2022-23 2023-24 2024 - 25

Page 90



 

Page 81 of 91 

 

 

 
 

 

Learning from Experience 
We have continued to use feedback from patients, in particular patient stories, to share valuable lessons 
to the experience of patients in our care. This is now done from positive experience as well as from 
complaints.   
 
In response to previous patient stories, we have started Therapy Dog visits to wards and departments, 
these have proven to be positive. 
 

 
 
During one visit the dog visited a patient who was in the last stage of life, Freddy. The family had been 
made aware it was just a matter of time. It was thought that a therapy dog visit would help the family.  

Page 91



 

Page 82 of 91 

 

Several weeks later a thank you card came in from Freddy and his partner Evelyn who thanked us for 
the visit and they truly believe the visit from the dog made Freddy’s health improve.  This visit happened 
in November 2023 and Freddy is still enjoying life with his partner, and they are eternally grateful. 
 

Clinical Effectiveness 
 

Reducing the length of time to assess and treat patients in the Emergency Department 
(ED)    
 
We aim to assess and treat all patients in A&E in a timely and safe manner. The national standard 
requires 95% of patients to be treated and transferred or discharged within 4 hours of arrival in the 
Emergency Department (ED).   
  
Performance against the 4 hour standard has been pressured through the year. For the last quarter (Jan 
– Mar), reported Trust performance was 73.9%, ranging from 71.4% in February to 77.8% in March.    
  
Before the COVID-19 pandemic, the Trust had plans to increase its capacity for Same Day Emergency 
Care (SDEC), streaming some patients out of the ED queue who could be treated and discharged on the 
same day. This work has commenced in 2023/24 further development plans in 2024/25.  
  
Increasing the footprint of the EDs and the bed base in response to capacity limitations were also key 
ambitions. Work is underway at the UHND site ahead of the construction of the new ED.   
  
In 2023/24, the North East region performed comparatively well compared to the national position; the 
year also saw dramatic growth in demand for urgent and emergency services, with attendances at an 
ED 6.8% higher than the prior year, 12.2% higher at an urgent care facility, and unplanned care 
attendances resulting in a hospital stay of at least 1 day increasing by 11.6%.  
 

 

  

Additional A&E clinical standards have been reported in shadow form since 2021/22, with focus placed 
on the time patients spend in the Department. The volume of patients waiting over 12 hours has 
fluctuated throughout the year, with higher volumes of patients spending more than 12 hours in the 
department during the winter period. The proportion spending in excess of 12 hours in the department 
ranged from 5.4% in August 2023 to 15.6% in January 2024.  
 

 
   
The Trust has achieved significant reductions in the number and proportion of patients waiting over 12 
hours in the department and in the number of patients waiting 12 hours or more for a bed from a 
decision to admit, as well as in ambulance handover delays. The changes are in the context of 
increasing demand and are reflective if a range of process improvements.   
 

Month/Quarter Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24
Qtr 1 

2023/24

Qtr 2 

2023/24

Qtr 3 

2023/24

Qtr 4 

2023/24

Fiscal Year 

2023/24

DMH ED attends 5,649 5,881 5,956 6,077 5,752 5,829 6,307 5,725 5,960 6,152 5,844 6,113 17,486 17,658 17,992 18,109 71,245

DMH ED 4 Hour Waits 2,832 2,976 2,885 2,851 2,442 2,457 2,781 2,820 3,141 3,269 3,032 2,665 8,693 7,750 8,742 8,966 34,151

DMH % Seen in 4 Hrs 49.87% 49.40% 51.56% 53.09% 57.55% 57.85% 55.91% 50.74% 47.30% 46.86% 48.12% 56.40% 50.29% 56.11% 51.41% 50.49% 52.07%

UHND ED attends 6,536 6,988 7,050 7,003 6,550 6,811 6,880 6,864 6,728 6,963 7,039 7,074 20,574 20,364 20,472 21,076 82,486

UHND ED 4 Hours wait 3,170 3,292 3,593 3,636 2,787 3,332 3,006 3,266 3,441 3,561 3,695 2,966 10,055 9,755 9,713 10,222 39,745

UHND % Seen in 4 Hrs 51.50% 52.89% 49.04% 48.08% 57.45% 51.08% 56.31% 52.42% 48.86% 48.86% 47.51% 58.07% 51.13% 52.10% 52.55% 51.50% 51.82%

Total ED attends - Type 1 12,185 12,869 13,006 13,080 12,302 12,640 13,187 12,589 12,688 13,115 12,883 13,187 38,060 38,022 38,464 39,185 153,731

Urgent Care Centre - Type 3 (Walk-Ins ) 3,805 4,567 4,379 4,216 3,978 4,156 4,213 4,141 4,385 4,161 4,077 4,651 12,751 12,350 12,739 12,889 50,729

Urgent Care Centre - Type 3 (Booked Appointments ) 6,162 6,607 6,100 6,328 5,330 5,376 5,522 5,374 7,128 7,378 6,529 7,490 18,869 17,034 18,024 21,397 75,324

Trust Over 4 hour waits 6,002 6,268 6,478 6,487 5,229 5,789 5,787 6,086 6,582 6,830 6,727 5,631 18,748 17,505 18,455 19,188 73,896

1,503 1,658 1,775 1,781 1,348 1,305 1,222 1,444 1,982 2,175 1,877 2,092

ED Only Activity % under 4 hour waits 50.74% 51.29% 50.19% 50.41% 57.49% 54.20% 56.12% 51.66% 48.12% 47.92% 47.78% 57.30% 50.74% 53.96% 52.02% 51.03% 51.93%

Reportable % under 4 hour waits (including UCC Booked from Jan '2020) 72.91% 73.93% 72.42% 72.54% 75.80% 73.89% 74.75% 72.47% 72.80% 72.30% 71.36% 77.77% 73.09% 74.03% 73.34% 73.88% 73.59%

Standard                                                     Month: Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24

Trust ED Patients spending more than 12 hours in A&E 1,154 1,184 1,039 999 659 1,190 1,353 1,481 1,802 2,044 1,743 1,650

% Trust ED Patients spending more than 12 hours in A&E 9.5% 9.2% 8.0% 7.6% 5.4% 9.4% 10.3% 11.8% 14.2% 15.6% 13.5% 12.5%

Page 92



 

Page 83 of 91 

 

 
  
  
  

Ambulance handovers 
 

With respect to ambulance handovers, we aim for crews to handover the care of patients to CDDFT staff 
within 15 minutes of arrival.  
 
The proportion of handovers completed within 15 minutes has varied throughout the year with lower levels 
experienced in January at the peak of the winter pressure period. Lower levels of performance are 
congruent with Covid-19 and Flu surges and increased activity. The Trust’s performance is not significantly 
out of line with the region.  
 

 
  
  
The Trust also monitors the total arrival to clear times. Performance has been predictably more 
pressured in the winter months but recovered well in March.  
   

 
 

Site Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24

Darlington Memorial A&e 24.7 25.8 25.0 24.3 23.8 24.1 25.5 32.0 32.6 35.6 31.7 26.9

Uni Hsp Of North Durham A&e 29.1 28.9 27.2 27.9 25.9 29.3 33.9 39.0 36.7 36.9 34.0 27.0

Arrival to clearance time (mins)

Page 93



 

Page 84 of 91 

 

 

Performance Summary 
 

Recovery and restoration 
During this operating year, the operational planning guidance was in place to support continued delivery 
of recovery, which stated a number of performance ambitions. In relation to the ambitions, we performed 
as follows: 

 Increase activity to over 103% of 2019/20 value weighted activity levels: around 117.6% was achieved 
for April 2023 to March 2024; 

 To improve performance against the 4 hour Urgent and Emergency Care standards to at least 76% 
by March 2024: this was achieved. 

 To consistently meet or exceed the 70% 2-hour urgent community response (UCR) standard: this was 
consistently achieved. 

 Eliminate waits of over 65 weeks by March 2024: this was delivered. 

 Develop a plan to reduce the number of patients waiting over 52 weeks to zero by March 2025: 
material progress was made in-year with the number of patients waiting 52 weeks reducing ahead of 
the submitted annual plan trajectory. 

 To deliver diagnostic activity to meet elective and cancer waiting time objectives: this was achieved. 

 To deliver diagnostic wait performance of 95%: this was not achieved. 

 To reduce the 62 day Cancer backlog to the February 2020 level: A local target of a reduction to fewer 
than 126 patients by March 2024 on a graduated trajectory was set. This was routinely achieved form 
May 2023. 

 To achieved the interim Faster Diagnosis Standard target of 75%: this was delivered. 

 Validate at least 90% of patients with an open pathway at least every 12 weeks: this ambition was 
introduced in-year and but was not consistently achieved and has been included in the 2024/25 
operational planning guidance, so will be given increased focus. Trust performance has routinely been 
in excess of 80%, which has been as identified as Green and within tolerance in comparison to other 
providers across the regional. 

 

Page 94



 

 

Page 85 of 91 

 

 

Annex 1 – Statements from Commissioners, local Healthwatch organisations 
and overview and scrutiny committees 
 

[To be added once received in June]  

Page 95



 

 

Page 86 of 91 

 

 

Annex 2: Statement of directors’ responsibilities for the Quality Report 
 

[Wording to be checked and updated in the final version for Board sign off] 

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) 

Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year. 

NHS Improvement has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual 

quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the arrangements that NHS 

foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data quality for the preparation of the quality 

report. 

In preparing the quality report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that: 
 

 the content of the quality report meets the requirements set out in the NHS foundation trust annual    
reporting manual 2023/24 and supporting guidance from NHSE on Quality Accounts 2023/24 

 the content of the quality report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of information 
including: 

o board minutes and papers for the period April 2023 to June 2024 
o papers relating to quality reported to the board over the period April 2023 to June 2024 
o feedback from commissioners dated XX/06/24 
o feedback from governors dated XX/06/24 
o feedback from local HealthWatch organisations dated XX/06/24 
o feedback from overview and scrutiny committees dated XX/06/24 and XX/06/24 
o the Trust’s complaints report published under Regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social 

Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated: in draft (2022-2023 report) Please 
note, the annual report for 2023-2024 is currently in development.  

o the national patient survey 2023  
o the NHS national staff survey 2023 
o the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion of the Trust’s control environment dated 

XX/06/24 
o CQC inspection reports dated 3rd December 2019 and XX March 2024. 

 the quality report presents a balanced picture of the NHS foundation trust’s performance over the 
period covered 

 the performance information reported in the quality report is reliable and accurate 

 there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of performance 
included in the quality report, and these controls are subject to review to confirm that they are 
working effectively in practice 

 the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the quality report is robust and 
reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to 
appropriate scrutiny and review 

 the quality report has been prepared in accordance with NHS England’s annual reporting manual 
and supporting guidance (which incorporates the quality accounts regulations) as well as the 
standards to support data quality for the preparation of the quality report. 

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the quality report. 
 

By order of the board 

 

 Chairman    

 Chief Executive  

Page 96



 

 

Page 87 of 91 

 

 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 

[To be checked and updated in the final version for Board sign off] 

 

Accident and Emergency (A&E) - hospital department that assesses and treats people with serious 

injuries and those in need of emergency treatment (also known as Emergency Departments). 

 

Acute – describes a disease or injury of rapid onset, severe symptoms and brief duration. In the context 

of a hospital, ‘acute’ describes a facility for the treatment of such diseases and injuries. 

 

AHP – Allied Healthcare Professional 

 

AKI – Acute Kidney Injury 

 

Benchmarking – process that helps professionals to take a structured approach to the development of 

best practice. 

 

BAH – Bishop Auckland Hospital 

 

BAME – Black, Asian and minority ethnic 

 

Board of Directors – the powers of a Trust are exercised by the Board of Directors (also known as the 

Trust Board).  In a foundation Trust, the Board of Directors is accountable to governors for the 

performance of the Trust. 

 

Booking Bloods – Routine antenatal tests offered to all women 

 

Clinical Care Group / Care Group – one of the Trust’s five operating divisions, which include 

Integrated Medical Specialties, Surgery, Clinical Specialist Services, Community Services and Family 

Health. 

 

CDDFT –County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

 

CCG - Clinical Commissioning Groups – Entities which are responsible for commissioning many 

NHS funded services under the new Health and Social Care Act 2012, established 1 April 2013.  

 

Clostridium Difficile (C.Difficile or C. Diff) – a health care associated intestinal infection that mostly 

affects elderly patients with underlying diseases. 

 

CoG - Council of Governors.   

 

COHA – Community-Onset Healthcare Associated infection 

 

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) – a payment framework developed to ensure 

that a proportion of a providers’ income is determined by their work towards quality and innovation. 

 

Community based health services – services provided outside of a hospital setting, usually in clinics, 

surgeries or in the patient’s own home.  

 

Community hospitals - local hospitals providing a range of clinical services. 

 

Page 97



 

 

Page 88 of 91 

 

 

Continuity of Carer - A way of delivering maternity care so that women receive dedicated support from 

the same midwifery team throughout their pregnancy 

 

Copeland’s Risk Adjusted Barometer - A system which uses coded data from the Secondary Users 

Service (SUS) to measure the occurrence of medical triggers in inpatients as an indicator of morbidity 

 

CQC – Care Quality Commission 

 

Crude Mortality - Mortality from all causes in a given time interval for a given population  

 

DMH – Darlington Memorial Hospital 

 

ED – Emergency Department 

 

e-Coli – Escherichia Coli, a Gram-negative bacterium 

 

EPR – Electronic Patient Record 

 

Fetal – From ‘fetus’ - a young human being 

 

FFT – Friends and Family Test 

 

Foundation Trust (FT) – NHS hospitals that are run as independent public benefit corporations and  

are controlled and run locally. 

 

Freedom to Speak Up Guardian – a role created following the national ‘Freedom to Speak Up’ review 

which examined arrangements in the NHS to support staff raising concerns about care. The role is 

independent of management and reports to the Chief Executive and the Board. The Guardian’s role is 

to support the development of an environment in which staff are supported in raising concerns, to 

encourage them to do so, and to monitor the effectiveness with which concerns are looked into and 

acted upon. 

 

Frenulotomy Service – This is a service providing treatment for babies with tongue tie 

 

GP –General Practitioner 

 

Healthcare Associated Infection (HCAI) – infections such as MRSA or Clostridium difficile that 

patients or health workers may acquire from a healthcare environment such as a hospital or care home. 

 

HOHA - Hospital-Onset Healthcare Associated infection 

 

Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) – the number of deaths in a given year as a 

percentage of those expected. 

 

Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWB) – Boards comprised of health and social care commissioners 

and the consumer watchdog (Healthwatch), in place to oversee the development and delivery of a joint 

health and well-being strategy and plans for the geographical areas which they cover.  

 

Healthwatch – Independent consumer champion for health and social care 

 

Infection Control – the practices used to prevent the spread of communicable diseases. 

 

Page 98



 

 

Page 89 of 91 

 

 

Integrated Care System - new partnerships between the organisations that meet health and care 

needs across an area, to coordinate services and to plan in a way that improves population health and 

reduces inequalities between different groups 

 

IPC – Infection Prevention and Control 

 

John’s Campaign (Dementia) – The offer of a unique form of support in delivering compassionate and 

effective patient care, for the right of people with dementia to be supported by their carers in hospital 

 

Klebsiella sp – a Gram-negative bacteria 

 

LADB – County Durham & Darlington Local A&E Delivery Board 

 

LeDeR Programme – Learning Disability Mortality Review commissioned to improve standards of care 

for people with learning disabilities 

 

LocSSIPs – Local Safety Standards for Invasive Procedures 

 

MDT – Multi Disciplinary Team A multidisciplinary team (MDT) is a group of health and care staff who 

are members of different organisations and professions (e.g. GPs, social workers, nurses), that work 

together to make decisions regarding the treatment of individual patients and service users 

 

Mortality – Death rate, the ratio of actual deaths to expected deaths 

 

MRSA - Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus - bacterium responsible for several difficult to 

treat infections. 

 

MUST - Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool  

 

National tariff (tariff) – centrally agreed list of prices for particular procedures; linked to the Payment 

by Results policy. 

 

NCEPOD - National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death 

 

Nervecentre – Electronic nursing observation system 

 

NEQOS - North East Quality Observatory System 

 

Never Events - Serious incidents that are entirely preventable as guidance, or safety recommendations 

providing strong systemic protective barriers, are available at a national level, and should have been 

implemented by all healthcare providers. 

 

NEWS – National Early Warning Score - tool which improves the detection and response to clinical 

deterioration in adult patients and is a key element of patient safety and improving patient outcomes. 

 

NHS – Abbreviation used to refer to National Health Service 

 

NHS Digital - An executive non-departmental public body, sponsored by the Department of Health and 

Social Care which uses information and technology to improve health and care.  

 

NHSI/E NHS Improvement/England– the national body which awards the Trust its provider licence 

and regulates the Trust against it.  

 

Page 99



 

 

Page 90 of 91 

 

 

NHSFT –NHS Foundation Trust 

 

NHS Constitution – establishes the principles and values of the NHS.  It sets out the rights and 

responsibilities of public, patients and staff to ensure that the NHS operates fairly and effectively. 

 

NHS Providers – a national association representing Trusts and Foundation Trusts 

 

NICE - Abbreviation used to refer to National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 

 

Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) of foundation Trusts – independent directors appointed by the 

Governors to sit on the Board of Directors, with no responsibility for the management of the business on 

a day to day basis.  The Chair of the foundation Trust will be a Non-Executive Director. 

 

Nosocomial Transmission – Infections that develop as a result of a stay in hospital 

 

NRLS - National Reporting and Learning System 

 

Ockenden Report – by Donna Ockenden, chair of the Independent Maternity Review 

 

OSC - Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 

Patient Advice and Liaison Services (PALS) – services that provide information, advice and support 

to help patients, families and their carers 

 

Perfect Ward / Tendable – A quality inspection platform for healthcare settings 

 

PGD – Patient Group Directive, used in prescribing, administration and supply of medication 

 

PHE – Public Health England, now replaced by UKHSA (UK Health Security Agency) 

 

PHSO – Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman 

 

PPI - Patient and Public Involvement  

 

PPE – Personal and Protective Equipment.  This is term that is used to describe equipment that staff 

are provided with to keep themselves and others safe in the work place including masks, aprons, gloves 

etc. 

 

Pressure Ulcer -  

 

Primary care – the collective term for family health services that are usually the patient’s first point of 

contact with the NHS; includes general medical and dental practices, community pharmacy and 

optometry.PRISM2 – This is methodology used for mortality review 

 

PROM - Patient Recorded Outcome Measure, which is a measure of health improvement reported by a 

patient following an operation. 

 

Provider Sector – Trusts and Foundation Trusts 

 

Pseudomonas ag – a Gram-negative bacteria 

 

RAG Rating – Red, Amber Green rating system used to summarise indicator values e.g. alert, caution, 

on-track 

Page 100



 

 

Page 91 of 91 

 

 

 

Referral to Treatment (RTT) Time – the description for the performance measure relating to how long 

a patient has to wait for an elective operation following a referral. The performance measure is that 92% 

of patients must be seen within 18 weeks.  

 

SALT – Speech and Language Therapy 

 

SDEC – Same Day Emergency Care 

 

Secondary care – care provided in hospitals.  

 

Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) – Indicator which uses standard and transparent 

methodology for reporting mortality at hospital level.  

 

Tertiary Centre – Provider of specialist healthcare 

 

TEWV – Tees, Esk & Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust 

 

This is Me Documentation - Intended to provide healthcare professionals with information about the 

person with dementia as an individual, to enhance the care and support given while the person is in an 

unfamiliar surrounding 

 

Trust Board – another name used for the Board of Directors.   

 

UHND - University Hospital of North Durham 

 

UKHSA – UK Health Security Agency, replacement of PHE (Public Health England) 

 

Ulysses system – Incident reporting and management system 

 

UNICEF (UNICEF Gold) – United Nations International Children’s Emergency Fund, Gold is awarded to 

services that achieve full baby friendly accreditation (Gold Baby Friendly Service) 

 

Virtual Ward – A service for treating NHS patients at home 

 

VTE - Venous Thromboembolism 

 

WASP Programme - Competency assessment; witnessed, assimilated, supervised and proficient  

 

 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

HEALTH AND HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
19 JUNE 2024 
 

 
HOUSING SERVICES GAS AND ELECTRICAL SAFETY POLICIES 2024-2029 

 

 

SUMMARY REPORT 
 
Purpose of the Report 

 
1. For Members to consider the draft Housing Services Domestic Gas and Heating Safety 

Policy 2024-2029 and the draft Housing Services Domestic Electrical Safety Policy 2024-
2029 before approval by Cabinet on 16 July 2024. 

 
Summary 

 
2. We are committed to ensuring the safety of our tenants, staff, our partners and the wider 

community who may be affected by gas and electrical installations and appliances, 
associated flues and pipework in properties that we own or have a responsibility for 

managing. 
 

3. The Housing Services Domestic Gas and Heating Safety Policy 2024-2029 at Appendix 1 
and Housing Services Domestic Electrical Safety Policy 2024-2029 at Appendix 2 set out 

our legal obligations in relation to gas and electrical safety, together with the 
responsibilities for our staff, contractors and our tenants, to ensure they are not put at risk 
from the effects of gas and electricity. 
 

4. The Tenants Panel has been consulted on the draft policies and they have given their full 
support. 
 

Recommendation 
 

5. It is recommended that Members: 
 
(a) Consider the report and draft Housing Services Domestic Gas and Heating Safety 

Policy 2024-2029 at Appendix 1 and Housing Services Domestic Electrical Safety Policy 

2024-2029 at Appendix 2 and agree their onward submission to Cabinet. 
 

Reasons 

 
6. The recommendations are supported by the following reasons: 

 
(a) The Housing Services Domestic Gas and Heating, and Electrical Safety Policies ensure 

we have a clear approach to the safety of our tenants, staff, our partners and the 
wider community, who may be affected by gas and electricity in our Council homes. 

 
(b) The Regulator of Social Housing’s new Consumer Standards from April 2024 places a 

duty on social housing landlords to take all reasonable steps to ensure the health and 

Page 103

Agenda Item 8



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

safety of our tenants in their homes and associated communal areas . 
 

(c) The adoption of formal gas and electrical safety policies is one of the ways to 
demonstrate how we will achieve this. 

  
 

Anthony Sandys 

Assistant Director – Housing and Revenues 

 
Background Papers 

 
Regulator of Social Housing Consumer Standards.  

 
Anthony Sandys: Extension 6926 
 

S17 Crime and Disorder There is no impact  

Health and Wellbeing Ensuring we have a clear approach to gas and 
electrical safety in our Council homes will have a 

positive impact on our tenants’ health and well-
being 

Carbon Impact and Climate 

Change  

There is no impact  

Diversity There is no impact 
Wards Affected All wards with Council housing 

Groups Affected Council tenants and leaseholders 
Budget and Policy Framework  This report does not represent a change to the 

budget and policy framework 

Key Decision This is not a key decision 

Urgent Decision This is not an urgent decision 

Council Plan This report supports the Council plan to ensure we 
are able to provide our tenants with good quality 

housing  
Efficiency There are no implications  

Impact on Looked After Children 
and Care Leavers 

This report has no impact on Looked After Children 
or Care Leavers 

 
  

Page 104



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MAIN REPORT 
 

Information and Analysis 
 
7. Darlington Borough Council provides over 5,300 high quality homes for local residents.  

We are committed to ensuring the safety of our tenants, staff, our partners  and the wider 
community who may be affected by gas and electrical installations  and appliances, 
associated flues and pipework in properties that we own or have a responsibility for 
managing. 
 

8. All landlords have a legal responsibility to comply with the relevant gas and electrical 
safety regulations and approved codes of practice, which are enforced by the Health and 
Safety Executive.  The Housing Services Domestic Gas and Heating Safety Policy 2024-2029 

and Housing Services Domestic Electrical Safety Policy 2024-2029 set out our legal 
obligations in relation to gas and electrical safety, together with the responsibilities for our 

staff, contractors and our tenants, to ensure they are not put at risk from the effects of gas 
and electricity. 

 
9. The Housing Services Domestic Gas and Heating Safety Policy 2024-2029 at Appendix 1 

and Domestic Electrical Safety Policy 2024-2029 at Appendix 2 set out the following: 
 

(a) The responsibilities of our staff and contractors  in undertaking any gas and electrical 
work in our Council homes and ensuring that all work is undertaken by suitably 
qualified and trained staff. 
 

(b) The responsibilities of our tenants, in relation to any gas and electrical installations 
and appliances, in accordance with their tenancy agreement, including allowing 
access to their homes for safety checks and associated work to be undertaken. 
 

(c) The legal framework in which all gas and electrical installations, appliances and 

associated work are governed by. 
 

(d) The gas and electrical safety checks, inspections and testing that will be undertaken 
by Housing Services staff and contractors, to ensure we comply with our statutory 

duties as landlords. 
 

(e) The approach to undertaking any repairs and dealing with any faults or reported 
hazards. 

 
Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) Consumer Standards 

 
10. The RSH has published new consumer standards from April 2024.  These new standards 

place a duty on social housing landlords to take all reasonable steps to ensure the health 
and safety of our tenants in their homes and associated communal areas. 

 

11. Specifically, the Safety and Quality Standard states: 
 
(a) Registered providers must identify and meet all legal requirements that relate to the 

health and safety of tenants in their homes and communal areas. 
 

Page 105



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(b) Registered providers must ensure that all required actions arising from legally 
required health and safety assessments are carried out within appropriate timescales. 
 

(c) Registered providers must ensure that the safety of tenants is considered in the 
design and delivery of landlord services and take reasonable steps to mitigate any 
identified risks to tenants. 
 

12. Our Housing Services gas and electrical safety policies  will help us demonstrate how we 
will achieve these new standards. 
 

Outcome of Consultation 
 
13. Our Tenants Panel were consulted in May 2024 and overall, the Panel support the 

proposed Housing Services Domestic Gas and Heating Safety, and Housing Services 
Domestic Electrical Safety Policies. 

 
 

Page 106



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

HOUSING SERVICES  

DOMESTIC GAS AND HEATING SAFETY POLICY 2024-2029 

 

Purpose  

 
This Policy applies to all Housing Domestic properties, where we have a responsibility for 

gas safety, and any heating appliance that could produce carbon monoxide, such as solid 

fuel fires.  This policy covers individual homes and communal areas, where such installations 

are present.  This policy also incorporates items such as boilers, fires, flues (concealed and 

exposed), chimneys and associated pipework. 

  

The majority of our properties are heated by gas or have a gas installation.  We only have a 

small number of properties with a solid fuel fires.  We also have properties installed with Air 

Source Heat Pumps (ASHP) and unvented cylinders. 

 

The purpose of this document is to describe how Housing Services meets its requirements 

for undertaking landlord gas safety checks, as set out by the Gas Safety (Installation and 

Use) Regulations 1998 and document G3 Regulations.  The Gas Safety Installation and Use 

Regulations place important duties on landlords of all properties, to ensure that gas 

appliances and their flues are maintained in a safe condition, annual safety checks are 

carried out, and records are kept and issued (or in certain cases displayed) to tenants.  

These duties are in addition to the more general ones that landlords have under the Health 

and Safety at Work Act and the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations.  All 

landlords have a legal responsibility to comply with these regulations, which are enforced by 

the Health and Safety Executive (HSE).  

 

Definitions  
 
 This Policy relates to Darlington Borough Council Housing Services. 
 Heating Appliance: For this document a heating appliance is any piece of equipment that 

can heat air or water.  

 HSE – Health and Safety Executive  

 

Responsibilities  

 
We will take all reasonable steps to ensure that appropriate management systems are in 

place to ensure employees and members of the public are not put at risk from the effects of 

gas or carbon monoxide. 

 

The duties of management, staff and personnel of Housing Services will be clearly 

communicated and agreed by all parties, to ensure that all persons can undertake their 

Page 107



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

duties, as stated in this Policy.  Communications and feedback detailing agreed 

responsibilities will be kept and monitored, and this will trigger further training or 

assistance, as deemed necessary. 

Commercial Elements 

The Housing portfolio contains commercial items, which are subject to the same Gas Safe 

and HSE Regulations.  However, staff are required to have the relevant qualifications such 

as, COCN1 ICPN:1, CORT:1, CIGA:1, CDGA:1, TPCP:1, to work on commercial gas appliances. 

These include, but are not limited to, gas items within the communal areas of: 

 Sheltered Schemes. 

 Extra Care Schemes. 

 Good Neighbour Schemes, such as community centres. 

This also includes commercial boiler systems, which provide heat to the individual flats 

within some schemes, namely: 

 Oban Court  

 Rockwell House  

 Ted Fletcher Court  

 Linden Court  

 Dinsdale Court  

 Windsor Court  

 Rosemary Court. 

These works are managed by our internal Corporate Landlord Service, so do not fall under 

the Duty Holder requirements within this domestic gas policy, as this will be covered under 

“Commercial Duty Holder” requirements. 

The requirement will be on the commercial duty holder to ensure they meet and comply 

with statutory requirements, including the regulations set out within this policy. 

The “Responsible Person” elements, however, do still apply in relation to ensuring 

completion and compliance. 

Chief Executive Officer  

The Chief Executive Officer has overall responsibility for this Policy and ensuring compliance.  

Group Director  

The hierarchy of the organisation sets out that the responsibility for the ‘responsible 

person’, is carried through the Chief Executive Officer and Directors, and on to other 

managers, who have responsibilities for overall statutory compliance or general building 

management activities.  They will also be responsible for ensuring that adequate physical 

and financial resources are made available, to enable the objectives of this Policy to be met.  

It is important that each ‘responsible person’ is aware of their accountability and fulfils their 

role in a safe and competent manner.  

Page 108



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Assistant Director of Housing and Revenues 

Gas safety is the responsibility of the appropriate Assistant Director within areas under their 

management control.  This will involve:  

 Understanding relevant gas legislation and guidance, including delegating appropriate 

responsibilities to relevant managers to Duty Holders and delegated Client Responsible 

Person. 

 Ensuring the allocation of resources (financial and staff) to implement the Gas and 

Heating Safety Policy.  

Housing Buildings Manager 

The Housing Buildings Manager is the person with operational oversight realigning to the 

management of the policy and will take the lead in managing day to day activity relating to 

the policy.  They will also plan and allocate resources accordingly for normal management 

activity.  The Housing Buildings Manager will be supported by various qualified staff in 

undertaking relevant duties but will generally be viewed as the Duty Holder (registration 

pending).  They will ensure that the process is compliant with current legislation, arrange 

and manage annual reviews or special reviews following any circumstances outlined in the 

appropriate section below.  

Housing Asset and Compliance Manager  

The Housing Asset and Compliance Manager is responsible for the operational 

implementation, delivery of and compliance with this Policy, staff awareness, training, and 

communication to tenants (generally referred to as the Client ‘Responsible Person’).  They 

will also ensure arrangements for the delivery of gas safety awareness training for all 

appropriate staff and implementing a competency matrix, to ensure that only those with 

the appropriate level of training are asked to undertake roles where specific training is 

required.   

Gas Manager  

The Gas Manager will take day to day responsibility for:  

 Implementing the requirements and actions of this Policy.  

 Managing operational compliance of any specialist contractors and the works 

undertaken.  

 Validating data and records and ensuring information is updated in a timely manner to 

report on overall compliance.  

 Planning and managing the delivery of programmes of inspections, remedial actions and 

planned investment works to ensure compliance and improve tenant safety. 

 Maintaining a competency matrix, to ensure that only those with the appropriate level 

of training are asked to undertake roles where specific training is required and ensure 

that training is delivered and is up to date. 

 Providing information and advice on all relevant aspects of safety, to be shared with 

tenants regarding safe use of equipment. 

Page 109



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Service monitoring and quality audits, to ensure standards are maintained across the 

different geographical areas, individual operatives, and appliance types.    

 They will be supported by various qualified staff in undertaking relevant duties but will 

generally be viewed as the Manager.   

Employees 

 All Employees, irrespective of their position shall:  

 Take responsible care for their work, health and safety and that of other persons who 

may be adversely affected by gas and heating appliance work, including members of the 

public, tenants, visitors and contractors. 

 Co-operate as appropriate with other staff agencies to ensure compliance with this 

policy and all other legal requirements. 

 Halt works that, in their opinion, may present a serious risk to health and safety. 

 Report any concerns that they may have in relation to the management of gas appliance 

safety. 

 Raise any issues immediately that endanger health or safety.  

 Report all accidents, incidents and near misses to Line Managers and the Health and 

Safety team as quickly as possible after the event, to ensure that an investigation is 

undertaken. 

 Undertake any training or qualifications relevant to their roles, or as requested by their 

manager. 

Contractor’s Responsibilities  

We require contractors to abide by relevant legislation, technical guidance and keep up to 

date with any amendments.  They are also required to comply with the Contractor Code of 

Conduct and the requirements of this document, when undertaking gas installation works. 

 We have a responsibility to identify on the Landlord Gas Safety Certificate (LGSR) any defect 

on tenant-owned appliances and advise the tenant of any remedial actions required.  We 

will service and maintain gas fires which are served by a flue, owned by Housing Services.  

Any repairs that need to be carried out or the removal of the appliance due to its state of 

disrepair, will be recharged to tenants.  Safety checks to tenant’s own gas fires will be 

carried out in accordance with the Gas (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 ACoP 36(2) 

guidance note 299.  

 Work will be undertaken in accordance with the specific requirements set out in the Service 

Level Agreement or contract.  Every opportunity will be taken to involve interested tenants 

in developing this service.  

A landlord gas safety record will be completed in the following situations:  

 Where any repair or maintenance is carried out on a gas appliance, gas installations or 

any gas pipework or flue.  

 Where any repair or building work to a chimney or flue that could cause a blockage is 

undertaken; this may extend to certain roofing repairs.  

Page 110



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Where cavity wall insulation, double glazing, or installation of mechanical ventilation, 

including an extractor fan, may cause a detrimental effect to the ventilation of an open-

flue gas appliance.  

 The Gas Manager will be informed via Warning Notice when they cap off gas, no matter 

what the reason. 

Installers will notify the Gas Manager, who will notify the “Gas Safe Register” for gas 

contractors’ registration, of any new installation or exchange of a gas appliance, who in turn 

will notify Building Control within 30 days, as appropriate.  

A specific Code of Conduct, Ethical Standard and range of sustainability and social value 

initiatives will be developed and included in the relevant contract documentation.   

We will aim to remove all solid fuel appliances, where it is appropriate.  Where a solid fuel 

appliance will remain in place, Safety certification will be issued following the service and 

repair of any solid fuel appliance or appliance serviced capable of creating carbon 

monoxide.  

We will report to HSE any reportable incidents under the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and 

Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013 (RIDDOR), by providing details of any gas 

appliance or fitting we consider to be dangerous anywhere where people could die, lose 

consciousness or require hospital treatment.  The danger could be due to design, 

construction, installation modification or incorrect servicing of that appliance or fitting, that 

could result in;  

 an accidental leakage of gas,  

 incomplete combustion of gas, or inadequate removal of products of the combustion 

of gas.   

Fittings that are dangerous solely due to lack of maintenance are not reportable. 

The Tenant’s Responsibilities  

Under the terms of their Tenancy Agreement, tenants are required to: 

 Allow access to their property for maintenance and/or safety checks to be carried out.  

 Immediately report any concerns with gas appliances, flues or installation pipework, 

turning off gas supplies and appliances in hazardous situations and keeping them turned 

off until checks have been carried out by a competent person.  

 Regularly test their carbon monoxide alarms and reporting any problem. 

 Not undertake, arrange, or allow work on gas installations in their properties , without 

consent from Housing Services.  When Housing Services consent is given, all work must 

be carried out by engineers registered with “Gas Safe.”  

 Find out their obligations and maintain their appliance in a safe order and good state of 

repair.  

 Operate appliances safely and in accordance with manufacturers’ instructions.  

Page 111



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Not to use any carbon monoxide producing equipment within their home, such as 

indoor barbeques etc.  

We are not responsible for the safety of tenants’ cookers, not provided by Housing Services . 

Where tenants carry out property alterations and improvements, including installing 

appliances, gas installations or works that may affect the safety of gas installations, 

appliances, or pipework, authorisation must be sought prior to any works being undertaken.  

If works are approved, it will be done so on the basis that tenants are informed and are then 

held responsible for ensuring appropriate safety checks are carried out. 

 Tenants must supply all relevant certification on completion of the authorised works , as set 

out in the Tenancy Agreement. 

A decision will be made regarding the future maintenance and servicing of any tenant’s own 

installed appliance.  If the installation is approved, in most cases it will be maintained and 

replaced by Housing Services.  

No permission will be granted for the opening of fire places in our homes or for the 

installation of solid fuel heating appliances, including log burners.  

Leaseholders and shared owners  

Typically, these groups do not fall directly under our responsibility for undertaking annual 
gas safety checks, as the responsibility for these remain with the leaseholder/shared owner.  

All new leases issued, require that the leaseholder obtain an annual gas safety check and 
supply Housing Services with a copy of the gas safety record.  The importance of this will be 

communicated regularly and the leaseholder will be offered the opportunity to buy in to our 
services provided.  

 

Legal Framework / Relevant Legislation 

 
 We will comply with our statutory requirements in respect of gas safety, which extend to, 

but is not limited by:  

 Landlord and Tenant Act 1985  

 Housing Act 2004 

 Management of Health & Safety at Work Regulations 1999  

 Workplace (Health, Safety & Welfare) Regulations 1992 (as amended)  

 Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998  

 Gas Safety (Management) Regulations 1994  

 The Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015  

 Building Regulations where relevant  

 Right to Repair Scheme (introduced 1994)  

 The Gas Safety (Rights of Entry) Regulations 1996  

 Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013 (RIDDOR) 

Page 112



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

We will require our staff and contractors to abide by all relevant legislation and technical 

guidance and keep up to date with any amendments.  

We will ensure that any individual undertaking works to a gas supply or appliance, must be 

registered through the ‘Gas Safe Register’.  Annual checks will be undertaken, to ensure that 
all engineers have the appropriate accreditation to work on appliances , in line with the 

Approved Code of Practice (ACOP) training standards.  These checks will also be undertaken 
if new engineers are appointed.  

 

Key Principles 
  
General 

 We have responsibilities and obligations as set out below.  We will:  

 Ensure annual landlord gas safety checks are carried out in line with regulation 36(a) by 

a Gas Safe registered contractor to maintain its anniversary deadline date. 

 Ensure that only contractors/engineers with the relevant qualifications (Gas Safe 

Registered/HETAS etc.) can work on our gas, oil and solid fuel installations and 

appliances.  

 Ensure where a chimney or flue is serving a heating appliance that could produce carbon 

monoxide (such as solid fuel or oil fuelled fires) within a property (no matter who is the 

owner of the appliance), the chimney/flue is ‘fit for purpose’.  

 Ensure a Landlord Gas Safety Record is carried out at a minimum for each change of 

tenancy and a copy of the appropriate certification is issued to the incoming tenant, 

prior to occupation.  

 Ensure that any gas appliance, pipework or flue is repaired and maintained to approved 

standards.  

 Ensure all properties are installed with a working carbon monoxide alarm in any room 

with a fuel burning appliance, and that this is tested as part of the annual gas safety 

check. 

 Procure and manage contractors appropriately.  

 Keep detailed computerised information (for at least 2 years) of all Landlord Gas Safety 

checks, servicing and/or other regulatory compliance certificates and monitor 

performance, to ensure that we maintain 100% compliance.  

 Regularly publicise the risks associated with gas installations and appliances to tenants.  

 Reconcile our records on a quarterly basis.  

 Issue tenants with a copy of the Landlord Gas Safety checks, servicing and/or other 

regulatory compliance certificates, within 28 days of it being completed.  

 Post a copy of the Landlord Gas Safety checks, servicing and/or other regulatory 

compliance certificates on a communal noticeboard in a prominent position, at sites 

where checks relate to communal systems. Include details on how to obtain individual 

copies if required.  

Page 113



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Provide a copy of the current Landlord Gas Safety checks, servicing and/or other 

regulatory compliance certificates to new tenants or exchanging tenants. 

 Ensure appropriate and regular gas safety awareness training is provided to all relevant 

staff.  

 Employ suitably qualified and competent staff to manage contracts and oversee the 

works.  

 Encourage staff to be alert to the danger signs from gas appliances, as part of their 

routine duties and visits, and have a clear process for reporting concerns.  

 Make provision for a third-party audit process that will provide reports on the 

performance and carry out sample checks of the quality of on-site work undertaken by 

operatives and representatives.  

Repairs and faults  

 To control the hazards associated with gas, the gas appliances and installations, we will 

ensure that we always leave gas appliances and installations in a safe working order and 

that there is an in-date certification for all relevant properties.  Any repair, defect or fault 

found as part of the gas safety check will be dealt with according to its respective priority.  

The process for rectifying repairs includes:  

 Scheduling repairs according to appropriate timescales and informing tenants of the 

anticipated date for completion.  

 Repairing or making good issues at the time of the landlord gas safety check, where this 

is appropriate to do so.  

 Recording any actions/non-conformities and informing the responsible person. 

 Any gas appliance that fails a landlord gas safety check and cannot be repaired will be 

disconnected from the gas supply and replaced in accordance with our replacement 

timescales.  

 In the event of a heating appliance needing to be disconnected and resulting in a loss of 

heating and hot water for the tenant, we will provide alternative temporary heating as a 

priority.  

 Repairs and replacements will be carried out in accordance with the timescales set out in 

our repairs and maintenance policy, including guidelines and manufacturers’ recommended 

instructions, and any relevant legislation such as the Right to Repair Scheme.  

All gas boilers will be replaced in accordance with our current investment priorities; we will 

plan the renewal of gas boilers in line with our Asset Management Strategy renewal cycle.  

We will consider value for money when deciding to replace or repair appliances and 

specifying new heating appliances and materials.  

 We will attend to all faults and repairs according to our stated repairs priorities.  We will 

operate a comprehensive ‘out of hours’ service to provide emergency repairs 365 days each 

year.  

  

Page 114

https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/19846/repairs-maintenance-policy-2023-2028-final.pdf


 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Lettings and mutual exchange properties  

 In all cases, properties with a gas installation will be inspected and valid certification issued 

to the incoming tenant.  No property will be let without a valid Landlord Gas Safety check, 

servicing and/or other regulatory compliance certificates being available.  

 As properties become void, arrangements will be made to disconnect the gas supply on the 

outlet side of the meter by either inserting an isolating disc or capping-off the pipework.  In 

addition, any pipework fitted with a bayonet fitting, (a cooker outlet), will be capped or 

plugged off.  

Where there is a change in tenancy through a mutual exchange, we will ensure the landlord 

gas safety check is carried out on the day that the new tenant moves in.  

Access for safety checks and repairs  

 We will make every effort to arrange a convenient time and date with the tenant for access 

to complete the works.  Appointments will be made, and written notice provided, in 

accordance with our Access to Homes procedure.  In cases where access is denied after re-

arranged appointments and following written notifications of potential legal action, we will 

seek an injunction to gain access.  This will be in line with our Tenancy Management Policy.  

It is a condition of the Tenancy Agreement that tenants must provide access for a landlord 

gas safety check.  Specific details are set out in the Tenancy Agreement.  

 Where we need to seek legal intervention to gain access to properties, our preferred first 

option is the use of court injunctions.  

 We recognise that in certain cases there may be underlying issues that contribute to access 

problems, which may relate to a support need, language, or specific tenancy management 

problem.  In these circumstances, we will try to overcome or resolve the cause of the 

problem and be sensitive to the issue, before pursuing legal action. 

 The Access to Homes procedure allows opportunities to consider these issues at each 

relevant stage of the legal process.  

 Should it not be possible to undertake an annual gas safety check on an appliance that is 

overdue for its annual service and no gas is available, for instance this could be due to a 

tenant being in arrears on their gas account, we will cap-off the gas supply to prevent the 

use of any appliance until the cap is removed.  In addition, a safety check/warning notice 

certificate will be issued stating that the meter is capped.  The tenant will be informed to 

contact us once the debt has been cleared.  A warning sticker will be affixed to the appliance 

and meter, providing a contact telephone number and a record will be kept of any capped 

services.  Where a tenant requires the gas reconnected, providing there is sufficient credit 

on the meter/account, the tenant can request for the gas supply to be uncapped and an 

appropriate Landlord Gas Safety check, servicing and/or other regulatory compliance 

certificate will be issued.  We will immediately advise the Client Responsible Person by way 

of a ‘Turn off notification’ which will be held in place until the supplies are reinstated.  

Page 115



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 In the event that fuel poverty is a demonstrable contributory factor to the arrears on the gas 

account, we will consider the gifting of temporary electric heaters , so that tenants can heat 

areas of the home and live as comfortably as possible through the period of financial 

hardship.  We will make a referral to our Tenancy Sustainment team who can give advice 

and support, as well as signpost to other relevant agencies. 

In instances where a live gas supply is present, but where no gas meter is installed (where 

the meter has been removed and the gas supply capped), a visual check will be undertaken 

annually of any live gas pipework and a safety check/warning notice certificate will be 

issued.  Any heating appliance fitted will be capped to prevent its use, should a gas meter be 

subsequently installed without notifying Housing Services.  A warning notice will be affixed 

to all appliances informing tenants of the need to contact us prior to any reconnection of a 

meter.  

 Where any repair or maintenance is carried out to a gas appliance, gas installation, gas 

pipework or flue, an appropriate Gas Safe document/certificate will be recorded on the 

Housing ICT systems.  

 In addition to the requirements listed above, and where relevant, Landlord Gas Safety 

checks, servicing and/or other regulatory compliance certificates  may be completed in the 

following situations:  

 Where any repair or building work to a chimney or flue that could cause a blockage is 

undertaken; this may extend to certain roofing repairs.  

 Where cavity wall insulation, double glazing, or installation of mechanical ventilation, 

including an extractor fan, may cause a detrimental effect to the ventilation of an open-

flue gas appliance.  

 We will notify the ‘Gas Safe Register’ for gas contractors’ registration of any new installation 

or exchange of a gas appliance.  They will in turn notify Building Control, where appropriate.  

 We will take every opportunity to involve interested tenants in developing this service.  

Temporary accommodation  

These properties will receive an annual gas safety check with maintenance and repair 

carried out, as appropriate, and in accordance with standing agreements.  

Auditing and review  

Quality of work may be assessed in all, or a combination of, the following ways:  

 Assessment of a percentage of works by a suitably experienced and qualified officer.  

 Assessment by a nominated consultant and/or technology. 

 Self-assessment and quality assurance.  

 Tenant feedback and satisfaction survey.   

 Internal auditing arrangements will be required, which include the Gas Manager reviewing 

all Gas documentation and checking all procedures have been followed. 

Page 116



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Documentation  

An electronic property database records the heating type present in each property and 

details dates of previous landlord gas safety records.  This database is the definitive 

information source for annual gas safety checks.  This database will be maintained to keep 

up to date with property changes and new appliance details. Regular reports generated will 

identify:  

 The total number of properties on contract.  

 The property addresses with a current valid landlord’s  gas safety record, which is in date.  

 The percentage of properties with a compliant landlord gas safety record.  

 The status of each property with the “Access to Homes” procedure, where Landlord Gas 

Safety checks, servicing and/or other regulatory compliance certificates have expired.  

 

Policy Statement  
 

 We are committed to ensuring the safety of our tenants, staff, our partners and the wider 

community who may be affected by the installation of gas appliances, associated flues and 

pipework in properties that we own or have a responsibility for managing. 

 There are risks associated with gas installations and appliances through leaks of natural gas, 

which is highly flammable and explosive and carbon monoxide, which is toxic and 

potentially fatal if build-ups occur.  This can occur through an appliance burning fossil fuel 

etc.  

 The requirements for undertaking the Landlord Gas Safety Record are defined by the 

current version of the Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998.  All landlords have 

a legal responsibility to comply with these regulations, which are enforced by the Health 

and Safety Executive (HSE). 

 We will ensure we remain Gas Safe Registered in accordance with the requirements of this 

policy.  This will allow for servicing and associated installation works and will cover all 
aspects of gas repair, including safety inspections.  This contract will also extend to all other 

homes with appliances, with the potential to produce carbon monoxide.  
 

References  
 
The key documents and references are listed in the legal framework section of this 

document.  

 
Links to other internal policies and procedures 

This Policy should be read in conjunction with our Electrical Safety policy, which will cover 

safety in connection with Air Source Heat Pumps and electrically powered boilers and other 

heating systems.  

Page 117



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

This Policy should be read in conjunction with our Health and Safety Policy, which will cover 

the process for recording, reporting, investigating and analysing accidents, incidents and 

cases of ill health in relation to gas safety.  

Other related documents include:  

 Housing Services Repairs and Maintenance Policy 

 Housing Management Policy 2022-2026  

 Repairs handbook 

 Housing Services Damp Mould and Condensation Policy 

 Leaseholders Booklet 

 Fire Safety Policy for Sheltered and Extra Care Accommodation 

 Housing Services Tenancy agreement  

 Housing Services Void Lettable Standards 

 Housing Comments, compliments and complaints procedure   

 Customer Engagement Strategy 

 Fire and Fire Door Safety 

 Housing Services Climate Strategy 2024-2029 

 Housing Services Asset Management Strategy (Due 2024) 

 Housing Service Standards: 

o Housing Services Information Standards 2024   

o Housing Services Safety & Quality Service Standards 2024 

o Housing Services Your Neighbourhood & Community Service Standards 2024   

o Housing Services Rent Account Service Standards 2024 

o Housing Services Tenant Involvement Service Standards 2024 

 “Access to Homes” Procedure 

 Carbon Monoxide alarm England regulations 2022 and Carbon Monoxide Alarm 

Procedure  

 Housing Services Vulnerability Policy 

 

Page 118

https://intranet.darlington.gov.uk/document-uploader/2018/december/10/health-and-safety-policy-2018/
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/19846/repairs-maintenance-policy-2023-2028-final.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/19884/housing-management-policy-2022-2026-nov-2023-v2.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/16662/hra0011-repairs.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/18144/dp-final-version-dec-2022.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/17687/leaseholder-booklet-v1-dec-2022.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/18766/fire_safety_policy_2022-2027.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/15576/tenancy-agreement-2022.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/15576/tenancy-agreement-2022.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/19865/housing-complaints-compliments-and-comments-procedure-june-2023.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/14340/customer-engagement-strategy.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/20476/housing-services-fire-fire-door-safety-2024-web-version.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/20621/housing-services-climate-strategy-2024-2029.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/20471/housing-services-information-standards-2024.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/20472/housing-services-safety-quality-service-standards-2024.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/20473/housing-services-your-neighbourhood-community-service-standards-2024.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/20474/housing-services-rent-account-service-standards-2024.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/20475/housing-services-tenant-involvement-service-standards-2024.pdf


 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

HOUSING SERVICES  

DOMESTIC ELECTRICAL SAFETY POLICY 2024-2029 

 

Purpose  

 
This Policy sets out specific guidelines on the electrical safety of fixed electrical installations 

and portable appliances (where applicable) and details the approach and appropriate 
frequencies of inspection and testing to minimise the risk of fire, damage to property, injury 

and/or death.  
 
By having this detailed Electrical Safety Policy, Housing Services is able to detail the 
approach to be adopted throughout the organisation and comply with the law, relevant 
regulations and adopted best practice.  

 

Definitions  

 

This Policy relates to Darlington Borough Council Housing Services. 
  

Responsibilities  
 

We will take all reasonable steps to ensure that appropriate management systems are in 

place to ensure employees and members of the public are not put at risk from the effects of 

electricity. 

The duties of management, staff and personnel of Housing Services will be clearly 

communicated and agreed by all parties, to ensure that all persons can undertake their 

duties as stated in this Policy.  Communications and feedback detailing agreed 

responsibilities will be kept and monitored, and this will trigger further training or assistance 

as deemed necessary.  

Commercial/Construction Elements 

The Housing portfolio contains commercial items, which are assigned to Corporate Landlord 

team.  These include, but are not limited to, electrical items within the communal areas of: 

 Sheltered Schemes. 

 Extra Care Schemes. 

 Good Neighbour Schemes, such as community centres. 

This also includes carrying out Portable Appliance Testing (PAT) on equipment used within 

the schemes for use by visitors and tenants, such as bingo machines. 

There is also an ongoing new build programme.  Whilst the properties remain at 

construction phase, they remain under the control of the Construction Manager. 

Page 119



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Electrical work in these areas, will be carried out under their own registration and ‘Duty 

Holder’ responsibilities alongside other commercial building maintenance, so do not fall 

under the Duty Holder requirements within this domestic electrical policy, as this will be 

covered under “Commercial Duty Holder” requirements. 

The client “Responsible Person” elements, however, do still apply in relation to ensuring 

completion and compliance. 

Chief Executive Officer  

The Chief Executive Officer has overall responsibility for this Policy and ensuring compliance.  

Group Director  

The hierarchy of the organisation sets out that the responsibility for the ‘responsible person’ 

is carried through the Chief Executive Officer and Directors and on to other managers who 

have responsibilities for overall statutory compliance or general building management 

activities.  They will also be responsible for ensuring that adequate physical and financial 

resources are made available, to enable the objectives of this Policy to be met.  It is 

important that each ‘responsible person’ is aware of their accountability and fulfils their role 

in a safe and competent manner.  

Assistant Director of Housing and Revenues  

Electrical safety is the responsibility of the appropriate Assistant Director within areas under 

their management control. This will involve:  

 Understanding relevant electrical legislation and guidance, including delegating 

appropriate responsibilities to relevant managers.  

 Ensuring the allocation of resources (financial and staff) to implement the Electrical 

Safety Policy   

Housing Buildings Manager 

The Housing Buildings Manager is the person with operational oversight realigning to the 

management of the policy and will take the lead in managing day to day activity relating to 

the policy.  They will also plan and allocate resources accordingly for normal management 

activity.  The Housing Buildings Manager will be supported by various qualified staff in 

undertaking relevant duties but will generally be viewed as the Duty Holder (registration 

pending).  They will ensure that the process is compliant with current legislation, arrange 

and manage annual reviews or special reviews following any circumstances outlined in the 

appropriate section below.  

Housing Asset and Compliance Manager  

The Housing Asset and Compliance Manager is responsible for the operational 

implementation, delivery of and compliance with this Policy, staff awareness, training, and 

communication to tenants (generally referred to as the Client ‘Responsible Person’).  They 

will also ensure arrangements for the delivery of electrical awareness training for all 

Page 120



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

appropriate staff and implementing a competency matrix to ensure that only those with the 

appropriate level of training are asked to undertake roles where specific training is required.   

Electrical Manager  

The Electrical Manager is the ‘technical duty holder’ and is generally referred to as the 

contractor “qualified supervisor – responsible person” and will take day to day responsibility 

for: 

 Implementing the requirements and actions of this policy.  

 Managing operational compliance of any specialist contractors and the works 

undertaken.  

 Validating data and records and ensuring information is updated in a timely manner to 

report on overall compliance.  

 Planning and managing the delivery of programmes of inspections, remedial actions, and 

planned investment works, to ensure compliance and improve tenant safety. 

 Maintaining a competency matrix to ensure that only those with the appropriate level of 

training are asked to undertake roles where specific training is required and ensure that 

training is delivered and is up to date. 

 Providing information and advice on all relevant aspects of safety to be shared with 

tenants regarding safe use of equipment. 

 Service monitoring and quality audits to ensure standards are maintained across the 
different geographical areas, individual operatives and appliance types.    

 Leading as the National Inspection Council Electrical Installation Contractor (NICEIC) 

Qualifying Supervisor role, such as managing risks, and liaising with suppliers and 

contractors and any issues that arise.   

 They will be supported by various qualified staff in undertaking relevant duties but will 

generally be viewed as the Manager.   

Employees  

All employees, irrespective of their position shall:  

 Take reasonable care for their own health and safety and that of other persons who may 

be adversely affected by electric work, including members of the public, tenants, visitors 

and contractors. 

 Co-operate, as appropriate, with other staff and agencies to ensure compliance with this 

policy and all other relevant legal requirements.  

 Halt work that, in their opinion, may present a serious risk to health and safety.  

 Report any concerns that they may have in relation to the safety of electrical systems 

and installations.  

 Raise any issues immediately that endanger health or safety.  

 Report all accidents, incidents and near misses to the Health and Safety as quickly as 

possible, to ensure that relevant action and investigation is undertaken.  

 Undertake any training or qualifications relevant to their roles, or as requested by their 

manager.  

Page 121



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Only appropriately skilled and competent persons will carry out electrical inspection and 

testing.  A person shall be deemed skilled to carry out the appropriate inspection and 

testing only if they have sufficient qualifications, knowledge, and experience. 

Contractor’s Responsibility  

 We require our contractors to abide by this policy and any relevant legislation, technical 

guidance and keep up to date with any amendments.  They are also required to comply 

with the Contractor Code of Conduct and the requirements of this document when 

undertaking electrical installation works.  

 Responsibility to complete the Electrical Installation Report, Domestic Electric Condition 

Report, Minor Works Certificate and/or any other relevant legislative certification, in 

accordance with BS7671 Electrical regulations. 

 Every opportunity is taken to involve interested tenants in developing this service.  

 Installers will notify the NICEIC for registration of any new installation, or notifiable 

special location installation.  They in turn will notify Building Control within 30 days as 

appropriate.  A specific Code of Conduct, Ethical Standard and range of sustainability 

and social value initiatives will be developed and included in the relevant contract 

documentation.   

 Comply with the Housing Services Access Procedure. 

 Except for undertaking unforeseen emergency repairs whilst carrying out the Inspection 

and Testing regime, no repairs or rectification works will be started without first 

obtaining the correct authority from an appointed member of Housing Services, namely 

the Electrical Manager.  

 Test equipment will comply with the requirements of BS 7671 and IET Guidance Note 3 – 

Inspection and Testing, including all amendments.  

 Comply with specific requirements for PAT testing.  Documentation will be provided in 

the form of a PAT certificate.  In addition to the employees’ section, which identifies 

departures from the requirements of BS 7671 and provides an overall assessment of the 

suitability of the installation for continued use, all Portable Electrical Appliances will be 

tested at regular intervals by a portable appliance tester. 

 We will ensure that all our homes and communal installations are tested in accordance 

with the Institute of Engineering Technology (IET) Regulation statutory timescales.  We 

will test and issue certification prior to the re- letting of our properties.  

The frequency of inspection and testing will be determined taking into account:  

 The type of installation and adequacy of earthing and bonding. 

 Suitability of the switchgear and control gear. 

 Serviceability of accessories and fittings. 

 Type of systems and their condition. 

 Extent of any wear and tear, damage, or other deterioration of other parts of the 

installation and level of misuse (such as vandalism). 

 Presence of adequate identification and notices. 

Page 122



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Any change in use of the premises which have led to, or might lead to, deficiencies in the 

installation. 

 EICR observations and recommendations. 

 Reveal if any of the electrical circuits or equipment are overloaded.  

 Find any potential electrical shock risks and fire hazards in the electrical installation. 

 Identify any defective DIY electrical work.  

 Highlight any lack of earthing or bonding.  

 Tests are also carried out on the electrical installation to check that it is safe.  

The assessment section(s) of the report will describe the overall condition as either 

'satisfactory', in which case no immediate remedial work is required, or 'unsatisfactory' , 

where remedial work is required to make the installation safe.  

Observations and recommendations will include results of the inspection and testing.  They 

will be based on the requirements of the issue of BS 7671 current at the time of the 

inspection, and not on the requirements of an earlier standard when the installation was 

constructed.  Observation(s) will be provided in an accurate and easily understandable 

manner.   

The summary of the inspection report will give a clear indication of the condition of the 

electrical installation, considering relevant circumstances.  After necessary remedial work 

has been completed, an appropriate certificate will be issued to confirm that the remedial 

work has been carried out, in accordance with BS 7671.  

New installations will be provided with an Electrical Installation Certificate, complete with a 

Schedule of Inspections and Test Results.  The documents will be suitably completed in 

compliance with BS 7671, IET.  

We will ensure that any electrical test considers relevant items, including:  

 Adequacy of earthing and bonding.  

 Suitability of the switchgear and control gear, for example, old fuse boxes with double-

pole fusing and/or wooden enclosures, which are likely to need replacing. 

 Serviceability of accessories and light fittings, for example, older round-pin sockets, 

sockets mounted on skirting boards, round pattern lighting switches and braided flexible 

cords connecting ceiling roses to lamp holders, which may require replacement due to 

unsuitability or deterioration.  

 Types of wiring systems and their condition, for example, cables coated in vulcanised 

rubber insulation (phased out in the 1960s), which may be in poor condition and need 

replacing.  

 Extent of any wear and tear, damage, or other deterioration of other parts of the 

installation.  

 Presence of adequate identification and notices.  

 Changes in use of the premises, which have led to, or might lead to, deficiencies in the 

installation.  

Page 123



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Any relevant observation recorded by the electrician in the ‘observations and 

recommendations’ section of the report will be accompanied by a recommendation code to 

indicate the action needed.  Further detail on the codes is given below.  

 Code C1 – Danger Present (immediate threat to safety, rectified or made safe the same 

day).  

 Code C2 – Potentially Dangerous (urgent remedial action required).  

 Code C3 – Improvement Recommended.  

Where a real and immediate danger is observed that puts the safety of those using the 

installation at risk, Code C1 (requires immediate attention) will be given.  We will act 

without delay (usually by phone) to remedy the observed deficiency in the installation.  

Where the engineer does not receive confirmation immediately to undertake work, they will 

perform other appropriate action (such as switching off and isolating/disconnecting the 

affected parts of the installation) to mitigate the danger.  The electrician will not wait for the 

full report to be issued before giving this advice.  

Where a Code C1 is given, we will be advised immediately, in writing, that urgent work is 

necessary to remedy the deficiency.  This action is necessary to satisfy the duties imposed 

on the electrician and others by the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and the Electricity 

at Work Regulations 1989.  

A Code C2 is an observed deficiency considered to be dangerous at the time of inspection 

(EICR unsatisfactory/fail), where it would become a real and immediate danger if a fault or 

other foreseeable event was to occur in the installation or connected equipment.  We will 

be advised that, whilst the safety of those using the installation may not be at immediate 

risk, remedial action should be taken urgently to improve the safety of the installation.   

A Code C3 is used to indicate that, whilst an observed deficiency is not considered to be a 

source of immediate or potential danger, improvement would contribute to an 

enhancement of the safety of the electrical installation.  

The Tenant’s Responsibilities  

Under the terms of their Tenancy Agreement, tenants are required to allow access to their 

property for maintenance and/or safety checks to be carried out.  To undertake fixed 

installation inspection and testing, tenants will be required to grant permission for an 

electrician to temporarily isolate the electrical supply to the property.  

Accordingly, tenants are required to:  

 Identify any requirement to save IT software and action this before the start of any 

electrical operation/isolation.  

 Make their own contingency arrangement for the absence of electrical supplies, for 

example, to fridges/freezers and check for reconnection once the engineer has 

completed their work.  

 Ensure appropriate access and relocation/removal of any obstacles has been done prior 

to arrival of the engineer.  

Page 124



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Notify us of any repairs required/fault issues in a timely manner.  

 Ensure loft spaces are kept empty. 

We are not responsible for the safety of tenants’ cookers, or fixed or portable electrical 

appliances, not provided by Housing Services; or installations which have been installed 

without our prior approval.  Where these installations are found to be defective on first 

inspection, we will explain and terminate the supply and make recommendations for the 

required rectification works.  It will usually be the case that unauthorised installations will 

be removed, and the tenant recharged for the costs, and this will be explained at the time.  

Tenants are responsible for any repairs relating to damage they have caused with faulty self -

installed appliances and wiring.  

Tenants are responsible for portable appliances in their properties that they own.  Outgoing 

tenants should not gift any appliances to the next tenants.  Any tenant owned electrical 

equipment left in a home will be removed and disposed of and a charge made to the 

outgoing tenant.  

Where tenants want to carry out property alterations and improvements, which include 

additions/alterations to the electrics, they are required to seek authorisation prior to any 

works being undertaken.  

If works are approved, it will be done so on the basis that tenants are informed and are then 

held responsible for ensuring appropriate safety checks are carried out and all relevant 

certificates are passed to Housing Services, following the works/installation, as set out in the 

Tenancy Agreement.  

Where works are approved and completed to agreed standards, we will carry out all future 

annual safety checks.  Any defective or unauthorised works needing rectification may incur 

a recharge.  If any installation has been undertaken without our permission, and is found to 

be defective, the supply may be terminated. 

Legal Framework / Relevant Legislation  
 
We are committed to ensuring the safety of tenants and other stakeholders, with regards to 

electrical installations in domestic properties and buildings owned by the organisation, 

unless otherwise stated in formal agreements such as leases etc.  The following legislation 

will be complied with, which extend to but is not limited by:  

 Landlord and Tenant Act 1985  

 Housing Act 2004  

 Management of Health & Safety at Work Regulations 1999  

 Workplace (Health, Safety & Welfare) Regulations 1992 (as amended)  

 The Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015  

 Building Regulations  

 Right to Repair Scheme (introduced 1994)  

 The Health and Safety at Work Act 1974  

 Electricity at Work Regulations 1989  

Page 125



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Requirements for Electrical Installation IET Wiring Regulations 18th Edition BS7671 

(including all amendments)  

 IET Guidance Note 3 – Inspection and Testing  

 The Electrical Equipment (Safety) Regulations 1994  

We will require our staff and contractors to abide by all relevant legislation and technical 

guidance and keep up to date with any amendments.  

Key Principles  
 
General  

Tenants in properties, where Electrical Inspection and Testing is to be carried ou,t will be 

informed in writing that the electrical installation will require isolation (switching off) and 

that we are unable to accept responsibility for any loss or damage resulting from this.  

We will maintain an asbestos register (covering individual properties and communal areas), 

which will be provided to contractors.  

For new electrical work, where works are notifiable, we will comply with The Building 

Regulations 2010 (as amended), including Approved Document P - Electrical Safety - 

Dwellings.  This requires electrical installations in dwellings to be designed and installed, so 

they afford protection against mechanical and thermal damage and do not present electric 

shock and fire hazards to people.   

Fixed Electrical Installations  

An electrical installation is made up of all the fixed electrical equipment that is supplied 

through the electricity meter.  It includes the cables that are usually hidden in the fabric of 

the building (walls and ceilings), accessories (sockets, switches , and light fittings), and the 

consumer unit (fuse box) that contains all the fuses, circuit-breakers and residual current 

devices (RCDs).  

We will ensure that our electrical installations have:  

 Sufficient socket outlets for the number of portable appliances likely to be used, to 

minimise use of multi-socket adapters and extension leads.  

 Covers/barriers in place to prevent contact with live parts.  

 RCD protection, where appropriate.  

 Satisfactory earthing arrangements.  

 Satisfactory bonding for incoming services, for example, gas and water.  

 Sufficient circuits to avoid danger and minimise inconvenience in the event of a fault. 

 Cables that are correctly selected in relation to their associated fuse or circuit breaker. 

 Appropriate fire detection systems (smoke and or heat detection), preferably mains 

supply.  

  

Page 126



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Frequency of Inspection and Testing  

Over time, and with the wear and tear of regular use, the installation will start to 

deteriorate.  Connections can work loose (a potential fire hazard), equipment can be 

damaged, and building and maintenance work can have an impact on the wiring.  The 

frequency of periodic electrical inspection and testing will be determined considering:  

 The type of installation.  

 Its use, the extent of wear and tear, and operation and/or level of misuse (such as 

vandalism)  

 the frequency and quality of maintenance.  

 The damage and/or deterioration found at the time of the inspection.  

IET Guidance Note 3: Inspection and Testing indicates a suggested frequency of 5 years for 

an EICR for domestic properties in social housing properties.  These frequencies will be 

increased if the history indicates signs of progressive deterioration.  

Our housing stock is subject to a Condition Report and Test at the following frequencies:  

 Based on best safeguarding approach we have made a business decision to test, inspect 

and report on all property types every 5 years.  

 At change of occupancy, such as a void or mutual exchange, a periodic inspection will be 

carried out.  

Access for Safety Checks and Repairs  

We will make every effort to arrange a convenient time and date with the tenant for access 

to complete the works.  Appointments will be made, and written notice provided in 

accordance with our Access to Homes procedure.  In cases where access is denied after re-

arranged appointments and following written notifications of potential legal action, we will 

seek an injunction to gain access. This will be in line with our Tenancy Management Policy.  

It is a condition of the Tenancy Agreement that tenants must provide access for landlord 

safety checks.  Specific details are set out in the Tenancy Agreement.  

Where we need to seek legal intervention to gain access to properties, our preferred first 

option is the use of court injunctions.  

We recognise that in certain cases there may be underlying issues that contribute to access 

problems, which may relate to a support need, language, or specific tenancy management 

problem.  In these circumstances, we will try to overcome or resolve the cause of the 

problem and be sensitive to the issue before pursuing legal action. 

The Access to Homes procedure allows opportunity to consider these issues at each relevant 

stage of the legal process.  

  

Page 127



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Leaseholders and Shared Owners  

Typically, these groups do not fall directly under the responsibility of Housing Services for 

domestic electrical safety inspections, as the responsibility for these remain with the 

leaseholder/shared owner.  The importance of this will be communicated regularly.   

Temporary Accommodation  

These properties receive the necessary electrical tests and inspections, maintenance, and 

repairs, as appropriate, and in accordance with other domestic housing properties.  

Lettings and Mutual Exchanges  

 The electrical installation will be tested and inspected, and a valid certificate issued to 

the incoming tenant, as part of the sign-up process following a mutual exchange.  No 

property will be let without a satisfactory electrical certificate being available.  

 In the case of a mutual exchange, however, time constraints (and power supply issues) 

may lead to a test having to be carried out as an urgent repair.  

 All properties will meet the Housing Services letting standard, prior to let.  

Training and Information 

We will undertake appropriate and regular electrical safety awareness training for all 

relevant staff.   Suitably qualified or ‘competent’ staff manage will the electrical works 

undertaken by Housing Services, in accordance with relevant legislative requirements.  

Auditing and Review  

Quality of work may be assessed in all, or a combination of, the following ways:  

 Assessment of a percentage of works by a suitably experienced and qualified officer.  

 Assessment by a nominated consultant and/or technology. 

 Self-assessment and quality assurance by the contractor.  

 Tenant feedback and satisfaction survey.   

Internal auditing arrangements will be required of the contractors, which include the 

contractor’s qualified engineer reviewing all Electrical documentation and checking all 

procedures have been followed. 

Policy Statement  

 We will ensure that the electrical safety of fixed electrical installations and portable 

appliances (where applicable) are inspected at appropriate frequencies and maintained to 

minimise the risk of fire, electrocution, damage to property, injury and/or death.  

We recognise the legal obligations in relation to electrical safety and the Electrical Safety 

Policy demonstrates how we will comply in accordance with current legislation and 

approved codes of practice.  

We will ensure that a compliant and uniform approach is adopted, and the service delivered 

meets statutory requirements, and is consistent with good practice.  

Page 128



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

This Policy applies to all Housing properties.  The main hazards of electrical systems are:  

 Faults which could cause fires.  

 Fire or explosion, where electricity could be the source of the ignition.  

 All installed electrical equipment and materials are of the correct type and comply with 

applicable British Standards.  

 All parts of the fixed electrical installation are correctly selected and erected.  

 No part of the fixed electrical installation is visibly damaged or otherwise defective. 

 Recording all electrical checks, inspections and tests including test results, keeping 

them throughout the working life of an electrical installation. 

 In conducting our business, we will meet our health and safety obligations to our staff, 

tenants, contractors and visitors.  

 

Related Policies and Procedures  
 
This Policy should be read in conjunction with our Health and Safety Policy, which will cover 

the process for recording, reporting, investigating and analysing of accidents, incidents and 

cases of ill health in relation to electrical safety.  

Other related documents include:  

 Housing Services Repairs and Maintenance Policy 

 Housing Management Policy 2022-2026  

 Repairs handbook 

 Housing Services Damp Mould and Condensation Policy 

 Leaseholders Booklet 

 Fire Safety Policy for Sheltered and Extra Care Accommodation 

 Housing Services Tenancy agreement  

 Housing Services Void Lettable Standards 

 Housing Comments, compliments and complaints procedure   

 Customer Engagement Strategy 

 Fire and Fire Door Safety 

 Housing Services Climate Strategy 2024-2029 

 Housing Services Asset Management Strategy (Due 2024) 

 Housing Service Standards: 

o Housing Services Information Standards 2024   

o Housing Services Safety & Quality Service Standards 2024 

o Housing Services Your Neighbourhood & Community Service Standards 2024   

o Housing Services Rent Account Service Standards 2024 

o Housing Services Tenant Involvement Service Standards 2024 

 “Access to Homes” Procedure 

 Carbon Monoxide alarm England regulations 2022 and Carbon Monoxide Alarm 

Procedure  

 Housing Services Vulnerability Policy 

Page 129

https://intranet.darlington.gov.uk/document-uploader/2018/december/10/health-and-safety-policy-2018/
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/19846/repairs-maintenance-policy-2023-2028-final.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/19884/housing-management-policy-2022-2026-nov-2023-v2.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/16662/hra0011-repairs.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/18144/dp-final-version-dec-2022.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/17687/leaseholder-booklet-v1-dec-2022.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/18766/fire_safety_policy_2022-2027.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/15576/tenancy-agreement-2022.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/15576/tenancy-agreement-2022.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/19865/housing-complaints-compliments-and-comments-procedure-june-2023.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/14340/customer-engagement-strategy.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/20476/housing-services-fire-fire-door-safety-2024-web-version.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/20621/housing-services-climate-strategy-2024-2029.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/20471/housing-services-information-standards-2024.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/20472/housing-services-safety-quality-service-standards-2024.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/20473/housing-services-your-neighbourhood-community-service-standards-2024.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/20474/housing-services-rent-account-service-standards-2024.pdf
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/media/20475/housing-services-tenant-involvement-service-standards-2024.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

HEALTH AND HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
19 JUNE 2024 
 

 
HOUSING SERVICES DOMESTIC ABUSE POLICY 

 

 

SUMMARY REPORT 
 
Purpose of the Report 

 
1. For Members to consider the draft Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 2024-2029 

before approval by Cabinet on 16 July 2024. 
 

Summary 
 

2. Housing Services recognises the harm domestic abuse can cause within our homes and 
communities.  Domestic abuse is often a hidden problem, but we want all our tenants and 

household members to be safe from the impact of domestic abuse. 
 

3. The Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 2024-2029 at Appendix 1 sets out our 
commitment to tackle domestic abuse in our homes and how we will aim to manage and 

support any cases.  The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 places new duties on local authorities to 
ensure that victims of domestic abuse and their children can access the right support in 

safe accommodation, when they need it.  Housing Services plays an important role in 
tackling domestic abuse, being well placed to recognise the signs and support victims and 
survivors. 
 

4. Consultation was undertaken in May 2024 with our Tenants Panel, Public Health, Harbour 
and Family Help, with full support given to the proposed Housing Services Domestic Abuse 
Policy. 
 

Recommendation 

 
5. It is recommended that Members: 

 
(a) Consider the report and draft Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy at Appendix 1 

and agree its onward submission to Cabinet. 
 

Reasons 

 
6. The recommendations are supported by the following reasons: 

 
(a) The Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy ensures we have a clear approach to 

supporting victims of domestic abuse within our homes. 
 

(b) The Regulator of Social Housing’s new Consumer Standards from April 2024, places a 
duty on social housing landlords to work co-operatively with other agencies tackling 

Page 131

Agenda Item 9



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

domestic abuse and enable tenants to access appropriate support and advice. 
 

(c) The adoption of a formal Domestic Abuse Policy is one of the ways to demonstrate 
how we will achieve this. 

  
 

Anthony Sandys 

Assistant Director – Housing and Revenues 

 
Background Papers 

 
Regulator of Social Housing Consumer Standards.  

 
Anthony Sandys: Extension 6926 
 

S17 Crime and Disorder Housing Services will work with the Police and 

other agencies to tackle domestic abuse within our 
Council homes 

Health and Wellbeing Tackling domestic abuse within our Council homes 
will have a positive impact on the health and well-

being of victims and survivors 

Carbon Impact and Climate 

Change  

There is no impact  

Diversity This policy supports the promotion of diversity 
amongst our Council tenants 

Wards Affected All wards with Council housing 

Groups Affected Council tenants and leaseholders 

Budget and Policy Framework  This report does not represent a change to the 
budget and policy framework 

Key Decision This is not a key decision 
Urgent Decision This is not an urgent decision 

Council Plan This report supports the Council plan to ensure we 
are able to provide our tenants with good quality, 

safe housing 
Efficiency There are no implications  

Impact on Looked After Children 

and Care Leavers 

This report has no impact on Looked After Children 

or Care Leavers 

 
  

Page 132



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MAIN REPORT 
 

Information and Analysis 
 
7. Darlington Borough Council provides over 5,300 high quality homes for local residents.  

Housing Services recognises the harm domestic abuse can cause within our homes and 
communities.  Domestic abuse is often a hidden problem, but we want all our tenants and 
household members to be safe from the impact of domestic abuse. 
 

8. The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 places new duties on local authorities to ensure that victims 
of domestic abuse and their children can access the right support in safe accommodation, 
when they need it.  Housing Services plays an important role in tackling domestic abuse, 
being well placed to recognise the signs and support victims and survivors. 

 
9. The Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 2024-2029 at Appendix 1 sets out the 

following aims: 
 

(a) Ensure that all staff, partner agencies and contractors understand domestic abuse and 
give a consistent service when offering guidance and support. 

 
(b) Support survivors of domestic abuse and ensure that they and their families are 

provided with the stability and security they need and deserve. 
 
(c) Treat all disclosures of abuse seriously and give advice and assistance as a priority.   

 

(d) Work with statutory and voluntary organisations to support survivors, and take action 

against perpetrator’s tenancies, where it is safe and appropriate to do so. 
 

(e) Ensure all staff are trained in line with their roles and responsibilities and are pro-
active in looking for indicators of domestic abuse, so that it is identified at the earliest 

possible opportunity, in every case. 
 

(f) Ensure staff understand the role they can play in tackling domestic abuse and to 

develop a consistent approach across Housing Services. 
 

(g) Ensure staff are trained to deal with disclosures of domestic abuse effectively. 
 

(h) Act on all reports of domestic abuse and take appropriate action in all cases where an 
adult or child is identified as being at risk due to domestic abuse. 
 

(i) Support survivors to make decisions around their housing needs, whether they wish 

to remain in their home or move to a new home. 
 

(j) Signpost perpetrators of domestic abuse, who recognise and seek to change their 
behaviour, to agencies, including a Multi-Agency Task and Co-ordination (MATAC) 

referral, who can offer them support to prevent the abuse reoccurring. 
 

(k) Raise awareness of the signs and impacts of domestic abuse to our tenants, staff and 
contractors, as well as how to report it. 
 

Page 133



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) Consumer Standards 
 
10. The RSH has published new consumer standards from April 2024.  Under these new 

standards is a section specifically relating to how social housing landlords are to work co-
operatively with other agencies tackling domestic abuse and enable tenants to access 
appropriate support and advice. 
 

11. Specifically, the new standards state: 
 
(a) Registered providers must have a policy for how they recognise and effectively 

respond to cases of domestic abuse. 
 

(b) Registered providers must co-operate with appropriate local authority departments 

to support the local authority in meeting its duty to develop a strategy and 
commission services for victims of domestic abuse and their children within safe 

accommodation. 
 

12. Our Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy will help us demonstrate how we will achieve 
these new standards. 

 
Outcome of Consultation 

 
13. Consultation was undertaken in May 2024 with our Tenants Panel, Public Health, Harbour 

and Family Help, with full support given to the proposed Housing Services Domestic Abuse 
Policy.   

Page 134



Housing Services 
Domestic Abuse Policy 

2024 - 2029

PROOF - h
ra0

10
1

Page 135



2 | Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 2024 - 2029

Contents

Introduction...............................................................................................................................................................................3

Definition of domestic abuse ...............................................................................................................................................3

Definition of abusive behaviour............................................................................................................................................4

Policy Scope..............................................................................................................................................................................4

Relevant Legislation............................................................................................................................................................... 5

Relevant Internal policies, processes and customer standards................................................................................... 5

Aim of Policy............................................................................................................................................................................ 6

How will we recognise domestic abuse?............................................................................................................................7

How will we support our tenants? ...................................................................................................................................... 8

Sanctuary Scheme.................................................................................................................................................................10

Tenant Involvement...............................................................................................................................................................10

Implementation and Staff training....................................................................................................................................... 11

Equality & Diversity.................................................................................................................................................................11

Performance Monitoring........................................................................................................................................................11

Review of Policy......................................................................................................................................................................11

PROOF - h
ra0

10
1

Page 136



Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 2024 - 2029 | 3

Introduction

Domestic abuse is still a largely hidden crime and 
happens in all communities, regardless of gender, 
age, disability, gender reassignment, race, religion 
or belief, sexual orientation, marriage, or civil 
partnership, pregnancy, or maternity.

The Crime Survey for England and Wales 
estimated that 2.1 million people aged 16 years 
and over (1.4 million women and 751,000 
men) experienced domestic abuse in the 
year ending March 2023. www.ons.gov.uk/
peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/
bulletins/domesticabuseinenglandandwalesoverview/
november2023

Housing Services recognise the harm domestic 
abuse can cause within our homes and communities. 
Domestic abuse is often a hidden problem, but we 
want all our tenants and household members to be 
safe from the impact of domestic abuse, and this 

policy sets out our commitment to help tackle this, 
and how we will aim to manage and support any 
cases of domestic abuse.

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 placed new duties 
on local authorities across England, to ensure that 
victims of domestic abuse and their children can 
access the right support in safe accommodation 
when they need it. We play an important role in 
tackling domestic abuse, being well placed to 
recognise the signs of domestic abuse, and support 
victims and survivors. We will work closely with 
partner agencies such as local domestic abuse 
services, Police and Social Services, to help tackle 
and further prevent it.

Definition of Domestic Abuse

In line with the Domestic Abuse Act 2021, we define 
domestic abuse as, ‘the behaviour of a person 
towards another person, if they are each aged 16 or 
over and are personally connected to each other, 
and the behaviour is abusive’. It does not matter 
whether the behaviour consists of a single incident 
or a course of conduct. Domestic abuse is not 
exclusively for intimate relationships and can include 
family, friends, neighbours carers etc.

In line with the Act, we define behaviour as being 
abusive, if it consists of any of the following:

•	 Physical or sexual abuse.

•	 Violent or threatening behaviour.

•	 Controlling or coercive behaviour.

•	 Economic abuse.

•	 Psychological or emotional abuse.

•	 Elder abuse.

•	 Family or intergenerational abuse.

•	 Female genital mutilation.

•	 Financial abuse.

•	 Honour based violence.

•	 Forced marriage. 

•	 Stalking and harassment

We also class people as being personally connected, 
if any the following applies:

•	 They are, or have been, married to each other.

•	 They are, or have been, civil partners of each 
other.

•	 They have agreed to marry one another (whether 
or not the agreement has been terminated).

•	 They have entered into a civil partnership (as 
under the meaning given by section 73 of the 
Civil Partnership Act 2004) agreement (whether 
or not the agreement has been terminated).

PROOF - h
ra0

10
1

Page 137



•	 They are, or have been, in an intimate personal 
relationship with each other.

•	 They each have, or there has been a time when 
they each have had, a parental relationship in 
relation to the same child.

•	 They are relatives (as under section 63(1) of the 
Family Law Act 1996).

We also treat any child (person under 18 years of age) 
as a victim of domestic abuse if they: 

•	 See or hear, or experience the effect of, the 
abuse; and

•	 Are related to the victim or perpetrator.

We class a child as being related to a person if:

•	 The person is a parent of, or has parental 
responsibility for, the child, or

•	 The child and the person are relatives.

Parental relationship means when a person has a 
parental relationship with a child if:

•	 The person is a parent of the child, or

•	 The person has parental responsibility (as per 
Children’s Act 1989) for the child.

4 | Housing Services Climate Change Strategy 2024 - 2029

Definitions of Abusive Behaviour

Economic abuse means any behaviour that has a 
substantial adverse effect on a person’s ability to:

•	 acquire, use, or maintain money or other 
property, or

•	 obtain goods or services.

Controlling behaviour is acts designed to make a 
person subordinate and/or dependent by isolating 
them from sources of support, exploiting their 
resources and capacities for personal gain, depriving 
them of the means needed for independence, 
resistance and escape and regulating their everyday 
behaviour.

Coercive behaviour is an act or a pattern of acts of 
assault, threats, humiliation and intimidation or other 
abuse that is used to harm, punish, or frighten their 
victim. We recognise that this could cover issues 
such as FGM (Female Genital Mutilation), forced 
marriage, or ‘Honour-based’ violence.

For additional information on domestic abuse please 
go to www.familyhelp.org.uk/Information-Support

Policy Scope

This policy is applicable to all Housing Services’ 
current tenants, future tenants, and household 
members. It sets out how Housing Services will 
recognise, respond, assist, and support our existing 
and future tenants and household members that are 
experiencing or threatened with domestic abuse.

For the purpose of this policy, current, prospective 
and leasehold residents will be called tenants.

PROOF - h
ra0

10
1

Page 138



Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 2024 - 2029 | 5

Relevant Legislation

•	 Domestic Abuse Act 2021. 

•	 Domestic Violence, Crime and Victims Act 2004.

•	 Domestic Violence Disclosure Scheme (Clare’s 
Law).

•	 Police and Justice Act 2006.

•	 Data Protection Act 2018. 

•	 Modern Slavery Act 2015. 

•	 Serious Crime Act 2015. 

•	 Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 
2014.

•	 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012. 

•	 Equality Act 2010. 

•	 Child Safeguarding legislation including Children 
Act 2004. 

•	 Sexual Offences Act 2003. 

•	 Human Rights Act 1998.

•	 Protection from Harassment Act 1997. 

•	 Care Act 2014. 

•	 Housing Act 1996.

•	 Housing Act 1985 & 1988.

•	 Co. Durham and Darlington Domestic Abuse Safe 
Accommodation Strategy 2021-2024.

•	 Family Law Act 1996.

•	 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.

•	 Regulator of Social Housing – Neighbourhood & 
Community Standard.

Relevant internal policies, 
processes, and customer standards

•	 Co. Durham and Darlington Domestic Abuse Safe 
Accommodation Strategy 2021-2024.

•	 Housing Services Vulnerability Policy 2024-2029.

•	 Housing Services: Housing Management Policy 
2022-2026.

•	 Housing Services Anti-Social Behaviour Policy 
2022-2026.

•	 Housing Services Tenancy Agreement.

•	 Housing Complaints, Compliments and 
Comments Procedure.

•	 Housing Services Domestic Abuse Customer 
Standards. 

•	 www.darlington.gov.uk/health-and-social-
care/domestic-abuse/ 

PROOF - h
ra0

10
1

Page 139



6 | Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 2024 - 2029

Aims of the Policy

This policy aims to ensure that tenants who report 
they are experiencing domestic abuse are taken 
seriously and managed sensitively, in accordance 
with their needs. It aims to ensure all colleagues act 
in a non-judgemental and empathetic manner, which 
reflects the tenant’s best interests and wishes.

Housing Services tenants and household members 
should not live in fear of violence, abuse or 
harassment from a partner, former partner, or any 
member of family.

This policy aims to: 

•	 Ensure that all staff, partner agencies and 
contractors understand domestic abuse and give 
a consistent service when offering guidance and 
support. 

•	 Support survivors of domestic abuse and ensure 
that they and their families, are provided with the 
stability and security they need and deserve.

•	 Treat all disclosure of abuse seriously, and 
advice and assistance is given as a priority. 
We will work with statutory and voluntary 
organisations to support survivors, and to take 
action against perpetrator’s tenancies, where it is 
safe and appropriate to do so.

•	 Ensure all staff are trained in line with their roles 
and responsibilities and are pro-active in looking 
for indicators of domestic abuse, so that it is 
identified at the earliest possible opportunity, in 
every case.

•	 Ensure staff understand the role they can play 
in tackling domestic abuse and to develop a 
consistent approach across Housing Services.

•	 Ensure all staff are trained to deal with 
disclosures of domestic abuse effectively.

•	 Act on all reports of domestic abuse and take 
appropriate action in all cases, where an adult or 
child is identified as being at risk due to domestic 
abuse.

•	 Support survivors to make decisions around their 
housing needs, whether they wish to remain in 
their home or move to a new home.

•	 Signpost perpetrators of domestic abuse, who 
recognise and seek to change their behaviour, to 
agencies, including a Multi-Agency Task and Co-
ordination (MATAC) referral who can offer them 
support to prevent the abuse reoccurring.

•	 Raise awareness of the signs and impacts 
of domestic abuse to our tenants, staff and 
contractors. As well as how to report it.

PROOF - h
ra0

10
1

Page 140



How will we recognise domestic 
abuse?

We recognise that each case and incident should 
be assessed and dealt with on a case-by-case basis. 
Each situation is different, anyone can be a victim of 
domestic abuse.

The following are signs that someone may be at risk 
of domestic abuse and which all Housing Services 
staff will consider in their interactions with tenants 
(not exhaustive):

•	 Changes in a tenant’s or their household 
member’s behaviour or appearance.

•	 Changes in the social behaviour of a tenant or 
household member, such as no longer spending 
time with friends or family, cancelling repairs or 
appointments at short notice, making excuses 
about not attending planned events within the 
community.

•	 Overly defending their partner and their actions, 
and making excuses for their partner’s behaviour.

•	 A tenant’s partner insulting them in front of other 
people.

•	 A tenant’s partner being extremely jealous or 
possessive.

•	 Having unexplained marks or injuries.

•	 A tenant being depressed or anxious, or their 
personality changing.

•	 An increase in complaints from neighbours.

•	 An increased number of repairs for damage to 
the property.

•	 Not answering or returning phone calls.

•	 Not being able to speak or see Housing 
staff without their partner being 
present.

•	 A sudden change in rent behaviour, 
such as arrears where there haven’t 
been previously.

We may also be alerted to incidents of domestic 
abuse through (not exhaustive):

•	 A direct disclosure from a tenant to a member 
of Housing Services or through their housing 
application form.

•	 Our colleagues in Social Services and 
Safeguarding.

•	 The Police or other emergency services.

•	 Reports from concerned neighbours or family.

•	 An approach from another landlord or local 
authority for assistance with re-housing.

•	 The Sanctuary Scheme.

•	 An approach to third sector agencies such as 
Harbour.

•	 MARAC.

•	 An approach to our Housing Options team.

Housing Services Climate Change Strategy 2024 - 2029 | 7

PROOF - h
ra0

10
1

Page 141



8 | Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 2024 - 2029

How will we support our tenants?

To support our tenants who have or are suffering 
from domestic abuse, we will:

•	 Give all victims who are experiencing, or have 
experienced, domestic abuse access to accurate 
and appropriate advice about their housing 
options and signposting around their legal rights 
and responsibilities.

•	 Award victims of domestic abuse priority banding 
on Darlington HomeSearch, to assist them in 
finding alternative accommodation. (Please see 
the Housing Services Allocation Policy 2023-
2028 for more details).

•	 Ensure tenants can report domestic abuse to us 
through a variety of methods, including face to 
face, social media, through the website or email, 
the Darlington Home Online digital portal, or 
telephone.

•	 Respond to reports as soon as we can, but if 
someone feels there is an imminent danger, we 
will always recommend they contact the Police 
immediately.

•	 Act on all reports of domestic abuse that we 
receive and work closely with the tenant affected 
in decision making. We will also respond to 
reports from colleagues, contractors, external 
agencies, or other individuals, but we are mindful 
of a tenant’s consent to share information and 
will use information we receive sensitively 
(please note where we do not receive consent 
to share information but we have a safeguarding 
concern we may still approach Safeguarding 
colleagues for advice and guidance) .

•	 Work in partnership on any cases with internal 
and external departments and agencies, where 
we receive a report of domestic abuse.

•	 Work towards preventing and tackling domestic 
abuse to ensure that everybody can live free 
from fear, intimidation and violence based on the 
following principles:

•	 Those experiencing domestic abuse should 
never be made to feel responsible.

•	 Those experiencing domestic abuse should 
not be required to take any action they 
reasonably feel will place them in greater 
danger.

•	 Those experiencing domestic abuse are 
best able to assess the danger they are in.

•	 The individual’s perception of the situation 
will be of paramount importance.

•	 Actively engage with the MARAC (Multi-Agency 
Risk Assessment Conference) processes 
and other specialist agencies; and recognise 
partnership working is instrumental towards 
achieving a resolution. We will share information 
between agencies, as required, whilst ensuring 
all data protection protocols are maintained.

•	 Use the Domestic Abuse, Stalking and 
Harassment (DASH) Risk Checklist to plan 
actions and support victims, if this has not been 
completed by other agencies.

•	 Recognise that English may not be the first 
language for some tenants and commit to using 
translation services, where required.

•	 Offer to meet victims in an agreed safe 
location, using the tenant’s preferred method of 
communication and give them an opportunity to 
choose a colleague of a specific gender, where 
possible.

•	 Where emergency accommodation is required, 
we will offer advice and assistance and work 
with colleagues in the Housing Options team, 
to help try to arrange this. For more information 
see: www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-
of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter21-
domestic-abuse

•	 Provide reasonable increased security measures 
through the Sanctuary Scheme within/around 
Council owned homes, where required, for 
example, additional door locks. We sometimes 
refer to this as ‘target hardening’. This may 
involve working in conjunction with partner 
agencies.

•	 Aim to agree and review an action plan with the 
tenant, that considers any vulnerable members of 
the household.

PROOF - h
ra0

10
1

Page 142



Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 2024 - 2029 | 9

•	 Consider appropriate action against the 
perpetrator. This could also include, supporting 
the perpetrator and/or intervention programmes 
to try and prevent recurrence of abuse, or court 
action, to regain possession of the property.

•	 Support and empower individuals to report 
events to the Police.

•	 Recognise that cases of domestic abuse can 
be very sensitive and managing them must be 
done with care. Colleagues will ensure they only 
involve other agencies and share information 
with the tenant concerned when required.

•	 Raise safeguarding concerns about adults with 
care and support needs, or child protection 
concerns.

•	 Use our Housing ICT systems to ensure 
information is recorded confidentially, and not 
disclosed to any other household members 
without explicit consent. We will ensure that only 
Housing Services staff have access to the ICT 
system.

•	 Meet our statutory and safeguarding 
requirements in line with existing policies and 
procedures, where there are safeguarding 
concerns. In all cases of domestic abuse, 
colleagues should refer to the Safeguarding 
policy and take advice from Children’s Front Door 
or Adult Social Care. Any children witnessing 
domestic abuse would be considered a type 
of child abuse and safeguarding procedures 
should be followed. This also applies for any 
elderly household members, for example, where 
financial abuse is occurring.

•	 Ensure that, if any tenant is unhappy about 
anything related to the policy, or how they have 
been treated in accordance with the policy, 
they may complain in line with the Housing 
Complaints, Compliments and Comments 
Procedure.

•	 Promote how tenants can report Domestic Abuse 
to us through our social media or web pages, 
through this policy and leaflets and through our 
tenants magazine, Housing Connect.

•	 Signpost survivors of domestic abuse to local 
domestic abuse services for additional support.

PROOF - h
ra0

10
1

Page 143



10 | Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 2024 - 2029

Tenant Involvement

Our tenants are at the heart of what we do, and 
our Tenants Panel help us to improve our services 
through scrutiny, challenge and reviewing of policies 
and procedures.

We will ensure that our Tenants Panel are involved in 
reviewing this policy, processes and any complaints 
relating to this policy. We will raise awareness of 
domestic abuse through internal or external training 
opportunities for our Tenants Panel.

Sanctuary Scheme

The Sanctuary Scheme aims to support victims/
survivors of domestic abuse and their children to 
remain in their own homes where it is safe to do so, 
by installing safety equipment into the home. We will 
work closely with all relevant agencies to support 
the Sanctuary Scheme and make referrals where 
appropriate. 

The scheme is available to anyone in Darlington at 
risk of domestic abuse by a perpetrator that does not 
reside within the home.

How does it work?
•	 Once the risk is identified, a referral is sent by 

a professional, such as the Police or Harbour 
Support Services, to the Crime Prevention Office. 

•	 A Crime Prevention Officer will visit the property 
to assess what safety equipment will best 
support the victims/survivor and their children, to 
remain safely in the home. 

•	 The Council arranges for the safety equipment 
to be installed into the property by the Council’s 
Repairs team(s) who will support residents of 
the property to understand how the equipment 
works and how it will be of benefit. 

•	 Housing Services fund the works and equipment 
required in Housing owned properties to support 
tenants and their families to remain safely in their 
home.

How can the scheme be 
accessed by victims of 
Domestic Abuse?
•	 By reporting the abuse to Police and contacting 

Darlington’s domestic abuse support services 
(www.darlington.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/
domestic-abuse/). Any professional can make a 
referral into the scheme, so either the Police or 
support services can do this. 

•	 If the victim is already getting support from 
a professional, the person they are working 
with will be able to make a referral. It is always 
advisable that the Police are aware of the abuse.

•	 If the person the victim is working with is not 
aware of the scheme, they can access details 
from www.darlington.gov.uk/health-and-social-
care/domestic-abuse/.

•	 Professionals can request copies of the referral 
request form by emailing  
domestic.abuse@darlington.gov.uk 

PROOF - h
ra0

10
1

Page 144



Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 2024 - 2029 | 11

Review of Policy

This policy will be reviewed every five years unless 
business need, regulation or legislation prompts an 
early review.

Performance and Monitoring

To assist in our continuous improvement, we will use 
tenant feedback, complaints, and compliments to 
look for improvements and will involve our Tenants 
Panel and Council Members in monitoring this. 

Implementation & Staff Training

We will ensure effective implementation and 
advertising of this policy through our website and 
Housing Connect magazine.

We will ensure appropriate training and support 
is given to colleagues and that all Housing staff 
regularly complete the Corporate mandatory training 
on Domestic Abuse. 

We will use both internal and external training 
resources to ensure staff training is as up to date as 
possible.

We will carry out training, sharing good practice and 
case reviews with our staff in team meetings and will 
ensure support is available for staff through 1:1’s and 
an open-door policy to Team Leaders and Managers.

Equality & Diversity

We are committed to ensuring that we do not 
discriminate against any of our tenants, and we want 
to provide excellent service to our tenants. This 
means that for all our policies and strategies, we 
will consider any specific issues that might be faced 
by tenants with vulnerabilities or those in protected 
groups. We will make reasonable adjustments to our 
policies to assist our tenants, wherever possible.

We recognise that women and the LGBTQ+ 
community are disproportionately affected by 
domestic abuse however, we will ensure that we 
support any individual experiencing domestic abuse; 
irrespective of age, gender, sexuality, disability, 
race or ethnicity, sex, religion, social background, or 
any other protected characteristics identified in the 
Equality Act 2010.

PROOF - h
ra0

10
1

Page 145



hra0101

	 01325 405333

	 housing@darlington.gov.uk

	 www.darlington.gov.uk/housing

	 darlingtonbc

	 facebook.com/DBCHousing

Housing Services  
contact details

PROOF - h
ra0

10
1

Page 146



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

HEALTH AND HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
19 JUNE 2024 
 

 
AIR QUALITY STRATEGY 2024-2029 

 

 

SUMMARY REPORT 
 

Purpose of the Report 

 
1. To consider the draft Air Quality Strategy 2024 -2029 before approval by Cabinet. 

 
Summary 

 
2. Due to changes in national policy the Council is now required to produce an Air Quality 

Strategy for the Borough. 
 

3. Darlington Borough Council’s Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029 (see Appendix 1) aims to 
improve air quality, raise the profile and importance of air quality, provide information 

about local air quality and outline the vision, aims and key priorities going forward. 
 

4. The Strategy includes the following six aims: 
 

(a) Reduce emissions and protect public health 
(b) Raise awareness and influence change 
(c) Lead by example  
(d) Decrease exposure to air pollutants 
(e) Consider the impact of development on air quality 
(f) Ensure compliance with legislation  

 
5. The Strategy outlines work that has been done so far in relation to each aim and future 

actions going forward. 

 
Recommendation 
 
6. It is recommended that Members consider the Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029 (see 

Appendix 1) and agree its onward submission to Cabinet. 
 
Reasons 

 
7. The recommendations are supported by the following reasons :- 

 
(a) The Strategy demonstrates a commitment to improving air quality within the 

Borough. 
 

(b) The Strategy includes objectives and actions aimed at reducing emissions which will 
have positive effects on public health. 
 

Page 147

Agenda Item 10



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Mark Ladyman 
Assistant Director for Economic Growth 

 
Background Papers 
Darlington Borough Council 2023 Air Quality Annual Status Report (ASR) 
 
Carol  Whelan : Extension 6437 

 

S17 Crime and 
Disorder 

There is expected to be no impact on crime and disorder in Darlington. 

Health and 

Wellbeing 

The Council has identified the Health of the people of the Borough as a 

key priority.  The Air Quality Strategy includes a section explaining both 
the short term and long terms health impacts of exposure to air 

pollution and the first aim of the Strategy is to reduce emissions and 
protect public health.  

Carbon Impact and 
Climate Change  

The Air Quality Strategy contributes to our commitment to reducing 
Darlington Borough Council’s carbon emissions to net zero (carbon-

neutral) by 2040. Actions within the Climate Change Strategy and 
Action Plan to reduce carbon emissions will see co-benefits such as 

cleaner air.  
Diversity Air Quality affects everyone, health inequalities do exist in that some 

people are more affected, for example, because they live in a more 
polluted area, are exposed to higher levels of air pollution in their day-

to-day lives or are more susceptible to health problems linked to air 
pollution such as children, the elderly and those with pre-existing 
conditions.  

Wards Affected The Air Quality Strategy is applicable to all wards, but certain wards 
which have main arterial road networks will be greater impacted by 

road traffic emissions and currently only Darlington urban area is 
covered by smoke control areas and not the surrounding villages.  

Groups Affected The Air Quality Strategy is applicable to all groups.  
Budget and Policy 
Framework  

This report does not recommend a change to the Council’s budget or 
policy framework. 

Key Decision This is not a key decision. 

Urgent Decision This is not an urgent decision. 
Council Plan The Air Quality Strategy will contribute to improving air quality and to 

the aspirations of the Council Plan of Darlington becoming a healthier, 
more sustainable, well-planned place where people want to live, and 

businesses want to locate and where the economy continues to grow. 
Efficiency The delivery of the strategy will be undertaken with existing staffing 

and financial resources, the extent of delivery of the educational and 
pro-active work by Environmental Health will be determined by staff 
resources and the demands of other statutory work.  

Impact on Looked 
After Children and 

Care Leavers 

The report does not impact on Looked after Children and Care Leavers. 

 
 

 

Page 148



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MAIN REPORT 
 

Information and Analysis 
 
8. The Local Air Quality Framework was established by Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 

Local Air Quality Management (LAQM), and more recently amended by the Environment 
Act 2021 and includes the relevant Policy and Technical Guidance documents.  The LAQM 
process places an obligation on all local authorities to regularly review and assess air 
quality in their areas, and to determine whether or not the air quality objectives are likely 
to be achieved.  

 
9. Monitoring of air quality by the Council is carried out using diffusion tubes at a number of 

locations throughout the borough to measure levels of nitrogen dioxide (NO2).  In 

Darlington air quality monitoring results has shown that air quality objectives are being 
achieved and there is no need to declare any air quality management areas.  The Strategy 

acknowledges the Council cannot be complacent in this and need to ensure that as the 
borough continues to grow and develop, we maintain good air quality and strive to bring 

about further improvements. 
 

10. The main pollutants of concern in Darlington are nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate 
matter (PM2.5 and PM10) arising from road traffic emissions and PM2.5 associated with 

wood burners which have increased in popularity recently.  
 
11. The Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance which was updated in August 2022 

states that from 2023 in England where a local authority does not have an air quality 
management area declared, which is the case for Darlington Borough Council, they are 
now required to create a local Air Quality Strategy.  

 
12. The Air Quality Strategy is not a replacement for the Air Quality Annual Status Report (ASR) 

which is produced by the Council summarising air quality data, comparing data with air 

quality objectives, outlining steps taken to improve air quality and to report on significant 
new developments.  The reports are submitted to Defra for approval on an annual basis. 

Defra have stated they will monitor whether Local Authorities have or are developing a 
local Air Quality Strategy through the ASR appraisal process. 

 
13. There is no set format for local Air Quality Strategies, but the Government expectation is 

that all local authorities will take proactive measures to improve air quality regardless of 
whether or not they have air quality management areas and encourage the prevention 

and reduction of polluting activities. 
 

14. Darlington Borough Council’s Air Quality Strategy aims to improve air quality, raise the 
profile and importance of air quality, provide information about local air quality and 

outline the vision, aims and key priorities going forward.  
 

15. The strategy provides a framework for work carried out by the Council going forward in 

relation to air pollution and improving air quality which builds on work that has already 
been undertaken by various section of the Council and complements objectives within 
existing Transport Plans, Climate Change Action Plan and the Local Plan.  

 

Page 149



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

16. The Strategy includes the following six aims: 
 
(a) Reduce emissions and protect public health – Minimise emissions from road traffic 

and domestic burning. 
 

(b) Raise awareness and influence change – Educational campaigns to encourage and 
enable behavioural changes on issues such as unnecessary idling of engines, wood 
burning. 
 

(c) Lead by example – Ensure we lead the way as a Council for example with the use of 
electric vehicles.  The Council has an electric fleet of vehicles currently consisting of: 
 

(i) Building Services 16 

(ii) Highways 3 
(iii) Building Cleaning 2 

(iv) Street Scene 2 
(v) Cemeteries 1 

(vi) Pest Control  1 
(vii) South Park Gardener 1 

(viii) Occupational Therapy 1 
(ix) Library Service 1 

 
(d) Decrease exposure to air pollutants – To increase awareness of the effects of poor air 

quality and how to minimise exposure. 
 

(e) Consider the impact of development on air quality – Ensure the air quality impact of 
development is assessed and wherever possible, secure improvements to mitigate 
impacts on air quality via the planning process. 
 

(f) Ensure compliance with legislation – Fulfil our statutory obligations to report on air 

quality within the Borough, enforce smoke control legislation, regulate Part B 
activities under the environmental permitting regulations. 

 
17. The Strategy outlines work that has been done so far in relation to each aim and future 

actions going forward.  Some of this work is linked to existing priorities such as providing 
sustainable transport and the good work already undertaken by the Council to promote 

cleaner vehicles in the Taxi Licensing Policy. 
 

18. The future actions are summarised within the Strategy and include the following: 
 

(a) Work to continue to expand the active travel network and encourage shift to more 
sustainable transport modes as well as improving awareness of traffic free 

walking/cycling routes. 
 

(b) Provision of information and education campaigns to educate and raise awareness of 

the public, businesses etc. on how to reduce emissions.  Work will continue with 
regard to the education interventions in relation to idling and wood burning and to 
raise awareness on how to improve indoor air quality. 
 

Page 150



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) Promote and encourage the uptake of cleaner energy. 
 

(d) Expansion of electric vehicle infrastructure and continue to reduce emissions from the 
Council fleet and buildings. 
 

(e) To review and consider expanding the extent of the Smoke Control Area in Darlington. 
 
19. It is proposed that the strategy will be reviewed every five years and progress will be 

reported in the Annual Status Report submitted to Defra and published on the Council’s 
website.   

 
Financial Implications  
 

20. The delivery of the priorities and future actions contained within the Air Quality Strategy 
will be delivered by the Environmental Health team working collaboratively with other 

sections of the Council such as Transport, Climate Change, Development Management and 
in terms of campaign work the Council’s Communication and Marketing teams. 

 
21. There are no plans for any additional staff resources and funding will be provided from 

existing Environmental Health Budget and government funding as and when available. 
 

Legal Implications 

 
22. Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 Local Air Quality Management, as amended by the 

Environment Act 2021, and the relevant Policy and Technical Guidance documents.  The 
LAQM process places an obligation on all local authorities to regularly review and assess 

air quality in their areas, and to determine whether or not the air quality objectives are 
likely to be achieved.  

 
23. The Council submits an Annual Status Report to Defra on an annual basis detailing the 

actions taken to improve air quality, air quality monitoring data and comparison with air 
quality objectives.  

 

24. There is no statutory requirement for Local Authorities to produce an Air Quality Strategy, 
but the requirement is included in Government Policy.  

 
Carbon Impact and Climate Change 

 
25. The Air Quality Strategy contributes to our commitment to reducing Darlington Borough 

Council’s carbon emissions to net zero (carbon-neutral) by 2040.  Actions within the 
Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan to reduce carbon emissions will see co-benefits 

such as cleaner air. 
 

Consultation 

 
26. Consultation has taken place with other Sections of the Council.  There is no requirement 

to consult, and no public consultation has been carried out.  
 

Page 151



This page is intentionally left blank



Air Quality Strategy 
2024 – 2029 

June 2024

DRAFT

Page 153



2 | Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029

Contents
Foreword		 3

Executive Summary	 4

Introduction	 5

Air Pollution, Sources and Health	 6

	 What is air pollution?	 6

	 Sources	 6

	 Health Impacts	 7

Air Quality in Darlington	 8

The vision for Darlington	 9

	 Aims of the Strategy	 9

	 Who will we work with?	 10

	 What we have achieved so far & Key Priorities going forward	 11

	 What can you do to help?	 17

Monitoring Progress	 18

Review of the Strategy	 18

DRAFT

Page 154



Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029 | 3

Foreword
“Clean air is essential to the quality of life and health of everyone who lives, works in or visits our Borough 
and we are committed to protecting and improving air quality for the benefit of current and future 
generations. 

Minimising air pollution levels will bring lasting benefits, with positive effects on public health, economic 
growth, and population wellbeing. Only by working collaboratively including across the Council, with 
external partners and our community can we bring about meaningful improvements in air quality. 

This air quality strategy will contribute to improving air quality and Darlington becoming a healthier, more 
sustainable, well-planned place where people want to live, and businesses want to locate and where the 
economy continues to grow.”

Cllr Matthew Roche Cllr Chris McEwan 

DRAFT

Page 155



4 | Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029

Executive Summary
Improving air quality is important to Darlington Borough Council. This is our first air quality strategy 
produced by Environmental Health, which sets out plans for 2024 – 2029 on how we aim to do this. 

The quality of the air around us should not be taken for granted and councils need to ensure they are doing 
all they can to safeguard areas of good air quality and bring about improvements in other areas to protect 
public health and the environment.

The mortality burden of air pollution within the UK is equivalent to 29,000 to 43,000 deaths at typical ages1, 
with a total estimated healthcare cost to the NHS and social care of £157 million in 20172. 

Darlington takes air quality seriously and we are fortunate in that the air quality in our area meets national air 
quality objectives. We continue to monitor air quality across the borough and always strive to make further 
improvements where possible. In Darlington the principal pollutants of concern are particulates (PM2.5 and 
PM10) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2) arising predominantly from road traffic emissions.

The Environmental Health team of Darlington Borough Council is responsible for monitoring air quality, 
promoting and educating on air quality matters, helping to maintain the good air quality in the borough by 
commenting on planning applications, and producing reports for DEFRA to fulfil our statutory obligations 
under the Environment Act 1995, as amended by the Environment Act 2021, as well as regulating certain 
industrial processes under the provisions of the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 
2016 (as amended). We also have enforcement powers under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 
relating to statutory nuisance associated with smoke, dust and fumes from premises (chimneys and garden 
bonfires) and the Clean Air Act 1993 (as amended by the Environment Act 2021) relating to dark smoke 
offences and smoke control area requirements.

This strategy will look at the actions and interventions Darlington Borough Council currently undertake and 
identify new areas which can be explored to make further improvements. Further information on local air 
quality management including monitoring data and actions to improve air quality can be found in the Air 
Quality Annual Status Report which is available on the Council’s website.

It also contributes to our commitment to reducing Darlington Borough Council’s carbon emissions to net 
zero (carbon-neutral) by 2040, following the Council’s recognition of the existence of the climate emergency 
declared in July 2019. The Strategy links to wider National policies including Defra’s Environmental 
Improvement Plan 2023, the Clean Air Strategy 2019, The Road to Zero 2018 and the National Air Quality 
Strategy 2023.

1Defra. Air quality appraisal: damage cost guidance, March 2023.
2Public Health England. Estimation of costs to the NHS and social care due to the health impacts of air pollution: summary report, May 2018.

DRAFT

Page 156



Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029 | 5

Introduction
Darlington is a great place to live, work and visit. Good air quality is an important factor in making sure this 
continues to be the case and to protect our health and the environment. While we have not been required 
to produce an air quality strategy before, since no air quality management areas exist, measures have been 
implemented or are ongoing which do have a bearing on improving air quality. 

It is important to continually work towards reducing exposure to pollutants, even where air quality objectives 
are met. This is particularly important for fine particulate matter (PM2.5) where there are no safe levels of 
exposure. 

Air quality in Darlington is generally good and monitoring shows compliance with national air quality 
objectives. Our Annual Status Reports (ASRs) provide a yearly update on monitoring data; measures to 
improve air quality; new identified sources and issues; and progress made, which is submitted to Defra for 
approval, in line with the statutory local air quality management framework responsibilities under Part IV of 
the Environment Act 1995, as amended by the Environment Act 2021.

This Air Quality Strategy (AQS) will support the measures highlighted in the annual status report and outlines 
how we plan to continue to work towards improving air quality within our borough.

In July 2019, the Council acknowledged the threat of climate change and passed a motion committing the 
Council to reach net zero carbon emissions by 2050. In July 2023, a new motion reaffirming the climate 
emergency declaration and bringing the date forward to 2040, was passed. As part of the commitment, 
a strategy and action plan has been developed to set out the baseline of our own carbon emissions, to 
identify the key actions and intervention measures required to meet this commitment and what measures 
we will take to deal with unavoidable impacts of climate change, recognising that the actions will see co-
benefits such as cleaner air.  

The Air Quality Strategy integrates with the existing measures being taken to reduce carbon emissions. 
It also complements objectives in the Strategic Transport Plan 2020-2030 (covering the five Tees Valley 
Local Authorities) and Darlington’s Transport Plan 2022-2030 in looking to reduce transport’s impact on 
the environment to improve air quality and support health and wellbeing. The Darlington Borough Council 
Local Plan 2016-2036 Policy DC 3 Health and Wellbeing – requires all new development that may cause 
air pollution to incorporate measures to prevent or reduce their pollution so as not to cause unacceptable 
impacts on the living conditions of all existing and potential future occupants of land and buildings.

DRAFT

Page 157



6 | Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029

Air Pollution, Sources and Health
What is air pollution?
Air pollution is a substance or complex mixture of particles and gases in the air that cause harm to people’s 
health (Defra, Air Pollution: applying All Our Health, 2022), as well as the environment. It affects both the 
indoor and outdoor environment. 

Pollutants include nitrogen oxides, particulate matter, volatile organic compounds, ozone and sulphur 
dioxide. While carbon dioxide is not considered an air pollutant as such as it occurs naturally in the air, it’s 
concentration in the atmosphere has significantly increased due to human activity.

Sources
Air pollutants are emitted from both natural and human sources. Everyday activities such as driving, heating 
our homes, manufacturing goods and agricultural activities can all impact air quality. 

(Defra, Where does air pollution come from?) 

Some pollutants can also travel large distances with the prevailing winds i.e., transboundary. This is 
particularly true for fine particulate matter (PM2.5) which due to its extremely small size can travel long 
distances in the air. This also includes natural sources of transboundary PM2.5 such as desert dust from the 
Sahara.

DRAFT

Page 158



Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029 | 7

Health Impacts
Air pollution can cause both short term and long-term effects on health and can exacerbate existing 
conditions such as asthma. Poor air quality can affect health at all stages of life.

(UK Health Security Agency, 2018)

Although air pollution can be harmful to everyone, health inequalities do exist in that some people are 
more affected, for example, because they live in a more polluted area, are exposed to higher levels of air 
pollution in their day-to-day lives or are more susceptible to health problems linked to air pollution such as 
children, the elderly and those with pre-existing conditions.

The Government air quality objectives relate to the protection of human health at areas of relevant 
exposure, with examples of areas of relevant exposure given in the Local Air Quality Management Technical 
Guidance (TG22)3.

PM2.5 is the pollutant which is considered most harmful to human health and targeted for future action.

3Defra, Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance (TG22) August 2022.

DRAFT

Page 159



8 | Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029

Air Quality in Darlington
In the borough, the main pollutants of concern are nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter (PM2.5 and 
PM10) which primarily arises from road traffic emissions from the main arterial road network, which connects 
the relatively densely populated centre of Darlington out to its more rural surroundings. Other sources 
include from domestic and commercial heating (combustion) including wood burning which has increased in 
popularity recently. 

The majority of the Darlington urban area is within a smoke control area, subject to Smoke Control Orders.

Darlington does not have any large industrial areas, and of the industry we do have certain installations are 
covered by the environmental permitting regime to control emissions to air.

Monitoring of air quality by the Council is carried out using diffusion tubes at a number of locations 
throughout the borough to measure levels of NO2. 

The monitoring of NO2 shows air quality in Darlington is generally good and government objectives are 
being met. However, we cannot be complacent in this and need to ensure that as the borough continues to 
grow and develop, we maintain good air quality and strive to bring about further improvements. 

At the time of publication of this Strategy a PM2.5 monitor is being considered for a site in Darlington as 
part of the Automatic Urban and Rural Network (AURN) and Darlington is committed to playing our part in 
helping to achieve the government targets for PM2.5.

DRAFT

Page 160



Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029 | 9

The vision for Darlington
This air quality strategy will contribute to improving air quality and Darlington becoming a healthier, more 
sustainable, well-planned place where people want to live, and businesses want to locate and where the 
economy continues to grow. 

Aims of the Strategy 
The main aims of our Air Quality Strategy are as follows:

1.	 Reduce emissions and 
protect public health

Minimise emissions from road traffic as well as from industrial and 
other sources, to lower NO2 and particulate matter emissions while 
reducing greenhouse gases. 
Minimise emissions associated with domestic burning while helping 
to improve indoor and outdoor air quality. 

2.	 Raise awareness and 
influence change

Raise awareness through education to encourage and enable 
behaviour changes.

3.	 Lead by example Ensure we lead the way as a Council and working with stakeholders/
partners by minimising the environmental impact of Council activities.

4.	 Decrease exposure to air 
pollutants

Provide information to residents, employers, workers, and visitors, 
especially those who are more susceptible to the effects of poor air 
quality, to increase understanding of the effects of exposure to poor 
air quality and how to minimise exposure.

5.	 Consider the impact of 
development on air quality 

Ensure the air quality impact of development within the borough is 
assessed and, wherever possible, to secure improvements to or 
mitigate impacts on local air quality in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

6.	 Ensure compliance with 
legislation

Fulfil statutory obligations such as:  

•	 Environment Act 1995 (as amended by the Environment Act 
2021) (Local air quality management - monitoring and reporting 
requirements).

•	 Environmental Protection Act 1990 (statutory nuisance provisions).
•	 Clean Air Act 1993 (as amended by the Environment Act 2021) 

(dark smoke and smoke control area requirements).
•	 The Air Quality (Domestic Solid Fuels Standards) (England) 

Regulations 2020 (sale/certification of domestic solid fuel).
•	 Environmental Permitting Regulations (England & Wales) 2016 (as 

amended) (regulation of ‘Part B’ activities).

DRAFT

Page 161



10 | Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029

Who will we work with?
Air pollution is everyone’s problem. Improvements to air quality cannot be undertaken as a standalone 
factor, and collaborative working between Local Authority departments including Public Health and 
Transport, organisations, businesses, and residents is essential, and opportunities must be considered on 
an ongoing basis as they arise. Darlington Borough Council will also continue to work with the other Tees 
Valley Local Authorities.

Most people will be aware of air pollution caused by large industrial sites or major urban road networks. 
Yet many will be unaware that emissions in their own homes not only increases their personal exposure to 
pollutants but contributes significantly to our national emissions. 

One of the main focuses of the intervention work by the Environmental Health team is around education of 
the public on the action they can take e.g. unnecessary idling of vehicle engines, heating of homes, to raise 
awareness and influence change.

DRAFT

Page 162



Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029 | 11

What we have achieved so far and Key 
Priorities going forward

Aim Implemented Measure Future action(s)

1.	 Reduce 
emissions 
and protect 
public 
health

Taxi licensing policy (2021)
•	 Requirement for all vehicles to be Euro 

6 compliant or emission free from 1 April 
2023. 

•	 Incentive – 25% reduction in fees for 
cleaner fuels.

Sustainable transport
•	 Arriva who operates most bus services in 

Darlington: 
•	 Number of buses with stop start 

technology.
•	 All buses have engine cut offs 4/5 

minutes.
•	 All vehicles are Euro 5 or Euro 6 

compliant.
•	 The Tees Flex bus service was launched in 

February 2020, providing an on-demand 
bus service to areas of the region (including 
Darlington) previously not well served by 
public transport. The three-year trial has 
been extended for a further 18 months from 
February 2023. This is part of the work 
carried out by the Tees Valley Combined 
Authority (TVCA).

Cleaner energy
•	 Supporting households/businesses to 

undertake energy efficiency works, using 
available grant funding, including through 
the work done by the Council’s Private 
Sector Housing and Invest in Darlington 
Team. 
•	 A six-figure investment saw the 

transformation of Coniscliffe House, 
office space which now benefits from 
electric charging points, LED lighting, 
air source heat pumps, A++ rated air 
conditioning, a bike store and roof 
mounted solar panels. 

Taxi licensing policy (2021)
•	 Deadline extended - all vehicles to 

be Euro 6 compliant no later than 
31 March 2024.

•	 Continue to explore ways to 
encourage uptake of less polluting 
vehicles among the private hire 
and hackney carriage taxi trade.

Sustainable Transport
•	 Work set to continue to expand 

the active travel network.

Educational Campaigns
•	 Continue to educate people 

and raise awareness on how 
to reduce emissions, protect 
health and bring about air quality 
improvements through campaign 
work.

•	 To investigate correlation between 
air quality and health inequalities 
local to Darlington to help target 
future work.

Cleaner energy
•	 Continue to work with and support 

householders/businesses in the 
uptake of low-emission energy 
technologies and improvements 
in efficiencies and reduce the 
reliance on the consumption 
of fossil and solid fuels, as 
opportunities arise.

Lead by example
•	 See Aim 3.

DRAFT

Page 163



12 | Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029

Aim Implemented Measure Future action(s)

2.	 Raise  
awareness 
and 
influence 
change

Educational Campaigns
•	 Woodburning campaign (2023/24) ‘Burn 

Right’ - aimed at educating people on 
smoke control area requirements and 
burning suitable fuel.
•	 Social media messages, press releases, 

website updates, billboard graphics.
•	 School idling campaign (2023) ‘Care for 

Clean Air’ - aimed at reducing unnecessary 
idling of vehicle engines when parked 
outside schools.
•	 Social media messages, press releases, 

website updates, information provided to 
schools, lamppost signs, banners.

•	 Taxi idling campaign (2022).
•	 Leaflets distributed to hackney taxi 

drivers to raise awareness on idling.
•	 One Darlington Magazine Article (2019) on 

air pollution and health.
•	 Woodburning article One Darlington 

Magazine (2018).
•	 Safe Routes to School Programme.

•	 Road improvement schemes to increase 
safety and encourage more to walk and 
cycle.

Infrastructure
•	 Provision of electric vehicle charging points 

in Town Centre car parks.
•	 Introduction of a Local Cycling and Walking 

Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) which sets out 
the ambition to provide approximately 92 
kilometres of new and improved cycling and 
walking routes over coming years across 
the Tees Valley (including Darlington).

Information
•	 Provision of reliable, up to date information 

and advice/signposting in relation to: 
•	 Advice given by Healthy Darlington/

Move More and Darlington Travel 
Advisors to residents, businesses 
and educational establishments on 
sustainable/greener travel choices/travel 
planning/routes. 

Educational Campaigns
•	 Further educational inventions 

proposed including in relation to 
wood burning, and smoke control 
area requirements.

•	 Expansion of the idling campaign 
to target the general public, 
delivery drivers as well as bus 
companies and other businesses.

•	 Take part in National Clean Air 
Day.

•	 Consideration of a ‘No idling’ 
action day.

•	 Indoor air quality.
•	 Analyse data trends/information to 

be able to target future campaigns 
where appropriate, and consider 
the use of newer monitoring 
technologies and equipment 
to support campaign work 
particularly around woodburning 
and engine idling.

Infrastructure
•	 Aim to expand the electric vehicle 

charging infrastructure/provision/
use of alternative cleaner fuels.

Information
•	 Continue to provide information 

to allow people to make informed 
choices, including in relation to:
•	 Improving awareness of traffic 

free walking/cycling routes.
•	 Promotion of works undertaken 

to encourage a shift to more 
sustainable modes of transport, 
including cycling and walking, 
as well as the electric vehicle 
charging infrastructure 
available.

•	 Smoke control area 
requirements.

•	 Health impacts linked to air 
quality.

DRAFT

Page 164



Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029 | 13

Aim Implemented Measure Future action(s)

•	 Smoke control area requirements.
•	 Air Quality Annual Status Report 

including monitoring data.
•	 Climate Change.
•	 	Energy saving, cleaner energy and 

energy efficiency (including improvement 
schemes and funding opportunities.

•	 Air Quality Annual Status 
Reports including monitoring 
data.

•	 	Climate Change.
•	 Energy saving, cleaner energy 

and energy efficiency.

3.	 Lead by 
example

Council fleet
•	 Electric vehicles 

•	 Currently used by Building services, 
Highways, Building cleaning, Street 
Scene, Cemeteries, Pest Control, South 
Park Gardener. 

•	 Use of ‘Green-Link’ couriers which is 
Darlington’s first and only zero-emission 
delivery and distribution company.

Council buildings
•	 Solar panels installed on the Town Hall roof.

Council infrastructure
•	 Electric vehicle charging points installed at 

depot to support current electric vehicle 
fleet.

Council housing
•	 Solar panels.

•	 Around 300 Council properties have 
solar panels installed.

•	 Other property upgrades carried out 
including installation of air source heat 
pumps.

Council employees
•	 Sustainable transport incentives.

•	 Arriva Employee Travel Club – offers 
savings on local Arriva bus travel to 
employees.

•	 Cycle 2 Work Scheme (Vivup) – salary 
sacrifice initiative allowing employees 
to hire a bike and accessories up to the 
value of £1,500.

•	 Green Car Leasing Scheme – the 
Council has teamed up with NHS Fleet 
Solutions to offer opportunities to lease a 
brand new electric car.

Council fleet
•	 Continue to reduce emissions 

from our fleet by replacing petrol/
diesel vehicles with electric/
alternatively fuelled vehicles, as 
they are due to be renewed.

•	 The use of HVO (hydrotreated 
vegetable oil) fuel in Council HGVs 
(heavy goods vehicles) is being 
trialled.

Council buildings
•	 Continue to look at ways/

opportunities to reduce emissions 
from our buildings. 

Council housing
•	 Darlington Borough Council’s 

Housing Services Climate Change 
Strategy 2024-2029 sets out 
actions proposed going forward. 

Procurement
•	 Look at the Council’s procurement 

policy to ensure it aims to select 
products and services that 
minimise negative and promote 
positive environmental impacts. 

•	 Continue to look at ways/
opportunities to reduce emissions 
to air through our contracts.

Training
•	 Implementation of an ‘Air Quality/

Green Driver Training’ module as 
part of the essential skills training 
for all staff on Academy 10 (the 
Council’s training platform).

DRAFT

Page 165



14 | Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029

Aim Implemented Measure Future action(s)

•	 Blended working policy.
•	 Home working option – reduced staff 

travel.

Climate Emergency
•	 Pledge to reduce the Councils carbon 

emissions to net zero by 2040. 

Travel
•	 Implementation of an updated 

Staff Travel Plan.

4.	 Decrease 
exposure 
to air 
pollutants

Sustainable transport
•	 Work on cycling and walking routes 

including those away from major roads. 

Infrastructure
•	 Pedestrianisation of the Town Centre (2007). 

Sustainable transport
•	 Work set to continue to expand 

the active travel network as part 
of the Tees Valley Local Cycling 
and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
(LCWIP), including options away 
from main roads etc.

Reducing Emissions in the Home
•	 Continue to educate people and 

raise awareness on how to bring 
about air quality improvements 
in relation to indoor air quality, in 
particular around the subject of 
wood burning.

DRAFT

Page 166



Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029 | 15

Aim Implemented Measure Future action(s)

5.	 Consider the 
impact of 
development 
on air quality 

Development Management
•	 Air quality is a material planning 

consideration. Air quality assessments are 
required for certain planning applications, 
for example where a development is a 
source of air pollutants itself, or where it is 
proposed to introduce sensitive receptors 
to areas with existing sources of air 
pollutants. 

Planning Policy
•	 Darlington Borough Council’s Local Plan 

2016 – 2036 (adopted February 2022)
•	 Policy DC 1 Sustainable Design Principles 

and Climate Change (Strategic Policy) 
– to help reduce carbon emissions and 
increase the resilience of developments 
to the effects of climate change.

•	 Policy DC 3 Health and Wellbeing 
– All new development that may 
cause air pollution required to 
incorporate measures to prevent and 
reduce their pollution so as not to 
cause unacceptable impacts on the 
living conditions of all existing and 
potential future occupants of land and 
buildings. Submission of Health Impact 
Assessments for certain developments 
to explain how heath considerations 
have informed the design.

•	 Policy IN 3 Transport Assessments 
and Travel Plans – to promote and 
encourage the use of sustainable 
transport.

•	 Policy IN 4 Parking Provision including 
Electric Vehicle Charging – includes 
requirements for electric charging at 
certain residential and non-residential 
developments.

Development Management
•	 Continue to assess planning 

applications for air quality 
impacts, to ensure developments, 
wherever possible, secure 
improvements to or mitigate 
impacts on local air quality. 

Planning Policy
•	 Continue to ensure development 

accords with the Local Plan.

Council Policy
•	 Look to establish a strategic 

framework which brings air quality 
considerations to the heart of 
Council policies, procedures, and 
decisions, to ensure we are well 
placed to secure improvements 
across the Borough going forward. 
Alongside ‘Carbon impact and 
Climate Change’.

DRAFT

Page 167



16 | Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029

Aim Implemented Measure Future action(s)

6.	 Ensure 
compliance 
with 
legislation

Local Air Quality Monitoring 
•	 Formal review and assessment of local 

air quality compiled into the Air Quality 
Annual Status Report submitted to Defra 
on an annual basis. The latest reports 
are available at: www.darlington.gov.uk/
environmental-health/pollution/air-quality/ 

Domestic combustion
•	 Enforcement of the Environmental 

Protection Act 1990 in relation to statutory 
nuisance i.e., smoke from premises, 
includes smoke from chimneys and garden 
bonfires. 

•	 Enforcement of the Clean Air Act 1993 in 
relation to smoke control area requirements. 

•	 Enforcement of The Air Quality (Domestic 
Solid Fuels Standards) (England) Regulations 
2020 in relation to the sale/certification of 
fuel sold at retailers in the Darlington area. 

Industrial processes
•	 Environmental Permitting – regulation 

of Part B installations. Permits include 
conditions relating to controlling emissions 
to air and the installations are subject to 
routine inspections based on risk. 

•	 Dark smoke offences under the Clean Air 
Act 1993.

•	 To continue to fulfil our duties 
under relevant legislation and 
take action as appropriate in line 
with our Enforcement Policy and 
legislation.

•	 To review and consider expanding 
the extent of the Smoke Control 
Area in Darlington.

The above table is not exhaustive but focuses on key measures/priorities.DRAFT

Page 168

http://www.darlington.gov.uk/environmental-health/pollution/air-quality/
http://www.darlington.gov.uk/environmental-health/pollution/air-quality/


Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029 | 17

What can you do to help?
There are steps we can all take to help bring about air quality improvements in the Borough. Below are 
some examples and links to further information:

Travel
•	 Leave the car at home. 

•	 Don’t idle when stationary – turn off your vehicle engine.

•	 Use public transport.

•	 Walk or cycle.

•	 Choose quieter/cleaner routes.

For further information visit: https://teesvalley-ca.gov.uk/travel/ and 
www.darlington.gov.uk/media/18126/care-about-your-air.pdf 

Domestic burning
•	 Comply with smoke control requirements - Burn Right.

•	 Make an informed decision when choosing whether to install a wood burner or multi-fuel stove.

For further information visit: www.darlington.gov.uk/burnright

4Defra, Environmental Improvement Plan 2023

DRAFT

Page 169



18 | Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029

Monitoring Progress 
The main indicator that will be used to review the effectiveness of the strategy relates to monitored 
pollutants and downward trends being shown in monitoring results. Continued effort will be made to 
maintain and expand our monitoring network as necessary. 

While air quality data is one aspect, the growth of the electric charge point network, use of public transport 
and implementation of cycle routes are other examples which demonstrate how the Borough is changing 
and making improvements for the better.

The Government is committed to drive down emissions and has adopted reduction targets for five of the 
most damaging pollutants including nitrogen oxides and PM2.5

4. The work outlined by this Strategy will 
contribute to this by taking action at a local level. Success can only however be measured on a national 
level, with the main influences likely to come from wider government policy decisions. Notwithstanding this, 
Darlington Borough Council is committed to playing their part and improving air quality.

Further consideration will be given to how we can monitor the impact of our air quality campaign work 
going forward, including consideration of newer technologies and equipment such as mobile sensors.

The progress made with the priorities and actions identified within the strategy will be reported in the Air 
Quality Annual Status Report’s.

Review of the Strategy
The AQS will be kept under review, with the proposal to update the publication after five years, and will take 
into account the following:

•	 Changes to relevant air quality legislation, regulations, including National Strategies/Policies/guidance, 

•	 Introduction of new legislation or regulations,

•	 Changes in local circumstances, such as the introduction of any Air Quality Management Areas, 
changes to Smoke Control Area boundaries,

•	 Introduction of new sources of emissions, 

•	 Updates or changes to existing Council policy or guidance impacting upon air quality,

•	 Updates on progress concerning key priorities,

•	 Changes to key priorities including identification of any new priorities,

•	 Review of future actions.

4Defra, Environmental Improvement Plan 2023

DRAFT

Page 170



Air Quality Strategy 2024 – 2029 | 19

References
Defra. (2022, February). Air Pollution: applying All Our Health. 

Defra. (2022, August). Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance (TG22). 

Defra. (2023, March). Air quality appraisal: damage cost guidance. 

Defra. (n.d.). Where does air pollution come from? Retrieved from Clean Air Hub - Global Action Plan:  
www.cleanairhub.org.uk/clean-air-information/the-basic-information/where-does-air-pollution-come-from

Defra. (2023) Environmental Improvement Plan.

Public Health England. (2018, May). Estimation of costs to the NHS and social care due to the health 
impacts of air pollution: summary report. 

UK Health Security Agency. (2018, November). Health Matters: Air pollution - sources, impacts and actions. 
Retrieved from https://ukhsa.blog.gov.uk/2018/11/14/health-matters-air-pollution-sources-impacts-and-
actions/

DRAFT

Page 171



egr0484

Contacts
Environmental Health 
Chief Executive’s Office and Economic Growth Group 
Darlington Borough Council 
Environmental Health 
Town Hall 
Darlington 
DL1 5QT

Carol Whelan 
01325 406437
carol.whelan@darlington.gov.uk

Stacey Newton
01325 406438
stacey.newton@darlington.gov.uk

DRAFT

Page 172



 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

HEALTH AND HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
19 June 2024 

 

 
WORK PROGRAMME 

 

 
SUMMARY REPORT 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To consider the work programme items scheduled to be considered by this Scrutiny 

Committee during the 2024/25 Municipal Year and to consider any additional areas which 
Members would like to suggest should be added to the previously approved work 

programme. 
 

Summary  
 

2. Members are requested to consider the attached work programme (Appendix 1) for the 
remainder of the 2024/25 Municipal Year which has been prepared based on Officers 

recommendations and recommendations previously agreed by this Scrutiny Committee. 
 

3. Any additional areas of work which Members wish to add to the agreed work programme 
will require the completion of a quad of aims in accordance with the previously approved 

procedure (Appendix 2). 
 

Recommendation 
 

4. It is recommended that Members note the current status of the Work Programme and 

consider any additional areas of work they would like to include. 
 

Luke Swinhoe 
Assistant Director Law and Governance 

 
 

Background Papers 
No background papers were used in the preparation of this report. 

 
Author: Mike Conway 

Ext: 6309 
 

S17 Crime and Disorder This report has no implications for Crime and 
Disorder 

Health and Well Being This report has no direct implications to the Health 

and Well Being of residents of Darlington. 

Carbon Impact and Climate 
Change 

There are no issues which this report needs to 
address.  

Diversity There are no issues relating to diversity which this 
report needs to address 

Page 173

Agenda Item 11



 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Wards Affected The impact of the report on any individual Ward is 

considered to be minimal. 
Groups Affected The impact of the report on any individual Group is 

considered to be minimal. 
Budget and Policy Framework  This report does not represent a change to the 

budget and policy framework. 
Key Decision This is not a key decision. 

Urgent Decision This is not an urgent decision 
Council Plan The report contributes to the Council Plan in a 

number of ways through the involvement of 
Members in contributing to the delivery of the 
Plan. 

Efficiency The Work Programmes are integral to scrutinising 
and monitoring services efficiently (and effectively), 

however this report does not identify specific 
efficiency savings. 

Impact on Looked After Children 
and Care Leavers 

This report has no impact on Looked After Children 
or Care Leavers. 

 
MAIN REPORT 

 

Information and Analysis 
 
5. The format of the proposed work programme has been reviewed to enable Members of 

this Scrutiny Committee to provide a rigorous and informed challenge to the areas for 
discussion.  

 
Forward Plan and Additional Items 
 

6. Once the Work Programme has been agreed by this Scrutiny Committee, any Member 

seeking to add a new item to the work programme will need to complete a quad of aims.   
 

7. A copy of the Forward Plan has been attached at Appendix 3 for information. 

Page 174



 This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Topic Timescale
Lead Officer/ 

Organisation Involved
Link to PMF (metrics) Scrutiny’s Role / Notes

TEWV Quality Accounts 19/06/2024 Warren Edge, CDDFT
To provide a response regarding the information provided 

(deadline: 23 June 2024)

Air Quality Strategy 2024-2029 19/06/2024 Carol Whelan Prior to future submission to Cabinet

Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 2024-

2029
19/06/2024 Claire Gardner-Queen Prior to submission to Cabinet on:  16 July 2024

Housing Services Gas and Electrical Safety 

Policies 2024-2029
19/06/2024

Cheryl Williams / Matthew 

Sewell
Prior to submission to Cabinet on:  16 July 2024

Health and Safety Compliance in Council 

Housing update
28/08/2024

Cheryl Williams / Anthony 

Sandys

Housing Services Anti-Social Behaviour Policy 

update
28/08/2024 Claire Gardner-Queen

Director of Public Health Annual Report 28/08/2024 Lorraine Hughes

Health Protection Assurance Report 28/08/2024
Ken Ross / Cherry 

Stephenson

Tenant Engagement Strategy 2025-2029 23/10/2024 Claire Gardner-Queen Prior to submission to Cabinet on:  5 Nov 2024

Physical Activity 23/10/2024
Lisa Soderman / Joanne 

Hennessey

Healthy Weight Plan 23/10/2024 Joanne Hennessey

HEALTH AND HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2024/25

P
age 175



 This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Topic Timescale
Lead Officer/ 

Organisation Involved
Link to PMF (metrics) Scrutiny’s Role / Notes

HEALTH AND HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2024/25

Health and Wellbeing Strategy 23/10/2024 Lorraine Hughes

Suicide Prevention 23/10/2024 Julie Wells

Medium Term Financial Plan Jan-25 Brett Nielsen
To scrutinise those areas of the MTFP within the remit of this 

Scrutiny Committee.

Housing Revenue Account MTFP 15/01/2025 Anthony Sandys Prior to submission to Cabinet on:  4 February 2025

Housing Services Climate Change Strategy 

update
15/01/2025 Anthony Sandys

Preventing Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 

Strategy 2025-2030
15/01/2025 Cheryl Williams Prior to submission to Cabinet on:  4 February 2025

Primary Care (including access to GP 

appointments)
26/02/2025 Emma Joyeux, ICB

Update on NHS Dentistry provision and Primary 

Care Dental Access 
26/02/2025

Pauline Fletcher ICB / Dr 

Kamini Shah

Community Mental Health Transformation 02/04/2025 John Stamp, TEWV

Children and Young People Mental Health 

Update
02/04/2025 James Graham, CAMHS

Tenancy Policy tba Claire Turnbull

P
age 176



 This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Topic Timescale
Lead Officer/ 

Organisation Involved
Link to PMF (metrics) Scrutiny’s Role / Notes

HEALTH AND HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2024/25

Strategic Housing Needs Assessment tba
Claire Gardner-Queen / 

Anthony Sandys

Performance Management and Regulation/ 

Management of Change

Regular Performance Reports to be 

Programmed

Year End August 2024 Relevant AD
To receive biannual monitoring reports and undertake any 

further detailed work into particular outcomes if necessary

P
age 177



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

PLEASE RETURN TO DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 

T:/Scrutiny/$25bautas.docx 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Appendix 2 

PROCESS FOR ADDING AN ITEM TO SCRUTINY COMMITTEE’S  
PREVIOUSLY APPROVED WORK PROGRAMME 

 

Member Completes Quad of Aims 
(Section 1) 

Completed Quad of Aims to 
Democratic Services 

Refer to Monitoring and 
Co-ordination Group for clarification 
of appropriate Scrutiny Committee 

and in cases of cross cutting issues if 
needed 

 

Scrutiny Committee decision about 
addition to Work Programme 

Forwarded to Director/AD 
 for views (Section 2) 

(NOTE – There is an expectation that the Officer 
will  discuss the request with the Member)  

Criteria 
1. Information already provided/or will 

be provided to Member 
 

2. Extent of workload involved in 
meeting request 

 
3. Request linked to an ongoing 

Scrutiny Committee item of work 
and can be picked up as part of that 

work 
 

4. Subject to another Council process 
for enquiry or examination (such as 

Planning Committee or Licensing 

Committee) 
 

5. About an individual or entity that 
has a right of appeal 

 
6. Some other substantial reason 

Note  
 
Statutory Scrutiny Officer can liaise with 
Member AD/Director and Chair over 
how best any requests can be dealt with  

Advise Chair of relevant Scrutiny 
Committee of the Quad of Aims and 

the view of Officers 

Include on next Scrutiny Committee 
Agenda  

(new work requests) 
 

Page 179



QUAD OF AIMS (MEMBERS’ REQUEST FOR ITEM TO BE CONSIDERED BY SCRUTINY)   
 

 

SECTION 1 TO BE COMPLETED BY MEMBERS  
 
NOTE – This document should only be completed if there is a clearly defined and significant outcome from any potential further work.   This document 
should not be completed as a request for or understanding of information.   
 
 

REASON FOR REQUEST? 

 

RESOURCE (WHAT OFFICER SUPPORT WOULD YOU REQUIRE?) 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

PROCESS (HOW CAN SCRUTINY ACHIEVE THE ANTICIPATED 
OUTCOME?) 

 

 HOW WILL THE OUTCOME MAKE A DIFFERENCE? 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Signed   Councillor ……………………………………………    Date ………………………………………………………. 
 

P
age 180



 

PLEASE RETURN TO DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 

T:/Scrutiny/$25bautas.docx 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

SECTION 2 TO BE COMPLETED BY DIRECTORS/ASSISTANT DIRECTORS 
(NOTE – There is an expectation that Officers will discuss the request with the Member) 

1. (a)  Is the information available elsewhere?     Yes ……………….. No ……………….. 

If yes, please indicate where the information can be found (attach if possible and return with this document to Democratic 
Services) 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

(b)  Have you already provided the information to the Member or will you shortly be doing so? 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 
2. If the request is included in the Scrutiny Committee work programme what are the likely workload implications for you/your 

staff? 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 

3. Can the request be included in an ongoing Scrutiny Committee item of work and picked up as part of that? 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 

4. Is there another Council process for enquiry or examination about the matter currently underway? 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 

5. Has the individual or entity some other right of appeal? 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 

6. Is there any substantial reason (other than the above) why you feel it should not be included on the work programme ? 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

Criteria 
 

1. Information already 

provided/or will  be 
provided to Member 
 

2. Extent of workload involved 

in meeting request 
 

3. Request l inked to an 

ongoing Scrutiny 
Committee item of work 
and can be picked up as 
part of that work 

 
4. Subject to another Council 

process for enquiry or 
examination (such as 

Planning Committee or 
Licensing Committee) 
 

5. About an individual or 
entity that has a right of 
appeal 
 

6. Some other substantial 
reason 

Signed ……………………………………… Position …………………………………………………………….. Date ……………………… 

P
age 181



T
his page is intentionally left blank



DARLINGTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN 

 

- 1 - 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 
 

 
 

 
FORWARD PLAN  

FOR THE PERIOD: 5 JUNE 2024 - 30 OCTOBER 2024 
 

Title 
 

Decision Maker and Date 

Darlington Long Term Plan for Town Funds Cabinet 11 Jun 2024 

Release of Education Capital Funds Cabinet 11 Jun 2024 

Representation on Other Bodies 2024/25 Cabinet 11 Jun 2024 

Schedule of Transactions - June 2024 Cabinet 11 Jun 2024 
Wilkinsons Building Acquisition and Procurement of 

Development Partner 

Cabinet 11 Jun 2024 

Collection of Council Tax, Business Rates and Rent 2023-24 Cabinet 9 Jul 2024 

Council Plan Council 25 Jul 2024 
 
Cabinet 9 Jul 2024 

Council Plan Performance Report - Quarter Four Cabinet 9 Jul 2024 

Disabled Facilities Grant 2024/25 Cabinet 9 Jul 2024 

Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 2024/29 Cabinet 9 Jul 2024 

Housing Services Gas and Electrical Safety Policies 2024/29 Cabinet 9 Jul 2024 
Land at Faverdale / Burtree Garden Village 'Cell CH' Feasibility 

Work 

Cabinet 9 Jul 2024 

Project Position Statement and Capital Programme Monitoring 
Outturn 2023/24 

Cabinet 9 Jul 2024 

Public Consultation on Draft Appraisal for the Northgate 
Conservation Area including Proposed Boundary Extensions  

Cabinet 9 Jul 2024 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2023/24 Cabinet 9 Jul 2024 

Xentrall Shared Services Annual Report Cabinet 9 Jul 2024 

Annual Review of the Investment Fund Cabinet 10 Sep 2024 

Climate Change Council 26 Sep 2024 
 
Cabinet 10 Sep 2024 

Complaints, Compliments and Comments Annual Reports 
2023/24 

Cabinet 10 Sep 2024 

Complaints Made to Local Government Ombudsman Cabinet 10 Sep 2024 
Land at Faverdale  - Burtree Garden Village - Proposed 

Infrastructure Development Agreement (IDA) 

Cabinet 10 Sep 2024 

Project Position Statement and Capital Programme Monitoring  
- Quarter 1 

Cabinet 10 Sep 2024 

Proposed Middleton St George Conservation Area - 
Consultation 

Cabinet 10 Sep 2024 

Page 183



DARLINGTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN 

 

- 2 - 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Regulatory Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) Cabinet 10 Sep 2024 

Revenue Budget Monitoring - Quarter 1 Cabinet 10 Sep 2024 
Treasury Management Annual Report and Outturn Prudential 

Indicators 2023/2024 

Cabinet 10 Sep 2024 

Waste Collection Arrangements Cabinet 10 Sep 2024 

Annual Procurement Plan Update Cabinet 8 Oct 2024 
Offset Strategy Cabinet 8 Oct 2024 

Air Quality Strategy 2024/29 Cabinet  

 
 

Page 184


	Agenda
	6 To approve the Minutes of the meeting of this Scrutiny held on 24 April 2024
	7 CDDFT Quality Accounts 2023-24
	Item No. 07 - Appendix A - CDDFT Quality Accounts 2023-24 - Draft V4

	8 Housing Services Gas and Electrical Safety Policies 2024-2029
	Item No. 08 - 240619 Housing Services Gas and Electrical Safety Policies Appendix 1
	Item No. 08 - 240619 Housing Services Gas and Electrical Safety Policies Appendix 2

	9 Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy 2024-2029
	Item No. 09 - 240619 Housing Services Domestic Abuse Policy Appendix 1

	10 Air Quality Strategy 2024-2029
	Item No. 10 - 240619 Air Quality Strategy 2024 -2029 APPENDIX 1

	11 Work Programme
	Item No. 11 - Appendix 1 - Work Programme
	Item No. 11 - Appendix 2
	Item No. 11 - Appendix 3 Forward Plan Index - Jun to Oct24




